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ACCELERATING
OPPORTUNITIES
by uniting, integrating
and focusing

In 2015, C&J Energy Services experienced a bold transformation
that enhanced our capabilities, enlarged our geographic
footprint and increased our talent base. We have emerged
as a top-tier, large-scale, highly diversified oilfield services
provider driven to deliver excellence.

Dear Fellow
Shareholders,
2015 was a year of maximizing our strengths,
capitalizing on our business acumen and
taking full advantage of our drive to excellence
amidst one of the most challenging times our
industry has ever experienced.

In response to sustained weakness in commodity prices and
the corresponding decline in demand for our services, we
pursued widespread cost reductions and implemented
aggressive cost management to right-size our business to
market activity and preserve liquidity. We closed underperforming locations, idled excess equipment and reduced
headcount, reallocating resources to the most active basins.
And we bolstered these cost-saving initiatives through
continued implementation of our integration strategy and
strategic initiatives and, even with lower than expected
activity levels due to the swift downturn, we were able to
capture greater synergies than originally anticipated and
at an accelerated pace. We exited 2015 as
a lean, efficient, fully integrated organization.
Importantly, we achieved this through judicious
management of our business without
sacrificing operational performance or safety.

The most powerful factor
behind our acceleration was
the acquisition of Nabors
Completion and Production
Services business.
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CREATING A UNITED AND
INTEGRATED LEADER
Dynamic and focused on delivering
excellence in all we do, C&J Energy Services
is an energetic, fast-moving industry leader,
which we distinctly demonstrated in 2015.
While the majority of our peer group had the
luxury of focusing solely on the downturn and
managing around that, the team at C&J worked
tirelessly and accomplished an enormous amount on
behalf of our Company and our shareholders. During one
of the most difficult times for our industry, we significantly
grew our capabilities and our position in the market.
The most powerful factor behind our acceleration was the
March 2015 acquisition of Nabors Completion and
Production Services business, which significantly
expanded our existing Completion Services capabilities
and added complementary Well Support Services
business. This transformative transaction has resulted in
C&J becoming one of the largest integrated providers of
completion and production services in North America.

PROTECTING MARGINS THROUGH AGGRESSIVE
COST MANAGEMENT
Considering the headwinds working against us, I am pleased
with our overall operational performance but of course,
disappointed with the year’s financial results. We aggressively
managed our costs to minimize the downward pressure on
our margins. Moving forward, we will remain relentlessly
focused on cost control with a sharp eye on managing the
business for real-time response to market shifts and opportunities. We will constantly monitor markets to ensure we are
maintaining a strategic presence in core operating areas,
allocate high graded resources in areas where activity is
strongest and withdraw where it does not make economic
or strategic sense.

SPEEDING TO THE NEXT ROUND OF GROWTH
To prepare for the next round of growth, in 2015 we began a
project called “Operation EXCELeration.” This initiative refers to
the implementation of an entirely new Enterprise Resource
Planning (ERP) system for C&J. Our new SAP system will
replace several redundant legacy systems and will reduce
costs and provide greater efficiencies. This critical move will
enable all C&J’s businesses to be on one platform. As a result,
we will have greater control, improved accounting capabilities
and more timely delivery of information to the management
team. Simply put, it will allow us to set a new standard that
reflects our drive to excellence from the office to the field.

Process are all examples of differentiated products delivered
by our R&T initiatives that provide us with a competitive
advantage to attract new customers and help capture
additional revenue from existing customers.

MAXIMIZING TO DRIVE REVENUE
With respect to 2016, we have not experienced any strengthening in market conditions; in fact, activity levels have notably
declined. This downturn has already lasted longer and been
more severe than anyone anticipated and we are prepared for
another extremely challenging year. We are working hard to
ensure we are prepared for all outcomes and that we are
positioned to be able to endure these challenging times, and
remain healthy enough to excel when the market recovers.
We will continue to aggressively manage our business,
making adjustments as the market dictates. Our cost
structure is now much lower as a result of our efforts over
2015, allowing us to more effectively generate margin and
profitability in the down cycle. Our priorities continue to be to
drive revenue by maximizing utilization, improve margins
through cost management and grow market share by
focusing on the quality and efficiency of our service execution,
while keeping a sharp focus on maximizing shareholder value
and positioning C&J for the long term.

STEPPING UP AS A TEAM
On a personal note, I want to thank our shareholders for their
support and our employees for their tremendous work,
sacrifice and dedication to Excellence Delivered. Although
they have been affected by the widespread layoffs and
experienced their own personal financial issues through
reductions in pay and other benefits, as well as overall stress
due to the market environment, they have without hesitation
or complaint stepped up as a team and demonstrated their
commitment to our Company. Our employees truly are
amazing and inspire me every day.
Sincerely,

DIFFERENTIATING THROUGH TECHNOLOGY
In keeping with our value-driven, Excellence Delivered
philosophy, we have significantly invested in our Research &
Technology capabilities with a focus on developing innovative,
fit-for-purpose solutions designed to enhance our core service
offerings, increase completion efficiencies, provide cost savings
to our operations and add value for our customers. In 2015, we
made substantial progress on several key R&T projects and
strategic initiatives that lowered our cost structure, enhanced
our service offering and made us more vertically integrated; in
addition to contributing revenue to our results and providing
new business opportunities. Our in-house manufactured
perforating guns and addressable switches for our wireline
operations, new data monitoring and control systems for all
our frac units, Ultra Short Bearing Section (USBS) directional
drilling tool, and LateralScience™ Engineered Completion

JOSH COMSTOCK
Founder, Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

1969–2016
This letter was written by Josh Comstock as Chairman of the Company’s
Board of Directors prior to his unexpected death on March 11, 2016.
Josh founded C&J in 1997 and served as the Company’s Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer until his death. He was an inspirational leader
and will be deeply missed.
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More than taking on a completely new division of services,
this combination meant integrating a company several times
our size in record time. This impacted every aspect of our
business—from IT and accounting to field operations. To
ensure consistency of service the C&J way, we successfully
integrated our new personnel into our culture of “Excellence
Delivered.” In the midst of these exciting changes, we also
enhanced our capabilities by acquiring an artificial lift
business and advancing vertical integration, including the
development and deployment of a state-of-the-art directional
drilling tool and manufacturing our own perforating guns and
addressable switches for our wireline operations.

MOBILIZING

NEW SERVICES INTO THE FIELD
Integrating diverse new service offerings and products.

As one of the largest completion and production services
companies in North America, C&J offers a full, vertically
integrated suite of services involved in the entire life cycle of
the well, including hydraulic fracturing, cased-hole wireline,
coiled tubing, cementing, directional drilling, rig services, fluids
management and other special wellsite services. In 2015, we
broadened our capabilities and expanded opportunities with
exciting new services.
By uniting C&J Energy Services and Nabors Completion &
Production Services businesses in March 2015, we are uniquely
positioned to capitalize on opportunities through our greater
scale, enhanced offerings and operating efficiencies. As part of
the transformational Nabors transaction we added a Well
Services Division. We greatly increased our capacity for
hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing and wireline offerings.
Through the transaction, we also introduced cementing to our
current Well Construction Division.
In conjunction with our ongoing drive to product and service
excellence, in May 2015, we acquired a business that designs,
manufactures and installs electrical submersible pump
systems and accessories primarily for artificial lift applications.
Through this business we are selling a variety of products that
support artificial lift installations globally to both operators and
service companies, and we are developing a line of electrical
submersible pump systems that are optimized for the small
casing sizes typical of long horizontal wells.

C&J ENERGY SERVICES

By uniting C&J Energy Services and
Nabors Completion & Production
Services businesses, we have created
one of the largest completion and
production services providers.

EXPANDING OUR FOOTPRINT TO CAPTURE OPPORTUNITY
C&J Energy Services is a leading provider of oilfield solutions in
North America’s most prolific resource plays. In 2015, we
significantly expanded our reach, which today extends
throughout the United States and Canada to the Middle East.
As a result, we have multi-basin capabilities to meet customer
demand in almost every major basin in the United States and
Western Canada. In addition to having a strong presence in the
Permian and Eagle Ford, we have an established and growing
presence in domestic onshore regions including California, the
Rockies and Appalachia. Internationally, we continue to
operate from our office in Dubai, and are looking to establish a
solid presence in key countries in the Middle East.
Everywhere we operate in the world, our employees work hard
and smart to deliver excellence and the world-class oilfield
services that our customers have come to expect from us.
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LEADERSHIP
As a leading provider of well
construction, well completions and
well services, we are bringing more
solutions to address customer needs
throughout the life cycle of the well.

MONTNEY SHALE
CARDIUM SHALE

MICHIGAN BASIN

NIOBRARA

BAKKEN SHALE

MARKETING UNDER THREE DIVISIONS
Our services are grouped into three divisions
reflecting our customers’ needs throughout the
life cycle of the well:

APPALACHIAN BASIN
UTICA MARCELLUS

DENVER-JULESBURG BASIN

PICEANCE
UINTA BASIN

Well Construction, which includes our cementing
and directional services capabilities.
Well Completions, which includes the hydraulic
fracturing services, cased-hole wireline services,
coiled tubing services and other well stimulation
services of both Legacy C&J and the NCPS business.
Well Services, which includes services acquired with
the Nabors Completion & Production Services
business, specifically including rig services, fluids
management and special wellsite services.

SAN JOAQUIN BASIN
LOS ANGELES BASIN

MISSISSIPPIAN
PERMIAN BASIN
GRANITE WASH
CANA-WOODFORD SHALE
EAGLE FORD SHALE
HAYNESVILLE SHALE
TUSCALOOSA-MARINE SHALE

OPERATION AREAS
We operate in the most prominent shale basins,
helping our customers solve complex wellsite
challenges more efficiently.
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ELEVATING ENTERPRISE EFFICIENCIES WITH SAP
This past year we focused on elevating enterprise efficiencies via
a critically important project known as “Operation EXCELeration.”
With the integration of this new ERP system, we will have one
platform for the entire Company replacing five legacy systems.
As a result, we will improve the quality of our data and our
decision-making process and be better prepared for the next
round of growth. This investment in our future will enable us to
be more productive and profitable, providing C&J with real-time
reporting and metrics focused to each service line.
COMMANDEERING OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE
ACROSS THE CUSTOMER BASE
From day one, C&J has focused on delivering best-in-class
performance across our customer base. As part of our strategy
for growth, we will continue to target leading operators drilling
multi-well pads with longer laterals that require increased
service intensity. Established trends such as longer laterals,
tighter stage spacing and more proppant per stage demand
greater operational efficiency leading to higher utilization and
increased profitability. This enables customers to reach initial
production faster, at a lower cost. C&J will be there to provide
the service excellence customers require to achieve their goals
in this area.
OPTIMIZING VIA RESEARCH & TECHNOLOGY
Research and Technology is not only a differentiator for our
Company, but a vital forward strategy. We continue to leverage
this advantage and develop field-driven technological solutions
and innovative products that are more reliable, safer and less
expensive while delivering the best quality in the industry.

DEVELOPING TECH
We leverage our
technological expertise to
create innovative,
field-driven solutions and
drive new opportunities.

Our customers demand and deserve efficiency and we
deliver it for them. Our operational excellence in unconventional
reservoirs, combined with our in-house research and technology
capabilities, is responsible for introducing a range of new
techniques in 2015, including LateralScience™. The Lateral
Science process provides a reliable, cost-effective answer
product that delivers the information necessary for optimal
completion placement on every well. This value-added
technique enables operators to engineer the completion design
using existing drilling data on every completion, whether a new
well or a refracture operation, resulting in significant
productivity improvement without any significant increased
cost or additional wellsite activity.
However, we are not stopping there. Our pursuit of creating
value for our customers through cost-saving solutions is a
nonstop effort and is key to C&J’s continued success.
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By integrating a new ERP system,
we will have one platform for the
entire Company and have
replaced five legacy systems.

A RENEWED FOCUS ON QHSE
Safety performance excellence is our number one priority and
a constant focus. Through ongoing and new programs, policies
and facilities, we strive to raise our performance and build a
corporate culture where no incident is deemed acceptable. To
reach this goal, we have developed our own Quality, Health,
Safety and Environment (QHSE) management system to help
ensure compliance with our procedures and processes as well
as for driving continuous improvement.
Our QHSE Management System provides the framework and
processes to examine the risks to our employees, the public,
our property and the environment in which we operate and
determine what actions we need to take to control these risks.
Through these efforts, we aim to protect our employees, be the
preferred contractor for customers and the favored employer
in the oilfield services sector.

PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST, EVERY DAY
Our investments in QHSE are paying dividends. For example, in
2015 we lowered our severity rates and our Total Recordable
Incident Rate (TRIR) is improving. In recognition of our
commitment to excellence, our Belfield, North Dakota Well
Services facility achieved Voluntary Protection Program (VPP)
Star certification following an audit by the Occupational Safety
and Health Administration (OSHA). The Star-level award, the
highest level granted, acknowledges our efforts in achieving
exemplary occupational safety and health compliance.

SAFETY FIRST
Because nothing is more important
than the safety of our people, we
constantly strive to assure a safe work
environment for all of our employees
and facilities.

However, our work is not done. In the days and months ahead,
we will continue to look for new ways to strengthen our QHSE
by investigating and adopting new QHSE industry best
practices and investing in more training.
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POISED

TO SEIZE THE DAY

At C&J Energy Services, we deliver a wide
range of oilfield services that help our
customers improve wellsite efficiencies
and reduce costs. Through these services,
our deep expertise and, most of all, our
commitment to delivering excellence,
we are poised for growth.

Operationally, we are well positioned in the most active
and profitable basins including the Permian, Eagle Ford,
California and Appalachia. Our service line diversification
improves service delivery to existing customers. Our
increased scale creates operational leverage to
aggressively reduce input costs from vendors and
suppliers. Across all our service lines, we will continue to
execute on our best-in-class operating model that
generates higher utilization and superior rates of return.
Through 2016 and beyond, C&J will seek to expand our
level of business in our key markets and work to improve
margins through cost control and consolidation. Our
priorities will be to drive revenue by maximizing
utilization, to improve margins through cost
management and to grow market share by focusing on
the quality and efficiency of our service execution. We will
align with customers who recognize the cost savings that
C&J provides through its efficiency gains and operational
excellence and strengthen our market share.
We have new technologies and equipment to meet the
ever-evolving demands of our customers. We have the
people, the processes and the commitment to achieve
our goals. In short, we are poised to deliver excellence
and seize the day.
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PART I
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) includes certain statements and information that may
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The words
“anticipate,” “believe,” “ensure,” “expect,” “if,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecasts,” “predict,” “outlook,”
“aim,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “potential,” “would,” “may,” “probable,” “likely,” and similar expressions that convey the
uncertainty of future events or outcomes, and the negative thereof, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements, which are not generally historical in nature, include those that express a belief, expectation or
intention regarding our future activities, plans and goals and our current expectations with respect to, among other things:
•

our operating cash flows, the availability of capital and our liquidity;

•

our ability to comply with the financial covenant metrics contained in our debt instruments;

•

our future revenue, income and operating performance;

•

our ability to sustain and improve our utilization, revenue and margins;

•

our ability to maintain acceptable pricing for our services, including in the spot market;

•

future capital expenditures;

•

our ability to finance equipment, working capital and capital expenditures;

•

our ability to execute our long-term growth strategy, including expansion into new geographic regions and
business lines;

•

our plan to continue to seek international growth opportunities, and our ability to successfully execute and
capitalize on such opportunities;

•

our ability to successfully develop our research and technology capabilities and implement technological
developments and enhancements; and

•

the timing and success of future acquisitions and other strategic initiatives and special projects.

Forward-looking statements are not assurances of future performance and actual results could differ materially
from our historical experience and our present expectations or projections. These forward-looking statements are based on
management’s current expectations and beliefs, forecasts for our existing operations, experience, expectations and perception of
historical trends, current conditions, anticipated future developments and their effect on us, and other factors believed to be
appropriate. Although management believes the expectations and assumptions reflected in these forward-looking statements are
reasonable as and when made, no assurance can be given that these assumptions are accurate or that any of these expectations
will be achieved (in full or at all). Our forward-looking statements involve significant risks, contingencies and uncertainties,
most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Known material factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, risks associated
with the following:
•

a decline in demand for our services, including due to overcapacity and declining commodity prices and other
competitive factors affecting our industry;

•

the cyclical nature and volatility of the oil and gas industry, which impacts the level of drilling, completion and
production activity and spending patterns by the oil and gas exploration and production industry;

•

the inability to comply with the financial and other covenants and metrics in our debt agreements as a result of
reduced revenue and financial performance or our inability to raise sufficient funds through assets sales or equity
issuances should we need to raise funds through such methods;
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•

a decline in, or substantial volatility of, crude oil and gas commodity prices, which generally leads to decreased
spending by our customers and negatively impacts drilling, completion and production activity and therefore
impacts demand and pricing for our services and negatively impacts our results of operations, including potential
impairment charges;

•

the loss of, or interruption or delay in operations by, one or more significant customers;

•

the failure to pay amounts when due, or at all, by one or more significant customers;

•

pressure on pricing for our core services, including due to competition and industry and/or economic conditions,
which may, impact among other things, our ability to implement price increases or maintain pricing on our core
services;

•

an increase in interest rates;

•

changes in customer requirements in markets or industries we serve;

•

costs, delays, regulatory compliance requirements and other difficulties in executing our long-term growth

•

strategy, including those related to expansion into new geographic regions and new business lines;
the effects of future acquisitions on our business, including our ability to successfully integrate our operations
and the costs incurred in doing so;

•

business growth outpacing the capabilities of our infrastructure;

•

adverse weather conditions in oil or gas producing regions;

•

the effect of environmental and other governmental regulations on our operations, including the risk that future
changes in the regulation of hydraulic fracturing could reduce or eliminate demand for our hydraulic fracturing
services;

•

the incurrence of significant costs and liabilities resulting from litigation;

•

the incurrence of significant costs and liabilities resulting from our failure to comply, or our compliance with,
new or existing environmental regulations or an accidental release of hazardous substances into the environment;

•

expanding our operations overseas;

•

the loss of, or inability to attract new, key management personnel;

•

a shortage of qualified workers;

•

the loss of, or interruption or delay in operations by, one or more of our key suppliers;

•

operating hazards inherent in our industry, including the significant possibility of accidents resulting in personal
injury or death, property damage or environmental damage; and

•

accidental damage to or malfunction of equipment.

For additional information regarding known material factors that could affect our operating results and
performance, please read (1) “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A and (2) “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report. Should one or more of these known material
risks occur, or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results, performance, achievements or plans could
differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statement.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
hereof. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date they are made,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
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Item 1.
Overview of Our Business
C&J Energy Services Ltd. is a Bermuda exempt company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the
symbol “CJES.” Effective as of March 24, 2015 (the "Effective Time"), we completed the combination of C&J Energy
Services, Inc. (“Legacy C&J”) with the completion and production services business (the “C&P Business”) of Nabors
Industries Ltd. (“Nabors”) pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”),
dated as of June 25, 2014, by and among Legacy C&J, Nabors, Nabors Red Lion Limited (subsequently renamed C&J Energy
Services Ltd., “New C&J”), Nabors CJ Merger Co. and CJ Holding Co. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Nabors
separated the C&P Business from the rest of its operations and consolidated this business under New C&J. A Delaware
subsidiary of New C&J then merged with and into Legacy C&J, with Legacy C&J continuing as the surviving corporation and
a direct wholly owned subsidiary of New C&J (such transactions referred to herein collectively as the “Merger”). As of the
Effective Time, common shares of Legacy C&J were converted into common shares of New C&J on a 1-for-1 basis, New C&J
was renamed “C&J Energy Services Ltd.” and its common shares began trading on the NYSE under the symbol "CJES", which
was previously used by Legacy C&J following completion of our initial public offering in 2011. After giving effect to the
Merger, Nabors owned approximately 53% of our outstanding common shares, with Legacy C&J shareholders owning the
remaining 47% of our outstanding common shares. As of February 23, 2016, Nabors owns approximately 52% of our
outstanding common shares.
Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act, New C&J is the successor issuer to Legacy C&J following the
closing of the Merger and is deemed to succeed to Legacy C&J’s reporting history under the Exchange Act. References to
“C&J,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” in this Annual Report are to New C&J, together with our consolidated subsidiaries
when referring to periods following the completion of the Merger , and are to Legacy C&J , together with our consolidated
subsidiaries when referring to periods prior to the completion of the Merger. Results for periods prior to the completion of the
Merger reflect the financial and operating results of Legacy C&J, and do not include the financial and operating results of the
C&P Business. Accordingly, comparisons between our consolidated results following the completion of the Merger and results
from prior periods may not be meaningful.
We are one of the largest, integrated providers of completion and production services in North America. We are led
primarily by the individuals who served as Legacy C&J’s executive officers prior to the completion of the Merger. We provide
a full range of well construction, well completions, well support and other complementary oilfield services to oil and gas
exploration and production companies primarily in North America. Our services, which are involved in the entire life cycle of
the well, include directional drilling, cementing, hydraulic fracturing, cased-hole wireline, coiled tubing, rig services, fluids
management services and other special well site services. We operate in all of the major oil and gas producing regions of the
continental United States and Western Canada. For the last few years we have been working to establish an operational
presence in key countries in the Middle East, and we currently have an office and operational facility in Dubai and an
operational facility in Saudi Arabia.
Our operating and financial performance is heavily influenced by drilling, completion and production activity by our
customers in the upstream industry, and thus is significantly impacted by oil and natural gas prices. However, our performance
also reflects the impact of our growth strategy, including our investments in strategic initiatives designed to strengthen, expand
and diversify our company through service line diversification, vertical integration and technological advancement. In
implementing our acquisition strategy, in addition to the Merger, we acquired an equipment manufacturing business in 2011 and
a data acquisition and control systems business in 2013. We utilize the equipment and products manufactured by these
vertically integrated businesses in our day-to-day operations, and we also sell them to third-party customers in the global
energy services industry. Additionally, in May 2015, we acquired a business that designs, manufactures and installs electrical
submersible pump systems and accessories primarily for artificial lift applications, which are primarily used during the
completion and production lifecycle of a well. During 2013, we also began organically developing a specialty chemicals supply
business for completion and production services. We source many of the chemicals and fluids used in our hydraulic fracturing
operations through this business, which provides cost savings to us and also gives us direct control over the design,
development and supply of these products. Additionally, we have taken a multi-faceted, integrated approach to developing our
directional drilling capabilities. In April 2013, we acquired a provider of directional drilling technology and related downhole
tools. Building on that technology, during the first half of 2014 we began manufacturing premium drilling motors in-house and
during the second quarter of 2014 we introduced our directional drilling services line to customers as a new service offering.
Over the last several years we have also significantly invested in our research and technology capabilities, including the
development of a state-of-the-art research and technology center with a team of engineers and support staff. We believe that one
of the strategic benefits of this division is the ability to develop and implement new technologies and respond to changes in
customers’ requirements and industry demand. Our efforts to date have been focused on developing innovative, fit-for-purpose
solutions designed to enhance our core service offerings, increase completion efficiencies, provide cost savings to our
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operations and add value for our customers. Several of our research and technology initiatives are now generating monthly cost
savings for our expanded, integrated completion services operations, which is central to our overall strategy of proactively
managing our costs to maximize returns. Additionally, several of these investments are already delivering value added products
and services that, in addition to producing revenue, are creating increasing demand from key customers. We believe these
capabilities can also provide a competitive advantage as customers look for innovative means for extracting oil and gas in the
most economical and efficient way possible.
Our principal executive offices are located at Crown House, 2nd Floor, 4 Par-la-Ville Rd, Hamilton HM08 Bermuda and
our main telephone number at that address is (441) 279-2900. Our website is available at www.cjenergy.com. We make
available free of charge through our website all reports filed with or furnished to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A and all amendments to those reports, as soon
as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information contained on or
available through our website is not a part of or incorporated into this Annual Report or any other report that we may file with
or furnish to the SEC.
Our Operating Segments & Strategy
We operate in three reportable business segments:
• Completion Services, which includes the hydraulic fracturing services, cased-hole wireline services, coiled tubing
services and other well stimulation services of both Legacy C&J and the C&P Business.
• Well Support Services, which includes services acquired with the C&P Business, specifically including rig services,
fluid management services and other special well site services.
• Other Services, which include Legacy C&J’s smaller service lines and divisions, including directional drilling
services, equipment manufacturing and repair, specialty chemicals sales, research and technology, and Middle East
operations, as well as the C&P Business’ cementing services. We manage several of our vertically integrated business
through our research and technology division, including our data acquisition and control instruments provider and
artificial lift applications provider. Costs associated with general corporate activities and intersegment eliminations are
also included in this Other Services segment.
Each segment is described in more detail below; for additional financial information about our segments, including
revenue from external customers and total assets by segment, see Note 11 - Segment Information in Part II, Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
Our operating and financial results for our core service lines, which are primarily included in our Completion Services
segment and Well Support Services segment, are driven primarily by deviations in four interrelated, fluctuating variables:
(1) the drilling, completion and production activities of our customers, which is driven by oil and natural gas prices and directly
affects the demand for our services; (2) the price we are able to charge for our services, which is driven by the level of demand
for our services and equipment capacity in the market; (3) the cost of products and labor involved in providing our services, and
our ability to pass those costs on to our customers; and (4) our activity, or “utilization” levels, and service performance.
Management evaluates the performance of our operating segments primarily based on Adjusted EBITDA because it
provides important information to us about the activity and profitability of our service lines within each segment and aids us in
analytical comparisons for purposes of, among other things, efficiently allocating our assets and resources. Adjusted EBITDA
is a non-GAAP financial measure computed as total earnings before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization, other income (expense), net, net gain or loss on disposal of assets, acquisition-related costs, and non-routine
items.
Our operating strategy is focused on maintaining high asset utilization levels to maximize revenue generation while
controlling cost to gain a competitive advantage and drive returns. We believe that the quality and efficiency of our service
execution and aligning with customers who recognize the value that C&J provides through efficiency gains are central to our
efforts to support utilization and grow our business. Although our management team monitors asset utilization, among other
factors, for purposes of assessing our overall activity levels and customer demand, asset utilization cannot be relied on as
indicative of our financial and/or operational performance. Given the volatile and cyclical nature of activity drivers in the U.S.
onshore oilfield services industry, coupled with the varying prices we are able to charge for our services and the cost of
providing those services, among other factors, operating margins can fluctuate widely depending on supply and demand at a
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given point in the cycle. For additional information about factors impacting our business and results of operations, please see
“Industry Trends and Outlook” in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” in this Annual Report.
Completion Services
Our Completion Services segment consists of the following service lines: (1) hydraulic fracturing; (2) cased-hole
wireline, which includes wireline logging, perforating, pressure pumping ,well site make-up and pressure testing and other
complementary services; and (3) coiled tubing and other well stimulation services, including nitrogen, pressure pumping and
thru-tubing services. The majority of revenue for this segment is generated by our hydraulic fracturing services line.
Our Completion Services segment consists of over 1.2 million hydraulic horsepower, over 130 wireline units and over 40
coiled tubing units, having significantly increased our asset base as a result of the Merger. However, not all of these assets are
utilized fully or at all at any time, due to, among other things, scheduled maintenance and downtime. Additionally, in response
to the continued deterioration in market conditions over the course of the year, we implemented aggressive cost control
measures and aligned our assets with industry demand, which included stacking or idling unproductive equipment across our
asset base within each service line.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue from our Completion Services segment was $1.2 billion, representing
approximately 70% of our total revenue, with net loss of $816.5 million and Adjusted EBITDA of $73.9 million.
Well Support Services
Our Well Support Services segment, which was acquired in the Merger as part of the C&P Business, consists of the
following service lines: (1) rig services, including providing workover and well servicing rigs that are involved in routine repair
and maintenance, completions, re-drilling and plug and abandonment operations; (2) fluid management services, including
manufacturing, transportation, storage and disposal services for fluids used in the drilling, completion and workover of oil and
gas well; and (3) other special well site services. Our rig services line is the greatest driver of revenue for this segment.
Our rig services line consists of a fleet of 519 workover rigs. Our workover services are designed to enhance the
production of existing wells and generally are more complex and time consuming than normal maintenance services. Workover
services can include deepening or extending wellbores into new formations by drilling horizontal or lateral wellbores, sealing
off depleted production zones and accessing previously bypassed production zones, converting former production wells into
injection wells for enhanced recovery operations and conducting major subsurface repairs due to equipment failures. Workover
services may last from a few days to several weeks, depending on the complexity of the workover. Maintenance services
provided with our rig fleet are generally required throughout the life cycle of an oil or gas well. Examples of these maintenance
services include routine mechanical repairs to the pumps, tubing and other equipment, removing debris and formation material
from wellbores, and pulling rods and other downhole equipment from wellbores to identify and resolve production problems.
Maintenance services are generally less complicated than completion and workover related services and require less time to
perform. Our rig fleet is also used in the process of permanently shutting-in oil or gas wells that are at the end of their
productive lives. These plugging and abandonment services generally require auxiliary equipment in addition to a well
servicing rig. The demand for plugging and abandonment services is not significantly impacted by the demand for oil and gas
because well operators are required by state regulations to plug wells that are no longer productive.
Our fluid management services consists of a fleet of 1,425 fluid services trucks, 5,258 frac tanks and 30 salt water
disposal wells, which supply, store, remove and dispose of specialized fluids utilized in completion and workover operations
and are used in daily operations for producing wells. We provide transportation and well-site storage services for various fluids
utilized in connection with drilling, completions, workover and maintenance activities. We also provide disposal services for
fluids produced subsequent to well completion. These fluids are removed from the well site and transported for disposal in
saltwater disposal wells owned by us or a third party. Demand and pricing for our fluid management services generally
correspond to demand for our rig services.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue from our Well Support Services segment was $455.8 million,
representing approximately 26% of our total revenue, with net loss of $1.6 million and Adjusted EBITDA of $72.3 million.
Other Services
Our Other Services segment is comprised of our smaller service lines and divisions, including cementing services,
directional drilling services, equipment manufacturing and repair, specialty chemical sales, Middle East operations, and our
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research and technology division. We manage several of our vertically integrated business through our research and technology
division, including our data acquisition and control instruments provider and our artificial lift applications provider. Also
included in the Other Services are intersegment eliminations and costs associated with activities of a general corporate nature.
Our Other Services segment contributed $76.1 million of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing
approximately 4% of our total revenue, with net loss of $54.4 million and Adjusted EBITDA of ($99.4 million).
Other Information About Our Business
Geographic Areas
As a result of the Merger, we operate in all of the major oil and gas producing regions of the continental United States
and Western Canada. During the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately $1.7 billion, or 97.6%, of our consolidated
revenue from external customers was derived from the United States, and the majority of our long-lived assets were located in
the United States. We also generated approximately $40.7 million, or 2.3%, of our 2015 consolidated revenue from operations
in Canada, primarily as a result of the Canadian business that we acquired in the Merger, and approximately $2.3 million, or
0.1% of our 2015 consolidated revenue, from coiled tubing operations in Saudi Arabia.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, substantially all of our consolidated revenue from external customers was
derived from the United States, and substantially all of our long-lived assets were located in the United States. In the second
quarter of 2014, we positioned two of our coiled tubing units in Saudi Arabia to service our first international contract, which
generated $1.0 million, or 0.1%, of our 2014 consolidated revenue.
Over the past several years, we have focused on expanding our geographic reach, both domestically and internationally.
With respect to our international expansion, most of our efforts have been with respect to the Middle East and we have
continued to invest in the infrastructure needed to support the development of operations in that region. In January 2014 we
were awarded our first international contract to provide coiled tubing services on a trial basis in Saudi Arabia. During the first
half of 2014, we established coiled tubing equipment, crews and logistics on the ground in Saudi Arabia to service this contract.
We mobilized on location for our customer in late June 2014 and we successfully completed our first coiled tubing job in July
2014. We completed the scheduled work under this provisional contract in September 2015, but we have maintained a facility
and employees in the country. We believe that this contract provided us with a valuable opportunity to demonstrate our services
outside of the United States and we are optimistic that our efforts can lead, over time, to a long-term relationship and additional
opportunities with this customer. We also hope that by demonstrating our capabilities in the region we may be able to secure
additional opportunities with other customers in the Middle East. Although we are trying to obtain additional work with this
customer and other key customers in the region, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in doing so. For certain risks
attendant to our anticipated non-U.S. operations, please read “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.
Seasonality
Our operations are subject to seasonal factors and our overall financial results reflect the seasonal variations
experienced in our core service lines. Specifically, we typically have experienced a pause by our customers around the holiday
season in the fourth quarter, which may be compounded as our customers exhaust their annual capital spending budgets
towards year end. Additionally, our operations are directly affected by weather conditions. During the winter months our
customers may delay operations or we may not be able to operate or move our equipment between locations during periods of
heavy snow, ice or rain, and during the spring some areas impose transportation restrictions due to the muddy conditions caused
by the spring thaws. During the summer months, our operations may be impacted by tropical weather systems.
Sales and Marketing
Sales of our core service lines in our Completion Services segment and Well Support Services segment are primarily
generated by the efforts of our sales force. Due to the short lead time between ordering services and providing services, there is
typically no sales backlog in our core service lines in our Completion Services segment and Well Support Services segment.
Sales and marketing activities are typically performed through our local operations in each geographic region. We
believe our local field sales personnel have an excellent understanding of region-specific issues and customer operating
procedures and, therefore, can effectively target marketing activities. We also have multiple corporate sales representatives that
supplement our field sales efforts and focus on large accounts and selling technical services. Our sales representatives work
closely with our local managers and field sales personnel to target compelling market opportunities. We facilitate teamwork
among our sales representatives by basing a portion of their compensation on aggregate company sales targets rather than
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individual sales targets. We believe this emphasis on teamwork enables us to better serve our existing customers and will also
allow us to further expand our customer base.
Customers
We serve a diverse group of independent and major national oil and gas companies that are active in our core areas of
operations across the continental U.S. and in Western Canada. One of the benefits of the Merger was the expansion and
diversification of our customer base, as there was very little overlap between the top customers of Legacy C&J and the C&P
Business. We monitor closely the financial condition of our customers, their capital expenditure plans and other indications of
their drilling, completion and production services. In particular, we seek to identify distressed customers and apply what we
believe to be appropriate business measures to protect us from any defaults or failures to pay.
Our top ten customers accounted for approximately 53.6%, 51.1% and 64.6% of our consolidated revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue from Oxy USA, Inc.
represented 15.5% of our consolidated revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2014, revenue from Anadarko Petroleum
Corporation individually represented 16.4% of our consolidated revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2013, revenue from
Anadarko Petroleum Corporation and Apache Corporation individually represented 19.5% and 13.1%, respectively, of our
consolidated revenue. Other than those listed above, no other customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated
revenue in 2015, 2014 or 2013. If we were to lose any material customer, we may not be able to redeploy our equipment at
similar utilization or pricing levels and such loss could have an adverse effect on our business until the equipment is redeployed
at similar utilization or pricing levels.
Competition
We operate in highly competitive areas of the energy services industry with significant potential for excess capacity.
Completion and well servicing equipment can be moved with relative ease from one region to another in response to changes in
levels of activity and market conditions, which may result in an oversupply of equipment in an area. Additionally, the demand
for our services depends primarily on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for drilling, completion and production
activities, which are affected by short-term and long-term trends in oil and natural gas prices and numerous other factors over
which we have no control. Utilization and pricing for our services have in the past been negatively affected by increases in
supply relative to demand in our core operating areas and geographic markets.
Our revenues and earnings are directly affected by changes in utilization and pricing levels for our services, which
fluctuate in response to changes in the level of drilling, completion and workover activity by our customers. Pressure on pricing
for our core services, including due to competition and industry and/or economic conditions, has impacted, and is expected to
continue to impact, among other things, our ability to maintain utilization and pricing for our services or implement price
increases. During periods of declining pricing for our services, we may not be able to reduce our costs accordingly, which could
further adversely affect our results. Furthermore, even when we are able to increase our prices, we may not be able to do so at a
rate that is sufficient to offset any rising costs. Also, we may not be able to successfully increase prices without adversely
affecting our utilization levels. The inability to maintain our utilization and pricing levels, or to increase our prices as costs
increase, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
Our competitors include many energy service companies, including some of the largest integrated energy services
companies that possess substantially greater financial and other resources than we do. Our larger competitors’ greater resources
could allow those competitors to compete more effectively than we can, including by reducing prices for services. Our major
competitors for our Completion Services include Halliburton, Schlumberger, Baker Hughes, CalFrac Well Services, Trican,
Weatherford International, RPC, Inc., Pumpco, a subsidiary of Superior Energy Services, Frac Tech, Basic Energy Services and
Universal (a subsidiary of Patterson-UTI Energy, Inc.), as well as a significant number of regional businesses. Our major
competitors for our Well Support Services include Halliburton, Schlumberger, Baker Hughes, Key Energy Services, Basic
Energy Services, Superior Energy Services, Precision, Forbes, Pioneer, as well as a significant number of regional businesses.
Generally, we believe that the principal competitive factors in the markets that we serve are price, technical expertise,
equipment capacity, work force capability, safety record, reputation and experience. Although we believe our customers
consider all of these factors, price is often the primary factor in determining which service provider is awarded work,
particularly during times of weak commodity prices as we experienced during 2015 and continue to experience to date.
Additionally, projects for certain of our core service lines are often awarded on a bid basis, which tends to further increase
competition based primarily on price. While we must be competitive in our pricing, we believe many of our customers elect to
work with us based on the safety, performance and quality of our crews, equipment and services. We seek to differentiate
ourselves from our major competitors by our operating philosophy, which is focused on delivering the highest quality customer
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service and equipment, coupled with superior execution and operating efficiency. As part of this strategy, we target high
volume, high efficiency customers with service intensive, 24-hour work, which is where we believe we can differentiate our
services from our competitors.
See Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Industry
Trends and Outlook” for additional discussion of the market challenges within our industry.
Research & Technology, Intellectual Property
Over the last several years we have significantly invested in our research and technology capabilities, formally
commencing with the 2013 establishment of new, state-of-the-art Research and Technology Center housing a team of engineers
and support staff. We believe that one of the strategic benefits of this division is the ability to develop and implement new
technologies and enhancements. and respond to changes in customers’ requirements and industry demand. Our efforts to date
have been focused on developing innovative, fit-for-purpose solutions designed to enhance our core service offerings, increase
completion efficiencies, provide cost savings to our operations and add value for our customers.
As a result of these efforts, starting in 2014 and continuing through 2015, we introduced several new products and
progressed on differentiating technologies that we believe will provide a competitive advantage as our customers focus on
extracting oil and gas in the most economical and efficient ways possible. Some of our research and technology initiatives are
now generating monthly cost savings for our expanded, integrated completion services operations, which is central to our
overall strategy of proactively managing our costs to maximize returns. Our equipment manufacturing division provides
another platform to integrate our strategic initiatives, implement technological developments and enhancements and capture
additional cost savings. Additionally, several of these investments are delivering value added products and services that are
creating increasing demand from key customers.
We seek patent and trademark protections for our technology when we deem it prudent, and we aggressively pursue
protection of these rights. We believe our patents and trademarks are adequate for the conduct of our business and that no single
patent or trademark is critical to our business. In addition, we rely to a great extent on the technical expertise and know-how of
our personnel to maintain our competitive position.
Suppliers
We purchase raw materials (such as proppant, guar, fracturing fluids or coiled tubing) and finished products (such as
fluid-handling equipment) used in our Completion Services segment and certain raw materials and finished products used in
our Well Support Services segment from various third-party suppliers, as well as from our other smaller businesses included in
our Other Services segment.
We are not dependent on any single supply source for these materials or products and we believe that we will be able to
make satisfactory alternative arrangements in the event of any interruption in the supply of these materials and/or products by
one of our suppliers. During the year ended December 31, 2015, only our equipment manufacturing business and our specialty
chemicals business supplied 5% or more of the materials and/or products used in our Completion Services segment, and no
single supplier supplied 5% or more of the materials and/or products used in our Well Support Services segments. However,
should we be unable to purchase the necessary materials and/or products, or otherwise be unable to procure the materials and/or
products in a timely manner and in the quantities required, we may be delayed in providing our services, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, in the past, our
industry faced sporadic proppant shortages and trucking shortages associated with hydraulic fracturing operations requiring
work stoppages, which adversely impacted the operating results of several competitors. Additionally, increasing costs of
certain raw materials may negatively impact demand for our services or the profitability of our business operations.
Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental ("QHSE") Program
Our business involves the operation of heavy and powerful equipment which can result in serious injuries to our
employees and third parties and substantial damage to property. We commit substantial resources toward employee safety and
QHSE management training programs, as well as our employee review process. We have comprehensive QHSE-focused
training programs designed to minimize accidents in the workplace and improve the efficiency of our operations. We believe
that our QHSE policies and procedures provide a solid framework to ensure our operations minimize the hazards inherent in
our work and meet regulatory requirements and customer demands.
Our record and reputation for safety is important to all aspects of our business. In the energy services industry, an
important competitive factor in establishing and maintaining long-term customer relationships is having an experienced, skilled
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and well-trained work force. In recent years, many of our larger customers have placed an added emphasis on the safety records
and quality management systems of their contractors. We believe that these factors will gain further importance in the future.
Risk Management and Insurance
Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and gas industry, including blowouts, explosions, cratering, fires,
oil spills, hazardous materials spills, loss of well control, loss of or damage to the wellbore, formation or underground reservoir,
damaged or lost equipment, and damage or loss from inclement weather or natural disasters. Any of these hazards could result
in personal injury or death, damage to or destruction of equipment and facilities, loss of oil and natural gas production,
suspension of operations, environmental and natural resources damage and damage to the property of others. Additionally,
because our business involves the transportation of heavy equipment and materials, we may also experience traffic accidents
which may result in personal injury or death, damage to or destruction of equipment and the property of others and hazardous
materials spills. If a serious accident were to occur involving our employees, equipment and/or services, it could result in C&J
being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims for damages.
Despite our efforts to maintain high safety standards, we from time to time have suffered accidents, and it is likely that
we will experience accidents in the future. In addition to the property and personal losses from these accidents, the frequency
and severity of these incidents affect our operating costs and insurability, and our relationship with customers, employees and
regulatory agencies. Any significant increase in the frequency or severity of these incidents, or the general level of
compensatory payments, could adversely affect the cost of, or our ability to obtain, workers’ compensation and other forms of
insurance, and could have other material adverse effects on our financial condition and results of operations.
We maintain insurance policies for workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general liability, which also includes
sudden and accidental pollution insurance, and property damage relating to catastrophic events. These insurance policies carry
self-insured retention limits or deductibles on a per occurrence basis. We have deductibles per occurrence for: workers’
compensation of $1,000,000; automobile liability claims of $1,000,000; general liability claims, including sudden and
accidental pollution claims, of $250,000, plus an additional annual aggregate deductible of $250,000; and property damage for
catastrophic events of $25,000. However, under the terms of the Separation Agreement relating to the Merger, we assumed,
among other liabilities, all liabilities of the C&P Business to the extent arising out of or resulting from the operation of the C&P
Business at any time before, at or after the closing of the Merger, including liability for death, personal injury and property
damage resulting from or caused by the assets, products and services of the C&P Business; other than those liabilities relating
to or resulting from any demand, claim, investigation or litigation pending or asserted in writing as of the closing of the Merger.
Any liability relating to or resulting from any claim or litigation asserted after the closing of the Merger, but where the
underlying cause of action arose prior to that time, would not be covered by our insurance policies.
As discussed below, our Master Service Agreements (“MSAs”) with each of our customers provide, among other things,
that our customers generally assume (without regard to fault) liability for underground pollution and pollution emanating from
the wellbore as a result of an explosion, fire or blowout. We retain the risk for any liability not indemnified by our customers in
excess of our insurance coverage. Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover our liabilities. In addition, we may not be
able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable and commercially justifiable or on terms as
favorable as our current arrangements.
We enter into MSAs with each of our customers for our core service lines in our Completion Services segment and our
Well Support Services segment. Our MSAs delineate our and our customers’ respective indemnification obligations with
respect to the services we provide. Our MSAs typically provide for knock-for-knock indemnification for all losses, which
means that we and our customers assume liability for damages to our respective personnel and property. For catastrophic losses,
our MSAs generally include industry-standard carve-outs from the knock-for-knock indemnities, pursuant to which our
customers (typically the exploration and production company) assume liability for (i) damage to the hole, including the cost to
re-drill; (ii) damage to the formation, underground strata and the reservoir; (iii) damages or claims arising from loss of control
of a well or a blowout; and (iv) allegations of subsurface trespass. Additionally, our MSAs often provide that we can be held
responsible for events of catastrophic loss only if they arise as a result of our gross negligence or willful misconduct. Our
MSAs typically provide for industry-standard pollution indemnities, pursuant to which we assume liability for surface pollution
associated with our equipment and originating above the surface, and our customer assumes (without regard to fault) liability
arising from all other pollution, including, without limitation, underground pollution and pollution emanating from the wellbore
as a result of an explosion, fire or blowout.
The description of insurance policies set forth above is a summary of certain material terms of our insurance policies
currently in effect and may change in the future as a result of market and/or other conditions. Similarly, the summary of MSAs
set forth above is a summary of the material terms of the typical MSA that we have in place and does not reflect every MSA
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that we have entered into or may enter into in the future, some of which may contain indemnity structures and risk allocations
between our customers and us that are different than those described here.
Employees
As of February 22, 2016, we had 6,151 employees. We significantly increased our employee base as a result of combing
Legacy C&J with the C&P Business, increasing overall headcount from 3,397 employees to 9,168 employees immediately
following the closing of the Merger. However, due to the severe deterioration in market conditions over the course of 2015, we
reduced our headcount as part of our continuing effort to align our business with the reduction in demand for our services, as
well as due to the elimination of duplicative positions as we implemented our integration strategy following the Merger.
The delivery of our services and products requires personnel with specialized skills and experience who can perform
physically demanding work. Subject to industry and local market conditions, the additional crew members needed for our core
service lines in our Completion Services and Well Support Services segments are generally available for hire on relatively short
notice.
Our employees are not represented by any labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our
relations with our employees to be generally good.
Government Regulations and Environmental Matters
We are significantly affected by stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those
governing worker health and safety, motor carrier operations, the transportation of explosives, the use, management and
disposal of certain radioactive materials, the handling of hazardous materials and the emission or discharge of substances into
the environment or otherwise relating to environmental protection. Regulations concerning equipment certification create an
ongoing need for regular maintenance, which is incorporated into our daily operating procedures. Any failure by us to comply
with such local, state and federal laws and regulations may result in governmental authorities taking actions against our
business that could adversely impact our operations and financial condition, including the following:
· issuance of administrative, civil and criminal penalties;
· modification, denial or revocation of permits or other authorizations;
· imposition of limitations on our operations through injunctions or other governmental actions; and
· performance of site investigatory, remedial or other corrective actions.
Worker Health and Safety
We are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”), and comparable state
statutes that regulate the protection of the health and safety of workers. In addition, the OSHA hazard communication standard
requires that information be maintained about hazardous materials used or produced in operations and that this information be
provided to employees, state and local government authorities and the public. We believe that our operations are in substantial
compliance with the OSHA requirements, including general industry standards, record keeping requirements and monitoring of
occupational exposure to regulated substances.
Motor Carrier Operations
Among the services we provide, we operate as a motor carrier and therefore are subject to regulation by the United
States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) and various state agencies. These regulatory authorities exercise broad powers,
governing activities such as the authorization to engage in motor carrier operations; regulatory safety; hazardous materials
labeling, placarding and marking; financial reporting; and certain mergers, consolidations and acquisitions. There are additional
regulations specifically relating to the trucking industry, including testing and specification of equipment and product handling
requirements. The trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative changes that may affect the economics of
the industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by changing the demand for common or contract carrier services or
the cost of providing truckload services. Some of these possible changes include increasingly stringent environmental
regulations, changes in the hours of service regulations which govern the amount of time a driver may drive in any specific
period and requiring onboard black box recorder devices or limits on vehicle weight and size.
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Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by DOT. To a large degree, intrastate
motor carrier operations are subject to safety regulations that mirror federal regulations. Such matters as weight and dimension
of equipment are also subject to federal and state regulations. DOT regulations also mandate drug testing of drivers. From time
to time, various legislative proposals are introduced, including proposals to increase federal, state or local taxes, including taxes
on motor fuels, which may increase our costs or adversely impact the recruitment of drivers. We cannot predict whether, or in
what form, any increase in such taxes applicable to us will be enacted.
Radioactive Materials
In addition, some of our operations utilize equipment that contains sealed, low-grade radioactive sources. Our activities
involving the use of radioactive materials are regulated by the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”) and
state regulatory agencies under agreement with the NRC. Standards implemented by these regulatory agencies require us to
obtain licenses or other approvals for the use of such radioactive materials. We believe that we have obtained these licenses and
approvals when necessary and that we are in substantial compliance with these requirements. Numerous governmental
agencies issue regulations to implement and enforce these laws, for which compliance is often costly and difficult. The
violation of these laws and regulations may result in the denial or revocation of permits, issuance of corrective action orders,
injunctions prohibiting some or all of our operations, assessment of administrative and civil penalties, and even criminal
prosecution.
Hazardous Substances
We generate wastes, including hazardous wastes, which are subject to the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act (“RCRA”), and comparable state statutes. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), the NRC, and state
agencies have limited the approved methods of disposal for some types of hazardous and nonhazardous wastes. RCRA
currently excludes drilling fluids, produced waters and certain other wastes associated with the exploration, development or
production of oil and natural gas from regulation as “hazardous waste.” Disposal of such non-hazardous oil and natural gas
exploration, development and production wastes is usually regulated by state law. Other wastes handled at exploration and
production sites or generated in the course of providing well services may not fall within this exclusion. Moreover, stricter
standards for waste handling and disposal may be imposed on the oil and natural gas industry in the future. From time to time,
legislation is proposed in Congress, or legal actions are initiated by environmental groups that, if successful, would revoke or
alter the current exclusion of exploration, development and production wastes from the RCRA definition of “hazardous
wastes,” thereby potentially subjecting such wastes to more stringent handling, disposal and cleanup requirements. If such
efforts were successful, it could have a significant impact on our operating costs as well as the oil and natural gas industry in
general. The impact of future revisions to environmental laws and regulations cannot be predicted. Additionally, Naturally
Occurring Radioactive Materials (“NORM”) may contaminate extraction and processing equipment used in the oil and natural
gas industry. The waste resulting from such contamination is regulated by federal and state laws. Standards have been
developed for: worker protection; treatment, storage, and disposal of NORM and NORM waste; management of NORMcontaminated waste piles, containers and tanks; and limitations on the relinquishment of NORM contaminated land for
unrestricted use under RCRA and state laws. It is possible that we may incur costs or liabilities associated with elevated levels
of NORM.
The Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA” or the “Superfund”
law), and comparable state statutes impose liability, without regard to fault or legality of the original conduct, on classes of
persons that are considered to have contributed to the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. Such classes of
persons include the current and past owners or operators of sites where a hazardous substance was released, and companies that
disposed or arranged for disposal of hazardous substances at off-site locations such as landfills. Under CERCLA, these persons
may be subject to strict, joint and several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released
into the environment and for damages to natural resources, and it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third
parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances released into the
environment. We currently own, lease, or operate numerous properties and facilities that for many years have been used for
industrial activities, including oil and natural gas related operations. Hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons may have
been released on or under the properties owned or leased by us, or on or under other locations where such substances have been
taken for recycling or disposal. In addition, some of these properties have been operated by third parties or by previous owners
whose treatment and disposal or release of hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons, was not under our control. These
properties and the substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws.
Under such laws, we could be required to remove previously disposed substances and wastes and remediate contaminated
property (including groundwater contamination) ,including instances where the prior owner or operator caused the
contamination, or perform remedial plugging of disposal wells or waste pit closure operations to prevent future contamination.
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These laws and regulations may also expose us to liability for our acts that were in compliance with applicable laws at the time
the acts were performed.
Water Discharges
The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (the “Clean Water Act”), and comparable state statutes impose restrictions and
strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants into state waters or waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants
into jurisdictional waters is prohibited unless the discharge is permitted by the EPA or applicable state agencies. The Clean
Water Act also prohibits the discharge of dredge and fill material into regulated waters, including jurisdictional wetlands, unless
authorized by an appropriately issued permit. In September 2015, a new EPA and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps”)
rule defining the scope of the EPA’s and the Corps’ jurisdiction over wetlands and other waters became effective. To the extent
the rule expands the range of properties subject to the Clean Water Act’s jurisdiction, we could face increased costs and delays
with respect to obtaining permits for dredge and fill activities in wetland areas. The rule has been challenged in court on the
grounds that it unlawfully expands the reach of Clean Water Act programs, and implementation of the rule has been stayed
pending resolution of the court challenge. The process for obtaining permits has the potential to delay the development of
natural gas and oil projects. Also, spill prevention, control and countermeasure regulations under federal law require
appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the contamination of navigable waters in the event of a
petroleum hydrocarbon tank spill, rupture or leak.
In addition, the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws require individual permits or coverage under general permits
for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities. Moreover, the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA”) imposes a
variety of requirements on responsible parties related to the prevention of oil spills and liability for damages, including natural
resource damages, resulting from such spills in waters of the United States. A responsible party includes the owner or operator
of an onshore facility. The Clean Water Act and analogous state laws provide for administrative, civil and criminal penalties for
unauthorized discharges and, together with the OPA, impose rigorous requirements for spill prevention and response planning,
as well as substantial potential liability for the costs of removal, remediation, and damages in connection with any unauthorized
discharges.
The Safe Water Drinking Act (“SDWA”) regulates the underground injection of substances through the Underground
Injection Control (“UIC”) program. Hydraulic fracturing generally is exempt from regulation under the UIC program, and the
hydraulic fracturing process is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions. However, the EPA has asserted that
hydraulic fracturing with fluids containing diesel fuel is subject to regulation under the UIC program. In addition, in response to
recent seismic events near underground injection wells used for the disposal of oil and gas-related wastewater, federal and some
state agencies have begun investigating whether such wells have caused increased seismic activity, and some states have
imposed volumetric injection limits, shut down or imposed moratorium on the use of such injection wells. If new regulatory
initiatives are implemented that restrict or prohibit the use of underground injection wells in areas where we rely upon the use
of such wells in our operations, our costs to operate may significantly increase and our ability to perform services may be
delayed or limited, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position.
Air Emissions
Some of our operations also result in emissions of regulated air pollutants. The federal Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and
analogous state laws require permits for certain facilities that have the potential to emit substances into the atmosphere that
could adversely affect environmental quality. These laws and their implementing regulations also impose generally applicable
limitations on air emissions and require adherence to maintenance, work practice, reporting and record keeping, and other
requirements. Failure to obtain a permit or to comply with permit or other regulatory requirements could result in the
imposition of substantial administrative, civil and even criminal penalties. In addition, we or our customers could be required to
shut down or retrofit existing equipment, leading to additional expenses and operational delays.
Many of these regulatory requirements, including New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”) and Maximum
Achievable Control Technology (“MACT”) standards are expected to be made more stringent over time as a result of stricter
ambient air quality standards and other air quality protection goals adopted by the EPA. For example, in October 2015, the EPA
lowered the National Ambient Air Quality Standard, (“NAAQS”) for ozone from 75 to 70 parts per billion for both the 8-hour
primary and secondary standards. State implementation of the revised NAAQS could result in stricter permitting requirements,
delay or prohibit our ability to obtain such permits, and result in increased expenditures for pollution control equipment, the
costs of which could be significant. In addition, in 2012, the EPA issued federal regulations requiring the reduction of volatile
organic compound (“VOC”) emissions from certain fractured and refractured natural gas wells for which well completion
operations are conducted and further requiring that most wells use reduced emission completions, also known as “green
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completions.” These regulations also establish specific new requirements regarding emissions from production related wet seal
and reciprocating compressors, and from pneumatic controllers and storage vessels.
Compliance with these and other air pollution control and permitting requirements has the potential to delay the
development of oil and natural gas projects and increase costs for us and our customers. Although we do not believe our
operations will be materially adversely affected by these requirements, our business could be materially affected if our
customers’ operations are significantly affected by these or other similar requirements. These requirements could increase the
cost of doing business for us and our customers, reduce the demand for the oil and gas our customers produce, and thus have an
adverse effect on the demand for our products and services.
Climate Change
More stringent laws and regulations relating to climate change may be adopted in the future and could cause us to incur
additional operating costs or reduce the demand for our services. The EPA has determined that emissions of carbon dioxide,
methane, and other greenhouse gases (“GHGs”) present an endangerment to the environment because emissions of such gases
are, according to the EPA, contributing to the warming of the earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes. Based on these
findings, EPA has adopted regulations that restrict emissions of GHGs under existing provisions of the CAA, including rules
that require preconstruction and operating permit reviews for GHG emissions from certain large stationary sources. The EPA
has also adopted rules requiring the monitoring and reporting of GHG emissions from specified GHG sources, including,
among others, certain oil and natural gas production facilities, on an annual basis. More recently, in August 2015, the EPA
announced proposed rules that would establish new air emission controls for emissions of methane from certain equipment and
processes in the oil and natural gas source category, including production, processing, transmission and storage activities. The
EPA’s proposed rule package includes first-time standards to address emissions of methane from equipment and processes
across the source category, including hydraulically fractured oil and natural gas well completions. The Bureau of Land
Management (“BLM”) also proposed new rules in January 2016 which seek to limit methane emissions from new and existing
oil and gas operations on federal lands through limitations on the venting and flaring of gas, as well as enhanced leak detection
and repair requirements. We do not believe our operations are currently subject to these requirements, but our business could be
affected if our customers’ operations become subject to these or other similar requirements. Moreover, these requirements could
increase the cost of doing business for us and our customers, reduce the demand for the oil and gas our customers produce, and
thus have a material adverse effect on the demand for our products and services.
In addition, Congress has from time to time considered legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs, and almost one-half of
the states have already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of GHGs, primarily through the development of GHG
emission inventories and/or regional GHG cap and trade programs. Most of these cap and trade programs work by requiring
major sources of emissions or major producers of fuels, to acquire and surrender emission allowances. The number of
allowances available for purchase is reduced each year in an effort to achieve the overall greenhouse gas emission reduction
goal. Although it is not possible at this time to predict how legislation or new regulations that may be adopted to address GHG
emissions would impact our business, any new federal, regional or state restrictions on emissions of carbon dioxide or other
GHGs that may be imposed in areas in which we conduct business could result in increased compliance costs or additional
operating restrictions on our customers. Such restrictions could potentially make our customers’ products more expensive and
thus reduce demand for such products, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the demand for our services and
our business. Finally, it should be noted that some scientists have concluded that increasing concentrations of GHGs in the
earth’s atmosphere may produce climatic changes that have significant physical effects, such as increased frequency and
severity of storms, droughts, and floods and other climatic events; if any such effects were to occur, they could have an adverse
effect on our assets and operations.
Hydraulic Fracturing
Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of natural gas and/or oil
from dense subsurface rock formations. The hydraulic fracturing process involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals
under pressure into the formation to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. We commonly perform hydraulic
fracturing services for our customers. Hydraulic fracturing typically is regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions, but,
as noted above, the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authority pursuant to the SDWA over certain hydraulic fracturing
activities involving the use of diesel fuel and issued permitting guidance in February 2014 that applies to such activities. In
addition, the EPA has taken the following actions and issued final regulations under the CAA governing performance standards,
including standards for the capture of air emissions released during hydraulic fracturing; an advanced notice of proposed rule
making in March 2014 under the Toxic Substances Control Act that would require companies to disclose information regarding
the chemicals used in hydraulic fracturing; and proposed rules in April 2015 to prohibit the discharge of wastewater from
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hydraulic fracturing operations to publicly owned wastewater treatment plants. Also, the BLM finalized rules in March 2015
that impose new or more stringent standards for performing hydraulic fracturing on federal and American Indian lands. The
U.S. District Court of Wyoming has temporarily stayed implementation of this rule, though a final decision has not yet been
issued.
The White House Council on Environmental Quality is coordinating an administration-wide review of hydraulic
fracturing practices and, in June 2015, the EPA released its draft report on the potential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on
drinking water resources. The report concluded that hydraulic fracturing activities have not led to widespread, systemic impacts
on drinking water resources in the United States, although there are above and below ground mechanisms by which hydraulic
fracturing activities have the potential to impact drinking water resources. The draft report is expected to be finalized after a
public comment period and a formal review by the EPA’s Science Advisory Board. Other governmental agencies, including the
U.S. Department of Energy and the U.S. Department of the Interior, are evaluating various other aspects of hydraulic fracturing.
Depending on their results, these studies could spur initiatives to further regulate hydraulic fracturing under the federal SDWA
or other regulatory mechanisms.
In addition, various state and local governments have implemented, or are considering, increased regulatory oversight of
hydraulic fracturing through additional permit requirements, operational restrictions, disclosure requirements, well construction
and temporary or permanent bans on hydraulic fracturing in certain areas. For example, in May 2013, the Texas Railroad
Commission adopted new rules governing well casing, cementing and other standards for ensuring that hydraulic fracturing
operations do not contaminate nearby water resources. Local governments also may seek to adopt ordinances within their
jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of drilling activities in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in particular
or prohibit the performance of well drilling in general or hydraulic fracturing in particular. We believe that we follow applicable
standard industry practices and legal requirements for groundwater protection in our hydraulic fracturing activities. If new
federal, state or local laws or regulations that significantly restrict hydraulic fracturing are adopted, such legal requirements
could result in delays, eliminate certain drilling and injection activities and make it more difficult or costly to perform hydraulic
fracturing. Any such regulations limiting or prohibiting hydraulic fracturing could result in decreased oil and natural gas
exploration and production activities and, therefore, adversely affect demand for our services and our business. Such laws or
regulations could also materially increase our costs of compliance and doing business.
There have been no material incidents or citations related to our hydraulic fracturing operations in the past five years.
During that period we have not been involved in any litigation over alleged environmental violations, have not been ordered to
pay any material monetary fine or penalty with respect to alleged environmental violations, and are not currently facing any
type of governmental enforcement action or other regulatory proceeding involving alleged environmental violations related to
our hydraulic fracturing operations. In addition, pursuant to our MSAs, we are generally liable for only surface pollution, not
underground or flowback pollution, which our customers are generally liable for and for which we are typically indemnified by
our customers.
We maintain insurance against some risks associated with underground contamination that may occur as a result of well
services activities. However, this insurance is limited to activities at the well site and may not continue to be available or may
not be available at premium levels that justify its purchase. The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured or
indemnified against could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Overall, we do not anticipate that compliance with existing environmental laws and regulations will have a material
effect on our financial condition or results of operations. It is possible, however, that substantial costs for compliance or
penalties for non-compliance may be incurred in the future. Moreover, it is possible that other developments, such as the
adoption of stricter environmental laws, regulations, and enforcement policies, could result in additional costs or liabilities that
we cannot currently quantify.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
We face many challenges and risks in the industry in which we operate. Before investing in our shares you should
carefully consider each of the following risk factors and all of the other information set forth in this Annual Report, including
under the section titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”, and in our other reports filed with the
SEC, and the documents and other information incorporated by reference herein and therein, for a detailed discussion of
known material factors which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. The risks and
uncertainties described are not the only ones we face. Additional risk factors not presently known to us or which we currently
consider immaterial may also adversely affect our business, financial condition or future results. If any of these risks were
actually to occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In that case,
the trading price of our shares could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Our business is cyclical and dependent upon conditions in the oil and natural gas industry, which impact the level of
exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas and capital expenditures by oil and natural gas companies.
Our customers’ willingness to undertake exploration and production activities depends largely upon prevailing industry
conditions that are influenced by numerous factors which are beyond our control. Any of these factors could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.
We depend on our customers’ willingness to make operating and capital expenditures to explore for, develop and
produce oil and natural gas. If these expenditures decline, our business will suffer. The oil and gas industry has traditionally
been volatile, is highly sensitive to supply and demand cycles and is influenced by a combination of long-term, short-term and
cyclical trends. Our customers’ willingness to conduct drilling, completion and production activities depends largely upon
prevailing industry conditions that are influenced by numerous factors over which we have no control, such as:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, including current natural gas storage capacity and usage;
the ability or willingness of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries ("OPEC") to set and maintain
production levels for oil;
the current and expected future prices for oil and natural gas and the perceived stability and sustainability of
those prices;
the supply of and demand for hydraulic fracturing and other well service equipment in the United States;
the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and delivering oil and natural gas;
public pressure on, and legislative and regulatory interest within, federal, state and local governments to stop,
significantly limit or regulate hydraulic fracturing activities;
the expected rates of decline of current oil and natural gas production;
lead times associated with acquiring equipment and products and availability of personnel;
regulation of drilling activity;
the discovery and development rates of new oil and natural gas reserves;
available pipeline and other transportation capacity;
weather conditions, including hurricanes that can affect oil and natural gas operations over a wide area;
political instability in oil and natural gas producing countries;
domestic and worldwide economic conditions;
technical advances affecting energy consumption;
the price and availability of alternative fuels; and
merger and divestiture activity among oil and natural gas producers.

Volatility or weakness in oil prices or natural gas prices (or the perception that oil prices or natural gas prices will
decrease or remain depressed) generally leads to decreased spending by our customers, which in turn negatively impacts
drilling, completion and production activity. In particular, the demand for new or existing drilling, completion and production
work is driven by available investment capital for such work. When these capital investments decline, our customers’ demand
for our services declines. Because these types of services can be easily “started” and “stopped,” and oil and natural gas
producers generally tend to be less risk tolerant when commodity prices are low or volatile, we typically experience a more
rapid decline in demand for our services compared with demand for other types of energy services. Any negative impact on the
spending patterns of our customers may cause lower pricing and utilization for our core service lines, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Spending by exploration and production companies can also be impacted by conditions in the capital markets.
Limitations on the availability of capital, or higher costs of capital, for financing expenditures may cause exploration and
production companies to make additional reductions to capital budgets in the future even if oil prices remain at current levels or
natural gas prices increase from current levels. Any such cuts in spending may cause our customers to curtail their drilling
programs, including completion and production activities and any discretionary spending on well services, which may result in
a reduction in the demand for our services, and the rates we can charge and the utilization of our assets. Moreover, reduced
discovery rates of new oil and natural gas reserves, or a decrease in the development rate of reserves, in our market areas,
whether due to increased governmental regulation, limitations on exploration and drilling activity or other factors, could also
have a material adverse impact on our business, even in a stronger oil and natural gas price environment.
Fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices could adversely affect drilling, completion and production activities by oil
and natural gas companies and our revenues, cash flows and profitability. If oil and natural gas prices remain volatile, or if
oil or natural gas prices remain low or decline further, the demand for our services could be adversely affected.
The demand for our services depends on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for drilling, completion and
production activities, which are affected by short-term and long-term trends in oil and natural gas prices, including current and
anticipated oil and natural gas prices. Oil and natural gas prices, as well as the level of drilling, completion and production
activities, historically have been extremely volatile and are expected to continue to be highly volatile. For example, during
2015, oil prices were as high as $61 per barrel and as low as $35 per barrel, and entering 2016 we have seen them fall as low as
$27 per barrel. In line with the sustained weakness and volatility in oil prices over the course of 2015, we experienced a
significant decline in drilling, completion and production activities across our customer base, which resulted in reduced
demand and increased competition and pricing pressure to varying degrees across our service lines and operating areas.
Worldwide military, political and economic events, including initiatives by OPEC, affect both the demand for, and the
supply of, oil and natural gas. Weather conditions, governmental regulation (both in the United States and elsewhere), levels of
consumer demand, the availability of pipeline capacity and other factors that will be beyond our control may also affect the
supply of, demand for, and price of oil and natural gas. Volatility or weakness in oil prices or natural gas prices (or the
perception that oil prices or natural gas prices will decrease) affects the spending patterns of our customers and may result in
the drilling of fewer new wells or lower completion and production spending on existing wells. This, in turn, could result in
lower demand for our services and cause lower pricing and utilization levels for our services. If oil and natural gas prices
continue to remain low or decline further, or if there is a further reduction in drilling and completion activities, the demand for
our services and our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
We participate in a capital-intensive industry, and we may not be able to finance future growth of our operations or
future acquisitions, which could adversely affect our operations and financial position.
Since the beginning of 2011, our growth has been funded by cash flows from operations, borrowings under our credit
facilities and the net proceeds we received from our initial public offering, which closed on August 3, 2011. As of
December 31, 2015, we had $121.0 million outstanding under our Revolver and $12.6 million in letters of credit, and as of
February 23, 2016, we had $251.0 million outstanding under our Revolver and $12.6 million in letters of credit, leaving $36.4
million available for additional borrowing based on $300.0 million of Revolver availability. As a result, we have limited ability
to borrow under our Revolver until amounts outstanding have been repaid. Please see “Liquidity and Capital Resources Description of Our Credit Agreement” in Part II, Item 7 of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” for additional information about our Revolver and other facilities under our Credit Agreement, including
the financial and other restrictive covenants contained therein.
We expect to depend on recent drawings made on our Revolving Credit Facility for a portion of our future capital needs.
We may draw all or a portion of the remaining $36.4 million available for additional borrowing under the Revolver in ordinary
course to fund operations, build cash or other general corporate purposes. In the event we draw the full amount available under
our Revolver, we will no longer have the ability to draw additional funds from the Revolver until some or all of the outstanding
borrowings have been repaid. As a result, absent the issuance of additional securities, alternative financing arrangements or the
repayment of outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, cash flow from operations and our existing cash on
hand may be the sole source of funding for our operations
The successful execution of our growth strategy depends on our ability to generate sufficient cash flows and/or raise
additional capital as needed. Our ability to fund future growth depends on our performance, which is impacted by factors
beyond our control, including financial, business, economic and other factors, such as potential changes in customer
preferences and pressure from competitors. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flows or to obtain additional capital on
favorable terms or at all, we may be unable to continue growing our business, conduct necessary corporate activities, take
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advantage of business opportunities that arise or engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interest, which may
adversely impact our ability to sustain or improve our current level of profitability. Furthermore, any failure to make scheduled
payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness on
acceptable terms or at all, and also could constitute an event of default under the Credit Agreement and cause a cross default
with respect to our other outstanding indebtedness, resulting in the acceleration of all such outstanding indebtedness. Our
inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations or to obtain alternative financing could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, and we could be forced into
bankruptcy or liquidation.
If we are unable to generate enough cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness or are unable to use
future borrowings to refinance our indebtedness or fund other capital needs, we may have to undertake alternative
financing plans, which may have onerous terms or may be unavailable.
We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service our outstanding
indebtedness, or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to
fund our other capital needs. If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, we may
have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as:
•
•
•
•
•
•

refinancing or restructuring all or a portion of our debt;
obtaining alternative financing;
selling assets;
reducing or delaying capital investments;
seeking to raise additional capital; or
revising or delaying our strategic plans.

However, we cannot assure you that we would be able to implement alternative financing plans, if necessary, on
commercially reasonable terms or at all, or that undertaking alternative financing plans would allow us to meet our debt
obligations and capital requirements or that these actions would be permitted under the terms of our Credit Agreement. Our
inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations or to obtain alternative financing could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
We are highly leveraged and our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our operations and financial
condition.
As of December 31, 2015, we had $1.2 billion of debt outstanding, excluding original issue discount, comprised of
$121.0 million drawn and $12.6 million of letters of credit outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and $1.1 billion
outstanding under a Term Loan B facility, consisting of a $570.7 million term loan B-1 that matures in 2019 and a $481.4
million term loan B-2 that matures in 2021. As of February 23, 2016, we had $251.0 million outstanding under our Revolver
and $12.6 million in letters of credit, leaving $36.4 million available for borrowing, based on $300.0 million of Revolver
availability. The additional draws of $130.0 million on our Revolving Credit Facility since December 31, 2015 will result in
approximately $1.1 million of additional interest expense for the first quarter of 2016. Should we decide to draw all or some
portion of the remaining $36.4 million available under our Revolver during the first quarter of 2016, we would incur additional
amounts of interest cost to do so.
As a result of our current indebtedness, we have limited ability to borrow additional funds from the Revolver until some
or all of the outstanding borrowings have been repaid. We expect to depend on recent drawings made on our Revolving Credit
Facility for a portion of our future capital needs. We may draw all or a portion of the remaining $36.4 million available for
additional borrowing under the Revolver in ordinary course to fund operations, build cash or other general corporate purposes.
In the event we draw the full amount available under our Revolver, we will no longer have the ability to draw additional funds
from the Revolver until some or all of the outstanding borrowings have been repaid. As a result, absent the issuance of
additional securities, alternative financing arrangements or the repayment of outstanding borrowings under our Revolving
Credit Facility, cash flow from operations and our existing cash on hand may be the sole source of funding for our operations.
C&J’s substantial indebtedness could have negative consequences that could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, such as:
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•

•
•
•
•
•

requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operating activities to payments on its
indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures,
research and development efforts, potential strategic acquisitions and other general corporate purposes
limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund growth, working capital or capital expenditures, or to
fulfill debt service requirements or other cash requirements;
increasing our vulnerability to economic downturns and changing market conditions;
placing us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors that have less debt;
to the extent that our debt is subject to floating interest rates, increasing our vulnerability to fluctuations in market
interest rates; and
preventing our ability to buy back our common shares or pay cash dividends.

We may not be able to service our debt obligations in accordance with their terms.
Our ability to meet our expense and debt service obligations under, and comply with the financial covenants contained
in, the Credit Agreement depends on our future performance, which is affected by financial, business, economic and other
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including potential changes in customer preferences, the success of product and
marketing innovation and pressure from competitors. Should our revenues decline, we may not be able to generate sufficient
cash flow to pay our debt service obligations when due. Additionally, in the event that utilization and pricing levels for our
services remain at or near existing levels, we may not remain in compliance with one or more of the financial covenants under
the Credit Agreement in future periods. Any failure to satisfy our debt obligations or to comply with the applicable financial
covenants under the Credit Agreement could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and prospects.
If we are unable to meet our debt service obligations or should we fail to comply with, or obtain relief from, the financial
and other restrictive covenants contained in the Credit Agreement, we may trigger an event of default under the Credit
Agreement. Upon such an event of default, the lenders may refuse to fund borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and
would have the right to terminate the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility and potentially accelerate all amounts
outstanding under the Credit Agreement. An acceleration under the Credit Agreement could also cause a cross default or cross
acceleration of our other outstanding indebtedness. If an event of default occurs, or if other debt agreements cross-default, and
the lenders under one or more of the affected debt agreements accelerate the maturity of any loans or other debt outstanding, we
may be required to refinance all or part of our debt, sell important strategic assets or businesses at unfavorable prices or borrow
more money. We may not be able to, at any given time, refinance our debt, sell assets or borrow more money on terms
acceptable to us or at all. The inability to refinance the debt or access the capital markets could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition and results from operations and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
We are subject to restrictive covenants in our Credit Agreement, which may restrict our operational flexibility.
The Credit Agreement governing our indebtedness contains financial and other restrictive covenants that may limit our
ability to obtain future financings to withstand a future downturn in our business or the economy in general, conduct necessary
corporate activities, take advantage of business opportunities that arise and/or to engage in activities that may be in our longterm best interests, including a maximum Total Leverage Ratio based on net consolidated indebtedness to EBITDA and a
minimum Interest Expense Ratio requiring a minimum quarterly ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest
expense. On September 29, 2015, the Company obtained a waiver and entered into certain amendments to the Credit
Agreement that, among other things, (1) suspended the quarterly maximum Total Leverage Ratio and quarterly minimum
Interest Coverage Ratio covenants, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2015 and continuing through the
fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2017 and (2) implemented new financial covenants that apply in lieu of the quarterly maximum
Total Leverage Ratio and quarterly minimum Interest Coverage Ratio covenants, including a quarterly minimum EBITDA
covenant, commencing with the quarter ended September 30, 2015 and running through the quarter ending June 30, 2017.
Specifically, the restrictive covenants limit our ability and that of our subsidiaries to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•

sell or otherwise dispose of assets;
make certain restricted payments and investments;
create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or guarantee additional indebtedness;
create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist liens on our assets;
make capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions;
repurchase, redeem or retire our capital shares;
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•
•
•

merge or consolidate, or transfer all or substantially all of our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries;
engage in specified transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates; and
pursue other corporate activities.

We may be prevented from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed on
us by restrictive covenants under the Credit Agreement, which could: limit our ability to plan for, or react to, market conditions,
to meet capital needs or otherwise restrict our activities or business plan; and adversely affect our ability to finance our
operations, enter into acquisitions or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.
Please see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Description of Our Credit Agreement” in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for additional information about the Credit
Agreement, including the financial and other restrictive covenants contained therein.
Our Credit Agreement has substantial restrictions and financial covenants which we may not be in compliance with
in future periods. Noncompliance with these restrictions and financial covenants would result in an event of default under
the Credit Agreement and could also cause a cross default or cross acceleration of all our other outstanding indebtedness
and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
The Credit Agreement governing our Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that limit our ability and
that of our subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist liens or indebtedness, sell or otherwise dispose of our assets,
make certain restricted payments and investments, enter into transactions with affiliates and prepay certain indebtedness. The
Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants that require us to maintain compliance with certain financial metrics. Please
see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Description of Our Credit Agreement” in Part II, Item 7 of “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for additional information about our Revolver and other
facilities under our Credit Agreement, including the financial and other restrictive covenants contained therein; see also Note 2
- Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Our ability to comply with the restrictive and financial covenants in the future is uncertain and will be affected by the
levels of cash flow from our operations and other events or circumstances, many of which are beyond our control. Our cash
flow is highly dependent on utilization levels and pricing for our services, which have declined substantially as demand for our
services significantly decreased due to the sustained weakness in commodity prices. In the event that utilization and pricing
levels for our services remain at or near existing levels for a sustained period, we may be unable to comply with one or more
financial covenants in future periods.
If we are unable to comply with, or obtain relief from, the financial and other restrictive covenants contained in the
Credit Agreement, or if we are unable to meet our debt service obligations, we may trigger an event of default under the Credit
Agreement. Noncompliance with these financial covenants would result in an event of default under the Credit Agreement and
could also cause a cross default or cross acceleration of all our other outstanding indebtedness. If an event of default occurs
under the Credit Agreement, or if other debt agreements cross default, the lenders under one or more of the affected debt
agreements could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to
extend further credit.
If the lenders under one or more of the affected debt agreements accelerate the maturity of any loans or other debt
outstanding, we may be required to refinance all or part of our debt, sell important strategic assets or businesses at unfavorable
prices or borrow more money. We have pledged a significant portion of our and our subsidiaries’ assets as collateral and if we
were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness
and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
The oilfield services industry is highly competitive with significant potential for excess capacity. We may not be able
to meet the specific needs of oil and natural gas exploration and production companies at competitive prices which could
adversely affect our business and operating results.
The oilfield services industry is highly competitive. The principal competitive factors in our markets are generally
technical expertise, the availability and condition of equipment, work force capability, safety record, reputation and experience.
We compete with large national and multi-national companies that have longer operating histories, greater financial resources
and greater name recognition than we do and who can operate at a loss in the regions in which we operate. Additionally, some
of our competitors provide a broader array of services and/or have a stronger presence in more geographic markets. Our
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reputation for safety and quality may not be sufficient to enable us to maintain our competitive position, and our competitors
may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and services and changes in customer requirements. As a
result of competition, we may lose market share or be unable to maintain or increase prices for our present services or to
acquire additional business opportunities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
Additionally, significant increases in overall market capacity have caused active price competition and led to lower
pricing and utilization levels for our services. Completion and well servicing equipment, such as hydraulic fracturing fleets, can
be moved from one region to another in response to changes in levels of activity and market conditions, which may result in an
oversupply of equipment in an area. For example, natural gas prices declined sharply in 2009 and have remained depressed
through 2015, which resulted in reduced drilling activity in natural gas shale plays. This drove many energy services companies
operating in those areas to relocate their equipment to more oily- and liquids-rich shale plays, such as the Eagle Ford Shale and
Permian Basin. As drilling activity and completion capacity migrated into the oily- and liquids-rich regions from the gas-rich
regions, the increase in supply relative to demand negatively impacted pricing and utilization of our services, particularly for
hydraulic fracturing services. Furthermore, as we entered 2015, we experienced a slowdown in activity across our customer
base as operators reacted to the rapid decline in commodity prices that began during the fourth quarter of 2014. The entire year
proved to be extremely challenging for the North American oilfield services industry due to the sustained weakness and
volatility in oil prices at levels that caused severe reductions in drilling, completion and production activities, which in turn
resulted in reduced demand and increased competition and pricing pressure to varying degrees across our service lines and
operating areas.
We may be unable to implement price increases or maintain existing prices on our core services.
We generate revenue from our core service lines, the majority of which is provided on a spot market basis. Pressure on
pricing for our core services, including due to competition and industry and/or economic conditions, may impact, among other
things, our ability to implement price increases or maintain pricing on our core services. We operate in a very competitive
industry and, as a result, we may not always be successful in raising, or maintaining our existing prices. Additionally, during
periods of increased market demand, a significant amount of new service capacity, including hydraulic fracturing equipment,
may enter the market, which also puts pressure on the pricing of our services and limits our ability to increase or maintain
prices. Furthermore, during periods of declining pricing for our services, we may not be able to reduce our costs accordingly,
which could further adversely affect our profitability.
Even when we are able to increase our prices, we may not be able to do so at a rate that is sufficient to offset such rising
costs. Also, we may not be able to successfully increase prices without adversely affecting our activity levels. The inability to
maintain our prices or to increase our prices as costs increase could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position and results of operations.
Reliance upon a few large customers may adversely affect our revenue and operating results.
Our top ten customers represented approximately 53.6%, 51.1% and 64.6% of our consolidated revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. It is likely that we will continue to derive a significant portion of our
revenue from a relatively small number of customers in the future. If a major customer fails to pay us, revenue would be
impacted and our operating results and financial condition could be harmed. Additionally, if we were to lose any material
customer, we may not be able to redeploy our equipment at similar utilization or pricing levels and such loss could have an
adverse effect on our business until the equipment is redeployed at similar utilization or pricing levels.
Delays in deliveries of key raw materials or increases in the cost of key raw materials could harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
We have established relationships with a limited number of suppliers of our raw materials (such as proppant, guar,
chemicals or coiled tubing) and finished products (such as fluid-handling equipment). Should any of our current suppliers be
unable to provide the necessary raw materials or finished products or otherwise fail to deliver the products in a timely manner
and in the quantities required, any resulting delays in the provision of services could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, increasing costs of certain raw materials,
including guar, may negatively impact demand for our services or the profitability of our business operations. In the past, our
industry faced sporadic proppant shortages associated with hydraulic fracturing operations requiring work stoppages, which
adversely impacted the operating results of several competitors. We may not be able to mitigate any future shortages of raw
materials, including proppants.
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If we were to experience an ownership change, we could be limited in our ability to use net operating losses arising
prior to the ownership change to offset future taxable income.
If we were to experience an ‘‘ownership change,’’ as determined under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, our
ability to offset taxable income arising after the ownership change with net operating losses ("NOL's") arising prior to the
ownership change would be limited, possibly substantially. An ownership change would establish an annual limitation on the
amount of our pre-change NOL's we could utilize to offset our taxable income in any future taxable year to an amount
generally equal to the value of our stock immediately prior to the ownership change multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt
rate.
Our executive officers and certain key personnel are critical to our business and these officers and key personnel may
not remain with us in the future.
Our future success depends upon the continued service of our executive officers and other key personnel, particularly
Joshua E. Comstock, our founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. If we lose the services of
Mr. Comstock, or that of our other executive officers or key personnel, our business, operating results and financial condition
could be harmed. Additionally, although we maintain key person life insurance on Mr. Comstock, the proceeds from such
insurance would not be sufficient to cover our losses in the event we were to lose his services.
We are vulnerable to the potential difficulties associated with rapid growth, mergers, acquisitions and expansion.
We have grown rapidly over the last several years, both organically and through acquisitions, and most notably through
the Merger combining Legacy C&J with the C&P Business. We believe that our future success depends on our ability to
continue to take advantage of and manage the rapid growth that we have experienced, as well as the demands from increased
responsibility on our management personnel. The following factors could present difficulties to us:
•
•
•
•
•

lack of sufficient executive-level personnel;
increased administrative burden;
long lead times associated with acquiring additional equipment;
ability to manage significant levels of idle equipment in sustained periods of depressed oil and natural gas prices;
and
ability to maintain the level of focused service attention that we have historically been able to provide to our
customers.

In addition, in the future we may seek to grow our business through acquisitions that enhance our existing operations.
The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our ability to integrate effectively the acquired business into our
existing operations. The process of integrating acquired businesses may involve unforeseen difficulties and may require a
disproportionate amount of our managerial and financial resources. Our operating results could be adversely affected if we do
not successfully manage these potential difficulties in integrating the businesses we may acquire.
Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the energy services industry.
Risks inherent to our industry, such as equipment defects, vehicle accidents, explosions and uncontrollable flows of gas
or well fluids, can cause personal injury, loss of life, suspension of operations, damage to formations, damage to facilities,
business interruption and damage to, or destruction of property, equipment and the environment. In addition, our hydraulic
fracturing and well completion services could become a source of spills or releases of fluids, including chemicals used during
hydraulic fracturing activities, at the site where such services are performed, or could result in the discharge of such fluids into
underground formations that were not targeted for fracturing or well completion activities, such as potable aquifers. These risks
could expose us to substantial liability for personal injury, wrongful death, property damage, loss of oil and natural gas
production, pollution and other environmental damages and could result in a variety of claims, losses and remedial obligations
that could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The existence, frequency and severity of such
incidents will affect operating costs, insurability and relationships with customers, employees and regulators. In particular, our
customers may elect not to purchase our services if they view our safety record as unacceptable, which could cause us to lose
customers and substantial revenue.
Our operational personnel have experienced accidents which have, in some instances, resulted in serious injuries. Our
safety procedures may not always prevent such damages. Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover our liabilities. In
addition, we may not be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable and commercially
justifiable or on terms as favorable as our current arrangements. The occurrence of a significant uninsured claim, a claim in
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excess of the insurance coverage limits maintained by us or a claim at a time when we are not able to obtain liability insurance
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to conduct normal business operations and on our financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows.
We may be unable to employ a sufficient number of skilled and qualified workers.
The delivery of our services and products requires personnel with specialized skills and experience who can perform
physically demanding work. As a result of the volatility in the energy service industry and the demanding nature of the work,
workers may choose to pursue employment in fields that offer a different work environment. Our ability to be productive and
profitable will depend upon our ability to employ and retain skilled workers. In addition, our ability to expand our operations
depends in part on our ability to increase the size of our skilled labor force. At times, demand for skilled workers in our
geographic area of operations is high, and the supply is limited. A significant increase in the wages paid by competing
employers could result in a reduction of our skilled labor force, increases in the wage rates that we pay, or both. If either of
these events were to occur, our capacity and profitability could be diminished and our growth potential could be impaired.
Weather conditions could materially impair our business.
Our operations may be adversely affected by severe weather events and natural disasters. Furthermore, our customers’
operations may be adversely affected by seasonal weather conditions. For example, hurricanes, tropical storms, heavy snow, ice
or rain may result in customer delays and other disruptions to our services. Repercussions of severe weather conditions may
include:
•
•
•
•
•

curtailment of services;
weather-related damage to facilities and equipment, resulting in suspension of operations;
inability to deliver equipment, personnel and products to job sites in accordance with contract schedules;
increase in the price of insurance; and
loss of productivity.

These constraints could also delay our operations, reduce our revenue and materially increase our operating and capital
costs.
Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing could result in increased costs
and additional operating restrictions or delays as well as adversely affect demand for our support services.
Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of natural gas and/or oil
from dense subsurface rock formations. The hydraulic fracturing process involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals
under pressure into the formation to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. We commonly perform hydraulic
fracturing services for our customers.
Hydraulic fracturing typically is regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions, but the EPA has asserted federal
regulatory authority pursuant to the SDWA over certain hydraulic fracturing activities involving the use of diesel fuel and
issued permitting guidance in February 2014 that applies to such activities. Also, in May 2014, the EPA published an advanced
notice of proposed rule making under the Toxic Substances and Control Act that would require the disclosure of chemicals used
in hydraulic fracturing fluids. In addition, from time to time legislation has been introduced before Congress to provide for
federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing under the SDWA and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the hydraulic
fracturing process.
Certain governmental reviews are also either underway or being proposed that focus on environmental aspects of
hydraulic fracturing practices. The White House Council on Environmental Quality is coordinating an administration-wide
review of hydraulic fracturing practices and the EPA is performing a study of the potential environmental effects of hydraulic
fracturing on drinking water resources. The EPA’s study includes 18 separate research projects addressing topics such as water
acquisition, chemical mixing, well injection, flowback and produced water, and wastewater treatment and disposal. The EPA
has indicated that it expects to issue its study report sometime in 2015. The EPA is also developing effluent limitations for the
treatment and discharge of wastewater resulting from hydraulic fracturing activities and plans to propose these standards
sometime in 2015. Other governmental agencies, including the U.S. Department of Energy and the U.S. Department of the
Interior, are evaluating various other aspects of hydraulic fracturing. Depending on their results, these studies could spur
initiatives to further regulate hydraulic fracturing under the federal SDWA or other regulatory mechanisms.
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In addition, various state and local governments have implemented, or are considering, increased regulatory oversight of
hydraulic fracturing through additional permit requirements, operational restrictions, disclosure requirements, well
construction, and temporary or permanent bans on hydraulic fracturing in certain areas. For example, in May 2013, the Texas
Railroad Commission adopted new rules governing well casing, cementing and other standards for ensuring that hydraulic
fracturing operations do not contaminate nearby water resources. Local governments also may seek to adopt ordinances within
their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of drilling activities in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in
particular or prohibit the performance of well drilling in general or hydraulic fracturing in particular. If new federal, state or
local laws or regulations that significantly restrict hydraulic fracturing are adopted, such legal requirements could result in
delays, eliminate certain drilling and injection activities and make it more difficult or costly to perform hydraulic fracturing.
Any such regulations limiting or prohibiting hydraulic fracturing could result in decreased oil and natural gas exploration and
production activities and, therefore, adversely affect demand for our services and our business. Such laws or regulations could
also materially increase our costs of compliance and doing business.
The adoption of new laws or regulations imposing reporting obligations on, or otherwise limiting, the hydraulic
fracturing process could make it more difficult to complete oil and natural gas wells in shale formations, increase our costs of
compliance and adversely affect the hydraulic fracturing services that we render for our exploration and production customers.
In addition, if hydraulic fracturing becomes regulated at the federal level as a result of federal legislation or regulatory
initiatives by the EPA, fracturing activities could become subject to additional permitting requirements, and also to attendant
permitting delays and potential increases in cost, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Climate change legislation or regulations restricting emissions of GHGs could result in increased operating costs and
reduced demand for our services.
The EPA determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs present an endangerment to the
environment because emissions of such gases are, according to the EPA, contributing to the warming of the earth’s atmosphere
and other climatic changes. Based on these findings, the EPA adopted regulations that restrict emissions of GHGs under
existing provisions of the federal CCA Act including one that requires a reduction in emissions of GHGs from motor vehicles
and another that requires certain preconstruction and operating permit reviews for GHG emissions from certain large stationary
sources. The EPA has also adopted rules requiring the monitoring and reporting of GHGs from specified GHG emission
sources, including, among others, certain oil and natural gas production facilities, on an annual basis. In addition to the EPA,
Congress has from time to time considered legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs, and almost one-half of the states have
already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of GHGs, primarily through the development of GHG emission inventories
and/or regional GHG cap and trade programs. Most of these cap and trade programs work by requiring major sources of
emissions or major producers of fuels, to acquire and surrender emission allowances. The number of allowances available for
purchase is reduced each year in an effort to achieve the overall greenhouse gas emission reduction goal. The Obama
Administration has also announced that it intends to release a series of new regulations on the oil and gas industry in 2015,
including federal standards limiting methane emissions.
Any new federal, regional or state restrictions on emissions of GHGs that may be imposed in areas in which we conduct
business could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions on our customers. Such legislation could
also potentially make our customers’ products more expensive and thus reduce demand for those products, which could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our services and our business. Finally, some scientists have concluded that increasing
concentrations of GHGs in the earth’s atmosphere may produce climate changes that have significant physical effects, such as
increased frequency and severity of storms, droughts, and floods and other climatic events. If any such effects were to occur,
they could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
We are subject to extensive and costly environmental, and occupational health and safety laws, and regulations that
may require us to take actions that will adversely affect our results of operations.
Our business is significantly affected by stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and regulations governing
the emission or discharge of substances into the environment, protection of the environment and worker health and safety. Any
failure by us to comply with such environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations may result in
governmental authorities taking actions against our business that could adversely impact our operations and financial condition,
including the following:
•
•
•
•

issuance of administrative, civil and criminal penalties;
modification, denial or revocation of permits or other authorizations;
imposition of limitations on our operations; and
performance of site investigatory, remedial or other corrective actions.
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As part of our business, we handle, transport, and dispose of a variety of fluids and substances used by our customers in
connection with their oil and natural gas exploration and production activities. We also generate and dispose of nonhazardous
and hazardous wastes. The generation, handling, transportation, and disposal of these fluids, substances, and wastes are
regulated by a number of laws, including CERCLA, RCRA, Clean Water Act, SDWA and analogous state laws. Failure to
properly handle, transport or dispose of these materials or otherwise conduct our operations in accordance with these and other
environmental laws could expose us to liability for governmental penalties, third-party claims, cleanup costs associated with
releases of such materials, damages to natural resources, and other damages, as well as potentially impair our ability to conduct
our operations. Moreover, certain of these environmental laws impose joint and several, strict liability even though our conduct
in performing such activities was lawful at the time it occurred or the conduct of, or conditions caused by, prior operators or
other third parties was the basis for such liability. In addition, environmental laws and regulations are subject to frequent
change and if existing laws, regulatory requirements or enforcement policies were to change in the future, we may be required
to make significant unanticipated capital and operating expenditures.
More stringent trucking regulations may increase our costs and negatively impact our results of operations.
As part of the services we provide, we operate as a motor carrier and therefore are subject to regulation by the DOT,
and by other various state agencies. These regulatory authorities exercise broad powers, governing activities such as the
authorization to engage in motor carrier operations and regulatory safety, and hazardous materials labeling, placarding and
marking. There are additional regulations specifically relating to the trucking industry, including testing and specification of
equipment and product handling requirements. In addition, the trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative
changes that may affect the economics of the industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by changing the demand
for common or contract carrier services or the cost of providing truckload services. Some of these possible changes include
increasingly stringent environmental regulations, changes in the hours of service regulations which govern the amount of time a
driver may drive in any specific period, require onboard black box recorder devices or limits on vehicle weight and size.
Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by the DOT. To a large degree,
intrastate motor carrier operations are subject to state safety regulations that mirror federal regulations. Such matters as weight
and dimension of equipment are also subject to federal and state regulations.
From time to time, various legislative proposals are introduced, including proposals to increase federal, state or local
taxes, including taxes on motor fuels, which may increase our costs or adversely impact the recruitment of drivers. We cannot
predict whether, or in what form, any increase in such taxes applicable to us will be enacted.
New technology may hurt our competitive position.
The energy service industry is subject to the introduction of new techniques and services using new technologies, some
of which may be subject to patent protection. As competitors and others use or develop new technologies or technologies
comparable to ours in the future, we may lose market share or be placed at a competitive disadvantage. Further, we may face
competitive pressure to implement or acquire certain new technologies at a substantial cost. Some of our competitors have
greater financial, technical and personnel resources than we do, which may allow them to gain technological advantages or
implement new technologies before we can. Additionally, we may be unable to implement new technologies or products at all,
on a timely basis or at an acceptable cost. Limits on our ability to effectively use or implement new technologies may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar foreign antibribery laws.
The United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws generally
prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making, offering or authorizing improper payments to non-U.S. government
officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We do business and may do additional business in the future in
countries or regions where strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. Violations of
anti-bribery laws (either due to our acts or our inadvertence) may result in criminal and civil sanctions and could subject us to
other liabilities in the U.S. and elsewhere. Even allegations of such violations could disrupt our business and result in a material
adverse effect on our business and operations.
We are committed to doing business in accordance with applicable anti-corruption laws and our own internal policies
and procedures. We have implemented policies and procedures concerning compliance with the FCPA that is disseminated to
employees, directors, contractors, and agents. This policy has been implemented as part of our anti-bribery compliance
program.
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Our existing safeguards and any future improvements, however, may prove to be less than effective, and our employees
and consultants may engage in conduct for which we might be held responsible. Some foreign jurisdictions may require us to
utilize local agents and/or establish joint ventures with local operators or strategic partners. Even though some of our agents
and partners may not themselves be subject to the FCPA or other non-U.S. anti-bribery laws to which we may be subject, if our
agents or partners make improper payments to non-U.S. government officials in connection with engagements or partnerships
with us, we could be investigated and potentially found liable for violation of such anti-bribery laws and could incur civil and
criminal penalties and other sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.
We do business in an international jurisdiction whose political and regulatory environment and compliance regimes
differ from those in the United States.
Over the past several years, we have focused on expanding our geographic reach, both domestically and internationally.
With respect to our international expansion, most of our efforts have been with respect to the Middle East and we have
continued to invest in the infrastructure needed to support the development of operations in that region.
During 2013 we began to establish a presence in the Middle East. We opened our first international office in Dubai,
where we assembled a team of sales, operational and administrative personnel, and established relationships with partners in
targeted countries. In January 2014 we were awarded our first international contract to provide coiled tubing services on a trial
basis in Saudi Arabia. During the first half of the year, we established coiled tubing equipment, crews and logistics on the
ground in Saudi Arabia to service this contract. We mobilized on location for our customer in late June 2014 and we
successfully completed our first coiled tubing job in July 2014. We completed the scheduled work under this provisional
contract in September 2015, but we have maintained a facility and employees in the country. We are optimistic that our efforts
can lead, over time, to a long-term relationship and additional opportunities with this customer, which we are actively
pursuing. We also hope that we may be able to secure opportunities with other potential customers in the Middle East. Risks
associated with operations in foreign areas, such as the Middle East, include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

expropriation, confiscation or nationalization of assets;
renegotiation or nullification of existing contracts;
foreign exchange limitations;
foreign currency fluctuations;
foreign taxation;
the inability to repatriate earnings or capital in a tax efficient manner;
changing political conditions;
changing foreign and domestic monetary policies;
social, political, military and economic situations in foreign areas where we do business and the possibilities of
war, other armed conflict or terrorist attacks; and
regional economic downturns.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares
Our common share price has been volatile, and we expect it to continue to remain volatile in the future.
The market price of common shares of companies engaged in the oil and gas services industry has been highly volatile.
Likewise, the market price of our common shares has varied significantly in the past (52-week range has been $0.82 to $18.45),
and we expect it to continue to remain volatile given the cyclical nature of our industry.
If we cannot meet the continued listing requirements of the NYSE, the NYSE may delist our common shares, which
would have an adverse impact on the trading volume, liquidity and market price of our common shares.
On February 25, 2016, the closing price of our common shares fell below $1.00 per share. If the average closing price of
our common shares were to fall below $1.00 over a period of 30 consecutive trading days, which is the minimum average share
price required by the NYSE under Section 802.01C of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, we would no longer be in
compliance with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements and would expect to receive a notice of noncompliance from the
NYSE. The notice would have no immediate impact on the listing of our common shares, which would continue to be listed
and traded on the NYSE during the six-month period described below, subject to our compliance with other continued listing
standards.
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We would have six months following receipt of the NYSE’s notice to regain compliance with the NYSE’s minimum
share price requirement. We would be able to regain compliance at any time during the six-month cure period if on the last
trading day of any calendar month during the cure period our common shares has a closing share price of at least $1.00 and an
average closing share price of at least $1.00 over the 30 trading-day period ending on the last trading day of such month.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if we were to determine that we must cure the price condition by taking an action that will
require approval of our shareholders (such as a reverse stock split), we could also regain compliance by: (i) obtaining the
requisite shareholder approval by no later than our next annual meeting, (ii) implementing the action promptly thereafter, and
(iii) the price of our common shares promptly exceeding $1.00 per share, and the price remaining above that level for at least
the following 30 trading days. However, if at any time our common share price drops to the point where the NYSE considers
the price to be "abnormally low," the NYSE has the discretion to begin delisting proceedings immediately. While there is no
formal definition of "abnormally low" in the NYSE rules, the NYSE has recently delisted the common stock of issuers when it
trades below $0.16 per share. In addition, the NYSE will promptly initiate suspension and delisting procedures if the NYSE
determines that we have an average global market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period of less than $15.0
million.
A delisting of our common shares from the NYSE could negatively impact us as it would likely reduce the liquidity and
market price of our common shares; reduce the number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common shares; and
negatively impact our ability to access equity markets and obtain financing.
Future issuances by us of common shares or convertible securities could lower our share price and dilute your
ownership in us.
As of February 22, 2016, we had 120,207,209 common shares outstanding. We are currently authorized to issue up to
750,000,000 common shares and 50,000,000 preferred shares with terms designated by our Board of Directors. In the future,
we may, from time to time, issue additional common shares or securities convertible into common shares in public offerings or
privately negotiated transactions. We cannot predict the size of future issuances of common shares or securities convertible
into common shares or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of common shares will have on the market price of our
common shares. Sales of substantial amounts of common shares (including shares issued in connection with an acquisition or
employee benefit plan), or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices of our
common shares and dilute your ownership interest in us.
As a result of the Merger, the majority of our common shares are held by Nabors.
Holders of our common shares will vote together as a single class on all matters presented to our shareholders for their
vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law or our memorandum of association or bye-laws. As a result of
the Merger, Nabors (through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries) currently owns approximately 52% of our issued and
outstanding common shares. Although Nabors is subject to certain standstill restrictions, during the period commencing on the
closing date of the Merger and ending upon the earlier to occur of the five-year anniversary of the effective date of the Merger
and the date that Nabors beneficially owns less than 15% of our issued and outstanding common shares (the "Standstill
Period"), Nabors has the right to vote its majority shares in its discretion. Further, Nabors has the right to ensure that three
individuals who are either Nabors employees or independent directors selected by Nabors serve on our board of directors
during the Standstill Period, and such individuals may remain on our board of directors following the end of the Standstill
Period. In addition, until the later to occur of the termination of the Standstill Period and the two-year anniversary of the
closing date of the Merger, Nabors has preemptive rights to purchase its pro-rata portion of any common shares or other equity
securities issued by us. Our amended bye-laws provide that, until the fifth anniversary of the closing date of the Merger, certain
major transactions, including any sale of our Company or any amendment to our memorandum of association or amended byelaws, require the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of our issued and outstanding common shares, and in certain
circumstances the approval of a specified number of the members of our board of directors. As a result, Nabors may be able to
prevent the approval of such matters, and therefore may be able to prevent transactions that would be beneficial to us, including
a change in control of our Company or other transaction that would otherwise provide our shareholders an opportunity to
receive a premium for their common shares. The existence of significant shareholders may also have the effect of deterring a
would-be acquirer of our Company from proposing a transaction or delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in
management. In addition, Nabors may be able to influence our management because of its substantial shareholding.
Under the provisions of our bye-laws , until the end of the Standstill Period, the rights of our shareholders (including
Nabors) to change the amended bye-laws relating to the election of directors and the removal of directors are subject to
restrictions.
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Additionally, any sale by Nabors of our common shares or any announcement by Nabors that it has decided to sell our
common shares, or the perception by the investment community that Nabors has sold or decided to sell our common shares,
could have an adverse impact on the price of our common shares.
In any of these matters, the interests of Nabors may differ or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.
Moreover, this concentration of share ownership may also adversely affect the trading price of our common shares to the extent
investors perceive a disadvantage in owning shares of a company with a majority shareholder.
Under the rules of the NYSE, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by another person or
group of persons acting together is a "controlled company" and may elect not to comply with the requirements that a majority
of its board of directors consist of independent directors, that its board of directors' compensation committee be comprised
solely of independent directors, and that director nominees be selected or recommended to the board of directors for selection
by independent directors. Although we qualify as a "controlled company" under the NYSE rules, we are not relying on this
exemption and we intend to fully comply with all corporate governance requirements under the NYSE rules. However, if we
were to utilize some or all of these exemptions, our shareholders may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of
companies that are subject to all of the NYSE rules regarding corporate governance.
If Nabors sells a controlling interest in C&J to a third party in a private transaction, our shareholders may not realize
any change-of-control premium on our common shares and we may become subject to the control of a presently unknown
third party.
As a result of the Merger, Nabors (through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries) currently owns approximately 52% of
our issued and outstanding common shares. Nabors has agreed that, during the Standstill Period, it will transfer our common
shares only to any person or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) who has not filed a
Schedule 13D with regard to C&J and is not required to file a Schedule 13D after giving effect to such transfer. However,
following the end of the Standstill Period, or upon waiver of the standstill restrictions, should it continue to own a significant
equity interest in C&J and choose to do so, Nabors may sell some or all of the C&J common shares that it owns in a privately
negotiated transaction, which, if sufficient in size, could result in a change of control of C&J. The ability of Nabors to privately
sell our common shares after the end of the Standstill Period, with no requirement for a concurrent offer to be made to acquire
all of our other common shares, could prevent our shareholders from realizing any change-of-control premium on our common
shares that may otherwise accrue to Nabors upon its private sale of our common shares. Additionally, if Nabors privately sells
its significant equity interest in C&J, we may become subject to the control of a presently unknown third party. Such third party
may have conflicts of interest with other our shareholders.
Provisions in our organizational documents, as well as Bermuda law, could delay or prevent a change in control of
our company, which could adversely affect the price of our common shares.
The existence of certain provisions in our memorandum of association and bye-laws, as well as under Bermuda law,
could delay or prevent a change in control of our company that a shareholder may consider favorable, which could adversely
affect the price of our common shares. The provisions in our organizational documents that could delay or prevent an
unsolicited change in control of our company include board authority to issue preferred shares without shareholder approval. If
our board of directors elects to issue preferred shares, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire the Company. In
addition, some provisions of our bye-laws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of our Company,
even if the change of control would be beneficial to our shareholders, including provisions which:
•
•
•
•

limit the removal and replacement of directors, including provisions relating to the classified board of directors;
limit the ability of shareholders to increase the number of directors;
establish preemptive rights; and
establish advance notice and certain information requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors.

We may issue preferred shares on terms that could adversely affect the voting power or value of our common shares.
Our bye-laws authorize our Board of Directors to issue, without the approval of its shareholders, one or more classes or
series of preferred shares having such designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights, including preferences over its
common shares respecting dividends and distributions, as the Board may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series
of preferred shares could adversely affect the voting power or value of our common shares. For example, we might grant
holders of preferred shares the right to elect some number of its directors in all events or on the happening of specified events
or the right to veto specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we might
assign to holders of preferred shares could affect the residual value of the common shares.
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Future offerings of debt securities and preferred shares, which would rank senior to our common shares upon
liquidation, may adversely affect the market value of our common shares.
In the future, we may, from time to time, attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt or
additional offerings of equity securities, including commercial paper, medium-term notes, senior or subordinated notes and
classes of preferred shares. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and preferred shares and lenders with respect to
other borrowings will receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our common shares. Our preferred
shares, which may be issued without shareholder approval, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a
preference on dividend payments that would limit amounts available for distribution to holders of our common shares. Because
our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we
cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, holders of our common shares bear the
risk that our future offerings may reduce the market value of our common shares.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our principal executive headquarters are located at Crown House, 2nd Floor, 4 Par-la-Ville Road, Hamilton, Bermuda, and our
U.S. corporate headquarters are located at 3990 Rogerdale Rd., Houston, Texas 77042. We own or lease facilities and
administrative offices throughout the geographic regions in which we operate. As of February 22, 2016, we own or lease the
following principal properties:

Location

Type of Facility

3990 Rogerdale Road, Houston, TX

Headquarters

Crown House, 2nd Floor, 4 Par-laVille Road, Hamilton, Bermuda

Headquarters

Size
125,000 sq. ft.
building

Lease
or
Own

Expiration of
Lease

Lease February 21, 2025

2,740 sq. ft. building Lease

March 31, 2017

Administrative offices,
warehouse,
15 acres, 61,000 sq. Own
4460 Hwy 77 Robstown, TX
—
maintenance shop,
ft. building
equipment yard
Administrative offices,
Plot No. S40320 & S40321, Dubai,
warehouse,
14 acres, 104,755 sq Lease
June 30, 2028
UAE
maintenance shop,
. ft. building
equipment yard
84,023 sq. ft.
10771 Westpark Drive, Houston, TX Administrative offices,
Lease October 31, 2025
R&T Lab & Tech Center
building

In addition to the principal properties listed above, we own or lease numerous other smaller facilities across our
operating areas, including local sales offices and temporary facilities to house employees in regions where infrastructure is
limited. Our leased properties are subject to various lease terms and expirations.
We believe that all of our existing properties are suitable for their intended uses and sufficient to support our operations.
We do not believe that any single property is material to our operations and, if necessary, we could readily obtain a replacement
facility. We continuously evaluate the needs of our business, and we will purchase or lease additional properties or consolidate
our properties, as our business requires.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims incidental to or arising in the ordinary course of our business.
Our management does not expect the outcome in any of these known legal proceedings, individually or collectively, to have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of
In July 2014, following the announcement that Legacy C&J, Nabors, and New C&J had entered into the Merger
Agreement, a putative class action lawsuit was filed by a purported shareholder of Legacy C&J challenging the Merger. The
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lawsuit is styled City of Miami General Employees’ and Sanitation Employees’ Retirement Trust, et al. (“Plaintiff”) v.
Comstock, et al.; C.A. No. 9980-CB, in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, filed on July 30, 2014 (the “Merger
Lawsuit”). Plaintiff in the Merger Lawsuit generally alleges that the board of directors for Legacy C&J breached fiduciary
duties of loyalty, due care, good faith, candor and independence by allegedly approving the Merger Agreement at an unfair
price and through an unfair process. Plaintiff alleges that the Legacy C&J board directors, or certain of them (i) failed to fully
inform themselves of the market value of Legacy C&J, maximize its value and obtain the best price reasonably available for
Legacy C&J, (ii) acted in bad faith and for improper motives, (iii) erected barriers to discourage other strategic alternatives and
(iv) put their personal interests ahead of the interests of Legacy C&J shareholders. The Merger Lawsuit further alleges that
Legacy C&J, Nabors and New C&J aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duties by the Legacy C&J board of
On November 10, 2014, Plaintiff filed a motion for a preliminary injunction. On November 24, 2014, the Court of
Chancery entered a bench ruling, followed by a written order on November 25, 2014, that (i) ordered certain members of the
Legacy C&J board of directors to solicit for a period of 30 days alternative proposals to purchase Legacy C&J (or a controlling
stake in Legacy C&J) that was superior to the Merger, and (ii) preliminarily enjoined Legacy C&J from holding its shareholder
meeting until it had complied with the foregoing. The order provided that the solicitation of proposals consistent with the order,
and any subsequent negotiations of any alternative proposal that emerges, would not constitute a breach of the Merger
Agreement in any
Legacy C&J complied with the Court of Chancery’s order while it simultaneously pursued an expedited appeal of the
Court of Chancery’s order to the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware. On November 26, 2014, in response to, and in
compliance with, the Court of Chancery’s order, the Legacy C&J board of directors established a special committee, which
retained separate legal and financial advisors, to proceed with the ordered
On December 19, 2014, following oral argument, the Delaware Supreme Court overturned the decision of the Court of
Chancery and vacated the order. As such, Legacy C&J’s special committee immediately discontinued the solicitation required
by the order. On March 25, 2015, the C&J Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint and filed their opening brief in support
on September 15, 2015. On October 29, 2015, Plaintiff filed an amended complaint naming additional defendants and generally
alleging, in addition to the allegations described above, that (i) the special committee of the Legacy C&J board of directors and
its advisors improperly conducted the court-ordered solicitation that the Delaware Supreme Court vacated, and (ii) the proxy
statement filed in connection with the Merger contains alleged misrepresentations and omits allegedly material information
concerning the Merger and court-ordered solicitation process. The Lawsuit asserts, in addition to the claims described above,
claims for breach of fiduciary duty and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against the special committee of the
Legacy C&J board of directors, its financial advisor Morgan Stanley, and certain employees of Legacy C&J. The defendants in
the Lawsuit have filed motions to dismiss the amended complaint. A hearing on these motions to dismiss is currently set for
April 26, 2016.
We cannot predict the outcome of this or any other lawsuit that might be filed, nor can we predict the amount of time and
expense that will be required to resolve the Merger Lawsuit. We believe the Merger Lawsuit is without merit and we intend to
defend against it vigorously.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities
Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters
Our common shares are traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CJES.” As of February 22, 2016, we had
120,207,209 common shares issued and outstanding, held by approximately 15 registered holders. The number of registered
holders does not include holders that have common shares held for them in “street name”, meaning that the shares are held for
their accounts by a broker or other nominee. In these instances, the brokers or other nominees are included in the number of
registered holders, but the underlying holders of the common shares that hold such shares in “street name” are not.
The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our common shares as reported by the NYSE for the
periods indicated:
High

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Quarter ended March 31, 2014
Quarter ended June 30, 2014
Quarter ended September 30, 2014
Quarter ended December 31, 2014
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Quarter ended March 31, 2015
Quarter ended June 30, 2015
Quarter ended September 30, 2015
Quarter ended December 31, 2015
Period from January 1, 2016 to February 24, 2016

Low

$
$
$
$

29.73
34.93
34.18
30.81

$
$
$
$

20.26
27.41
26.90
11.38

$
$
$
$
$

14.08
18.45
13.36
6.23
4.97

$
$
$
$
$

9.11
11.05
2.97
3.26
0.82

On February 24, 2016, the last reported sales price of our common shares on the NYSE was $1.09 per share.
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common shares. We currently intend to retain all future earnings
for the development and growth of our business, and we do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends to holders of
our common shares in the foreseeable future. Payments of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board and will
depend on our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our Board.
Additionally, covenants contained in our Credit Facility restrict the payment of cash dividends on our common shares. Please
read Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources—Description of our Credit Agreement” in this Annual Report.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Affiliated Purchasers
Repurchases of Equity Securities
The following table summarizes stock repurchase activity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 (in thousands,
except average price paid per share). All of the repurchases below are common shares that were withheld by us to satisfy tax
withholding obligations of employees that arose upon the vesting of restricted shares. The value of such shares is based on the
NYSE closing price of our common shares on the vesting date.
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Average
Price
Paid Per
Share

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased (a)

January 1—January 31
February 1—February 28
March 1—March 31
April 1—April 30
May 1—May 31
June 1—June 30
July 1—July 31
August 1—August 31
September 1—September 30
October 1—October 31
November 1—November 30
December 1—December 31

—
139,366
358
9,825
57
65,409
3,180
492
—
1,394
1,402
912

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased as
Part of
Publicly
Announced
Program

Maximum Number
of
Shares that may yet
be
Purchased Under
Such Program

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
11.46
12.50
14.80
17.40
14.35
12.22
7.72
—
3.90
4.58
5.91

$

(a) Represents shares that were withheld by us to satisfy tax withholding obligations of employees that arose upon the
vesting of restricted shares. The value of such shares is based on the NYSE closing price of our common shares on the
vesting date.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
This section presents our selected consolidated financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated. The selected
historical consolidated financial data presented below is not intended to replace our historical consolidated financial statements.
The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with both Part II, Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report in order to understand those factors, such as the Merger, which may affect the
comparability of the Selected Financial Data:
2015

2014

Years Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

(In thousands except per share amounts)

Revenue
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per common share
Basic
Diluted
Total assets
Long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, excluding current portion

$

1,748,889 $
(872,542)

1,607,944
68,823

(8.48)
(8.48)
2,232,906

1.28
1.22
1,612,746

1.25
1.20
1,132,300

3.51
3.37
1,012,757

3.28
3.19
537,849

349,875

164,205

173,705

—

1,142,077
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$

1,070,322
66,405

$

1,111,501
182,350

$

758,454
161,979

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist you in
understanding our business and results of operations together with our present financial condition. This section should be read
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our
actual results may differ materially from those discussed in any forward-looking statement because of various factors,
including, without limitation, those described in the sections titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”
and Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report.
Introductory Note about the Merger Transaction
Effective as of March 24, 2015 (the "Effective Time"), we completed the combination of C&J Energy Services, Inc.
(“Legacy C&J”) with the completion and production services business (the “C&P Business”) of Nabors Industries Ltd.
(“Nabors”) pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of June 25,
2014, by and among Legacy C&J, Nabors, Nabors Red Lion Limited (subsequently renamed C&J Energy Services Ltd., “New
C&J”), Nabors CJ Merger Co. and CJ Holding Co. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Nabors separated the C&P
Business from the rest of its operations and consolidated this business under New C&J. A Delaware subsidiary of New C&J
then merged with and into Legacy C&J, with Legacy C&J continuing as the surviving corporation and a direct wholly owned
subsidiary of New C&J (such transactions referred to herein collectively as the “Merger”). As of the Effective Time, common
shares of Legacy C&J were converted into common shares of New C&J on a 1-for-1 basis, New C&J was renamed “C&J
Energy Services Ltd.” and its common shares began trading on the NYSE under the symbol "CJES", which was previously
used by Legacy C&J following completion of our initial public offering in 2011. After giving effect to the Merger, Nabors
owned approximately 53% of our outstanding common shares, with Legacy C&J shareholders owning the remaining 47% of
our outstanding common shares. As of February 23, 2016, Nabors owns approximately 52% of our outstanding shares. We are
currently led primarily by the individuals who served as Legacy C&J’s executive officers prior to the completion of the Merger.
Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act, New C&J is the successor issuer to Legacy C&J following the
closing of the Merger and is deemed to succeed to Legacy C&J’s reporting history under the Exchange Act. Because Legacy
C&J was considered the accounting acquirer in the Transactions under U.S generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), Legacy C&J is also considered the accounting predecessor of C&J Energy Services Ltd. Accordingly, the historical
financial statements of C&J Energy Services Ltd. that cover periods prior to the completion of the Merger, reflect the assets,
liabilities and operations of C&J Energy Services, Inc., the predecessor to C&J Energy Services Ltd., and do not reflect the
assets, liabilities and operations of the C&P Business. Accordingly, comparisons between our consolidated results following
the completion of the Merger and results from prior periods may not be meaningful.
References to “C&J,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” in this Annual Report are to New C&J, together with
our consolidated subsidiaries when referring to periods following the completion of the Merger , and are to Legacy C&J ,
together with our consolidated subsidiaries when referring to periods prior to the completion of the Merger.
Overview
We are one of the largest, integrated providers of completion and production services in North America. We
provide a full range of well construction, well completions, well support and other complementary oilfield services to oil and
gas exploration and production companies primarily in North America. Our services, which are involved in the entire life cycle
of the well, include directional drilling, cementing, hydraulic fracturing, cased-hole wireline, coiled tubing, rig services, fluids
management services and other special well site services. We operate in all of the major oil and gas producing regions of the
continental United States and Western Canada. For the last few years we have been working to establish an operational
presence in key countries in the Middle East, and we currently have an office and operational facility in Dubai and an
operational facility in Saudi Arabia.
Our operating and financial performance is heavily influenced by drilling, completion and production activity by
our customers in the upstream industry, and thus is significantly impacted by oil and natural gas prices. However, our
performance also reflects the impact of our growth strategy, including our investments in strategic initiatives designed to
strengthen, expand and diversify our company through service line diversification, vertical integration and technological
advancement. Please see "Growth Strategy and Strategic Initiatives" for additional discussion of our long term growth strategy
and strategic initiatives.
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Growth Strategy and Strategic Initiatives
Over the last few years, we have significantly invested in the execution of our long term growth strategy, which is
focused on strengthening, expanding and diversifying our business through (1) the growth of our assets, customer base and
geographic reach, both domestically and internationally, for our core service lines and (2) strategic initiatives advancing service
line diversification; vertical integration and technological advancement.
Growth of Core Service Lines
During 2015, we continued to focus on growing our core business through the expansion of our assets, customer base
and geographic reach, both domestically and internationally, and most notably through the Merger. The combination of Legacy
C&J with the C&P Business greatly expanded our scale, service offerings and geographic reach, increasing capacity for our
existing services offerings and providing diversification through the additional services offerings of the C&P Business with a
stronger presence in all major domestic basins. With the Merger closing during the early part of the market downturn, we have
not yet been able to fully capitalize on many of the opportunities that we believe are available both domestically and
internationally through our greater scale, enhanced offerings and significant operating efficiencies.
Service Line Diversification, Vertical Integration & Technological Advancement
During 2015, we further advanced our ongoing strategic initiatives designed to strengthen, expand and diversify our
business through service line diversification, vertical integration and technological advancement. In implementing our long
term growth strategy, in addition to the diversification of our services through the Merger, in May 2015, we acquired an
integrated business that designs, manufactures and installs electrical submersible pump systems and accessories primarily for
artificial lift applications. In addition to offering a wide variety of products that support artificial lift installations, we are also
developing a line of electrical submersible pump systems that are optimized for the small casing sizes typical of long horizontal
wells. We believe that this business has significant growth potential when the market eventually recovers, both in the U.S. and
abroad and also has the potential to provide a competitive advantage for our Well Support Services segment.
Additionally, we acquired an equipment manufacturing business in 2011 and a data acquisition and control systems
business in 2013. We utilize the equipment and products manufactured by these vertically integrated businesses in our day-today operations, and we also sell them to third-party customers in the global energy services industry. During 2013, we also
began organically developing a specialty chemicals supply business for completion and production services. We source many
of the chemicals and fluids used in our hydraulic fracturing operations through this business, which provides cost savings to us
and also gives us direct control over the design, development and supply of these products. Additionally, we have taken a multifaceted, integrated approach to developing our directional drilling capabilities. In April 2013, we acquired a provider of
directional drilling technology and related downhole tools. Building on that technology, during the first half of 2014 we began
manufacturing premium drilling motors in-house and during the second quarter of 2014 we introduced our directional drilling
services line to customers as a new service offering.
Over the last several years we have also significantly invested in our research and technology capabilities, including the
development of a state-of-the-art research and technology center with a team of engineers and support staff. We believe that one
of the strategic benefits of this division is the ability to develop and implement new technologies and respond to changes in
customers’ requirements and industry demand. Our efforts to date have been focused on developing innovative, fit-for-purpose
solutions designed to enhance our core service offerings, increase completion efficiencies, provide cost savings to our
operations and add value for our customers. Several of our research and technology initiatives are now generating monthly cost
savings for our expanded, integrated completion services operations, which is central to our overall strategy of proactively
managing our costs to maximize returns. Additionally, several of these investments are already delivering value added products
and services that, in addition to producing revenue, are creating increasing demand from key customers.
As a result of these efforts, in 2015, we introduced several new products and progressed on differentiating technologies
that we believe will provide a competitive advantage as our customers focus on extracting oil and gas in the most economical
and efficient ways possible.

Our Operating Segments
We currently operate in three reportable business segments:
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•

Completion Services, which includes the hydraulic fracturing services, cased-hole wireline services, and coiled tubing
services and other well stimulation services lines of both Legacy C&J and the C&P Business.

•

Well Support Services, which includes services lines acquired with the C&P Business, specifically including rig
services, fluid management services and other special well site services.

•

Other Services, which include Legacy C&J’s smaller service lines and divisions, including directional drilling
services, equipment manufacturing and repair, specialty chemicals sales, research and technology, and Middle East
operations, as well as the C&P Business’ cementing services line. We also manage several of our vertically integrated
business through our research and technology division, including our data acquisition and control instruments provider
and artificial lift applications provider. Costs associated with general corporate activities and intersegment
eliminations are also included in this Other Services segment.

Due to the transformative nature of the Merger, upon closing of the Merger, our chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) changed the way in which the Company is managed, including a revised operating segment approach in making
performance evaluation and resource allocation decisions. Discrete financial information was created to provide the information
necessary for our CODM to manage our combined company under the revised operating segment structure. As a result of this
change in operating segments, we revised our reportable segments during the first quarter of 2015. The current reportable
business segment structure reflects the financial information and reports used by management, including our CODM, to make
decisions regarding our business, including with respect to evaluating performance and allocating resource. We have recast the
segment information included in this Annual Report to reflect the new reportable segment structure in order to conform to the
current year presentation.
Our reportable business segments are described in more detail below; for financial information about our segments,
including revenue from external customers and total assets by segment, see “Note 11 - Segment Information” in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
Completion Services
Our Completion Services segment currently consists of the following service lines: (1) hydraulic fracturing; (2) casedhole wireline, which includes wireline logging, perforating, pressure pumping ,well site make-up and pressure testing and other
complementary services; and (3) coiled tubing and other well stimulation services, including nitrogen and pressure pumping
services. The majority of revenue for this segment is generated by our hydraulic fracturing services line.
Our Completion Services segment consists of over 1.2 million hydraulic horsepower, over 130 wireline units and over
40 coiled tubing units, having significantly increased our asset base as a result of the Merger. However, not all of these assets
are utilized fully or at all at any time, due to, among other things, scheduled maintenance and downtime. Additionally, in
response to the continued deterioration in market conditions over the course of the year, we implemented aggressive cost
control measures and aligned our assets with industry demand, which included stacking or idling unproductive equipment
across our asset base within each service line.
Management evaluates our Completion Services segment operations’ performance and allocates resources primarily
based on Adjusted EBITDA because it provides important information to us about the activity and profitability of our lines of
business within this segment. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure computed as total earnings (loss) before net
interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, other income (expense), net, net gain or loss on disposal of
assets, transaction costs, and non-routine items.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue from our Completion Services segment was $1.2 billion, representing
approximately 70% of our total revenue, compared with revenue of $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014, which
represents a 23% year-over-year decrease. Adjusted EBITDA from this segment for the year ended December 31, 2015 was
$73.9 million, compared with $344.7 million of Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2014, which represents a
79% year-over-year decrease. Even with our significantly expanded asset base and diversified market presence as a result of
the Merger, our financial results declined as a result of the extremely challenging market conditions that characterized the year.
Specifically, revenue and Adjusted EBITDA were negatively impacted by significantly lower overall utilization and pricing
levels experienced to varying degrees across our service lines and markets during the 2015 year, resulting from decreased
demand by our customers in an extremely competitive environment caused by the continued decline in U.S. onshore drilling
and completion activity as a result of depressed commodity prices.
With respect to the fourth quarter of 2015, revenue from our Completion Services segment was $256.6 million,
representing approximately 63% of our total revenue, compared with revenue of $256.9 million for the third quarter of 2015.
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Fourth quarter Adjusted EBITDA from this segment was $10.0 million, compared to Adjusted EBITDA of ($8.6 million) for the
third quarter of 2015, which represents a 217% sequential increase. Utilization levels for our Completion Services improved
entering the fourth quarter, although we continued to experience significant pricing pressure throughout the quarter and activity
declined with the typical year-end seasonal slowdown. Hydraulic fracturing activity was strong in October, but as we moved
through the quarter and activity slowed, we strategically stacked additional equipment and focused on capturing higher overall
utilization levels across our active equipment base. Our strategy, which included concentrating on key customers in core
basins, aggressively managing our operational cost structure and stacking our lower utilized equipment, produced improved
profitability despite the challenging headwinds we faced in the back half of the quarter. In our coiled tubing service line,
utilization increased at the beginning of the quarter, but activity began to decline as the effects of the seasonal slowdown
impacted our operations and customers delayed previously scheduled work. In our wireline service line, both pricing and
utilization remained depressed and continued to weaken with the falling rig count, seasonal slowdown and inclement weather
experienced during the course of the quarter.
As we entered the first quarter of 2016, our Completion Services segment experienced a significant decline in activity
that has remained depressed. We are keeping a sharp focus on managing our operations and controlling costs, including closing
additional facilities, further reducing headcount, stacking idle equipment and lowering our cost structure to ensure our
operations remain aligned with market conditions. The implementation of this strategy over the course of the fourth quarter
enabled us to protect market share and deliver an approximate $18.6 million sequential improvement in Adjusted EBITDA for
this segment. We will continue to focus on servicing the needs of our core customer base, and make the appropriate decisions
as needed, to more effectively align our operations with current market conditions.
Well Support Services
Our Well Support Services segment, which was acquired in the Merger as part of the C&P Business, currently consists of
the following service lines: (1) rig services, including providing workover and well servicing rigs that are involved in routine
repair and maintenance, completions, re-drilling and plug and abandonment operations; (2) fluid management services,
including manufacturing, transportation, storage and disposal services for fluids used in the drilling, completion and workover
of oil and gas well; and (3) other special well site services. Our rig services line is the greatest driver of revenue for this
segment.
Our Well Support Services segment consists of 519 workover rigs utilized by the rig services line and a fleet of 1,425
fluid services trucks, 5,258 frac tanks and 30 salt water disposal wells utilized by our fluid management services line. However,
not all of these assets are utilized fully or at all at any time, due to, among other things, scheduled maintenance and downtime.
Additionally, in response to the continued deterioration in market conditions over the course of the year, we implemented
aggressive cost control measures and aligned our assets with industry demand, which included stacking or idling unproductive
equipment across our asset base within each service line.
Management evaluates our Well Support Services segment operations’ performance and allocates resources primarily
based on activity levels, specifically rig and trucking hours, as well as Adjusted EBITDA. The following table presents rig and
trucking hours for our Well Support Services for the period from the Merger date, March 24, 2015 through December 31, 2015
(dollars in millions):
Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Revenue
Adjusted EBITDA
Total rigs
Total rig hours
Total trucks
Total truck hours

$
$

455.8
72.3
519
465,926
1,425
1,653,417

For the year ended December 31, 2015, revenue from our Well Support Services segment was $455.8 million,
representing approximately 26% of our total revenue. Adjusted EBITDA from this segment for the year ended December 31,
2015 was $72.3 million. The entire Well Services segment was acquired in connection with the Merger; as such, we had no
revenues or Adjusted EBITDA from this segment for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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With respect to the fourth quarter of 2015, revenue from our Well Support Services segment was $135.7 million,
representing approximately 33% of our total revenue, compared to revenue of $150.9 million for the third quarter of 2015,
which represents a 10% decrease quarter over quarter.
Fourth quarter Adjusted EBITDA from this segment was $22.3 million, compared to Adjusted EBITDA of
$23.6 million for the third quarter of 2015, which represents a 6% sequential decrease.
Revenue from our Well Support Services segment was negatively impacted by the typical year-end slowdown and
continued pricing pressure. Despite increased demand for our services in October, the seasonal slowdown around the holidays
resulted in rigs being released in several core operating basins. We also encountered some weakness in areas that typically
maintain strong fourth quarter activity, such as Canada, due to low commodity prices. During the quarter, we supported
utilization and protected market share through pricing concessions, while repositioning equipment and resources in line with
market conditions and customer demand. Despite declining revenue, our continued focus on restructuring this segment,
enhancing efficiencies and aggressively reducing costs, allowed us to generate a sequential Adjusted EBITDA margin increase
of approximately 80 basis points.
As with our Completion Services segment, activity and pricing levels for our Well Support Services segment declined
and have remained depressed entering the first quarter of 2016. Our customers continue to focus on lowering their costs due to
the continued weakness in commodity prices, and we will continue to work with them to the best of our ability to sustain
utilization, protect market share and capitalize on strategic opportunities.
Other Services
The Other Services segment is comprised of Legacy C&J’s smaller service lines and divisions, currently including
directional drilling services, equipment manufacturing and repair, data acquisition and control instruments, artificial lift
applications, specialty chemical sales, Middle East operations, and research and technology, as well as the C&P Business'
cementing operations. Also included in the Other Services are intersegment eliminations and costs associated with activities of
a general corporate nature.
Our Other Services segment contributed $76.1 million of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing
approximately 4% of our total revenue, compared with $26.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, which represents a
190% year-over-year increase. Adjusted EBITDA from this segment for the year ended December 31, 2015 was ($99.4 million)
compared with ($91.8 million) for the year ended December 31, 2014, which represents an 8% year-over-year decrease. Like
our core services lines, the businesses comprising our Other Services Segment were negatively impacted by the widespread
reduction in drilling, completion and production activity over the course of the year.
With respect to the fourth quarter of 2015, revenue from our Other Services segment was $16.7 million, representing
approximately 4% of our total revenue, compared to revenue of $19.7 million for the third quarter of 2015, which represents a
16% decrease quarter over quarter. Fourth quarter Adjusted EBITDA from this segment was ($24.6 million), compared to
Adjusted EBITDA of ($26.4 million) for the third quarter of 2015, which represents a 7% sequential increase. Like our core
services lines, the businesses comprising our Other Services segment were negatively impacted by the falling rig count and the
typical year-end slowdown. In spite of declining activity levels, we were able to sequentially grow revenue within two of our
most promising R&T initiatives: directional drilling and artificial lift applications. Additionally, in spite of a more than 15%
reduction in revenue from this segment during the fourth quarter, Adjusted EBITDA increased approximately 7% as a result of
our continued efforts to cut overhead costs and align our active R&T initiatives with current market conditions.

Operating Overview & Strategy
Our results of operations are driven primarily by deviations in four interrelated, fluctuating variables: (1) the drilling,
completion and production activities of our customers, which directly affects the demand for our services; (2) the price we are
able to charge for our services, which is driven by the level of demand for our services and equipment capacity in the market;
(3) the cost of products and labor involved in providing our services, and our ability to pass those costs on to our customers;
and (4) our activity, or “utilization” levels, and service performance.
Our operating strategy is focused on maintaining high asset utilization levels to maximize revenue generation while
controlling cost to gain a competitive advantage and drive returns. We believe that the quality and efficiency of our service
execution and aligning with customers who recognize the value that C&J provides through efficiency gains are central to our
efforts to support utilization and grow our business. However, asset utilization is not necessarily indicative of our financial
and/or operational performance and should not be given undue reliance. Given the volatile and cyclical nature of activity
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drivers in the U.S. onshore oilfield services industry, coupled with the varying prices we are able to charge for our services and
the cost of providing those services, among other factors, operating margins can fluctuate widely depending on supply and
demand at a given point in the cycle.
The Baker Hughes U.S. rig count data, which is publicly available on a weekly basis, is widely accepted and used as
an indicator of overall exploration and production (“E&P”) company capital spending and resulting oilfield activity levels.
Historically, our utilization levels have been highly correlated to U.S. onshore spending by our E&P company customers as a
group. Generally, as capital spending by E&P companies increases, drilling, completion and production activity also increases,
resulting in increased demand for our services, and therefore more days or hours worked (as the case may be). Conversely,
when drilling, completion and production activity levels decline due to lower spending by E&P companies, we generally
provide fewer services, which results in fewer days or hours worked (as the case may be). Additionally, during periods of
decreased spending by E&P companies, we may be required to discount our rates or provide other pricing concessions to
remain competitive and support utilization, which negatively impacts our revenue and operating margins. During periods of
pricing weakness for our services, we may not be able to reduce our costs accordingly, and our ability to achieve any cost
reductions from our suppliers typically lag the decline in pricing for our services, which could further adversely affect our
results. For additional information about factors impacting our business and results of operations, please see “Industry Trends
and Outlook” in this Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”
Management evaluates the performance of our operating segments primarily based on Adjusted EBITDA because it
provides important information to us about the activity and profitability of our lines of business within each segment and aids
us in analytical comparisons for purposes of, among other things, efficiently allocating our assets and resources. Our
management team also monitors asset utilization, among other factors, for purposes of assessing our overall activity levels and
customer demand. For our Completion Services operations, we measure our asset utilization levels primarily by the total
number of days that our asset base works on a monthly basis, based on the available working days per month, which excludes
scheduled maintenance days. We generally consider an asset to be working such days that it is at or in transit to a job location,
regardless of the number of hours worked or whether it generated any revenue during such time. In our Well Support Services
operations, we measure activity levels for primarily by the number of hours our assets work on a monthly basis, based on the
available working days per month. However, given the variance in revenue and profitability from job to job within each of our
core service lines, depending on the type of services to be performed and the equipment, personnel and consumables required
for the job, as well as competitive factors and market conditions in the region in which the services are performed, asset
utilization cannot be relied on as indicative of our financial or operating performance.

Industry Trends and Outlook
We face many challenges and risks in the industry in which we operate. Although many factors contributing to these
risks are beyond our ability to control, we continuously monitor these risks and have taken steps to mitigate them to the extent
practicable. In addition, while we believe that we are well positioned to capitalize on available growth opportunities, we may
not be able to achieve our business objectives and, consequently, our results of operations may be adversely affected. Please
read the factors described in the sections titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report for additional information about the known material risks that we face.
General Industry Trends
The oil and gas industry has traditionally been volatile and is influenced by a combination of long-term, short-term
and cyclical trends, including the domestic and international supply and demand for oil and gas, current and expected future
prices for oil and gas and the perceived stability and sustainability of those prices, production depletion rates and the resultant
levels of cash flows generated and allocated by exploration and production companies to their drilling, completion and
workover budget. The oil and gas industry is also impacted by general domestic and international economic conditions,
political instability in oil producing countries, government regulations (both in the United States and elsewhere), levels of
consumer demand, the availability of pipeline capacity, weather conditions, and other factors that are beyond our control.
Declines and sustained weakness in commodity prices over the course of 2015 and into 2016, and the consequent negative
impact on the level of exploration, development and production activity and capital expenditures by our customers, have
adversely affected the demand for our services and, absent a significant rebound in commodity prices and corresponding
increase in exploration, development and production activity by our customers, are expected to adversely affect demand for our
services in the future. This, in turn, negatively impacts our ability to maintain utilization of assets and negotiate pricing at levels
generating sufficient margins, especially in our hydraulic fracturing business.
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Demand for our services tends to be extremely volatile and cyclical, as it is a direct function of our customers’
willingness to make operating and capital expenditures to explore for, develop and produce hydrocarbons in the United States
and, to a lesser extent, in Western Canada. Our customers’ willingness to undertake such activities and expenditures depends
largely upon prevailing industry conditions that are influenced by numerous factors which are beyond our control, including,
among other things, current and expected future levels of oil and gas prices and the perceived stability and sustainability of
those prices, which, in turn, is driven primarily by the supply of, and demand for, oil and gas. Oil and gas prices, and therefore
the level of drilling, completion and workover activity by our customers, historically have been extremely volatile and are
expected to continue to be highly volatile. For example, during 2015 and to date, oil prices reached and remained at their
lowest levels since 2009, declining to as low as $26 per barrel, but with highs at $61 per barrel. Gas prices declined in 2009 and
have remained depressed relative to historical levels.
Declines or sustained weakness in oil and gas prices influences our customers to curtail their operations, reduce
their capital expenditures, and request pricing concessions to reduce their operating costs. We have experienced a significant
increase in each of these customer responses to the current commodity price environment since January 1, 2016. The demand
for drilling, completion and workover services is driven by available investment capital for such activities and in a lower oil
and gas price environment, demand for service and maintenance generally decreases as oil and gas producers decrease their
activity and expenditures. Because the type of services that we offer can be easily “started” and “stopped,” and oil and gas
producers generally tend to be less risk tolerant when commodity prices are low or volatile, we typically experience a more
rapid decline in demand for our services compared with demand for other types of energy services. A prolonged low level of
customer activity will adversely affect the demand for our services and our financial condition and results of operations.
Competition and Demand for Our Services
We operate in highly competitive areas of the energy services industry with significant potential for excess
capacity. Completion and well servicing equipment can be moved with relative ease from one region to another in response to
changes in levels of activity and market conditions, which may result in an oversupply of equipment in an area. Additionally,
the demand for our services depends primarily on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for drilling, completion and
production activities, which are affected by short-term and long-term trends in oil and natural gas prices and numerous other
factors over which we have no control. Utilization and pricing for our services have in the past been negatively affected by
increases in supply relative to demand in our core operating areas and geographic markets.
Our revenues and earnings are directly affected by changes in utilization and pricing levels for our services, which
fluctuate in response to changes in the level of drilling, completion and workover activity by our customers. Pressure on pricing
for our core services, including due to competition and industry and/or economic conditions, may impact, among other things,
our ability to maintain utilization and pricing for our services or implement price increases. During periods of declining pricing
for our services, we may not be able to reduce our costs accordingly, which could further adversely affect our results.
Furthermore, even when we are able to increase our prices, we may not be able to do so at a rate that is sufficient to offset any
rising costs. Also, we may not be able to successfully increase prices without adversely affecting our utilization levels. The
inability to maintain our utilization and pricing levels, or to increase our prices as costs increase, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
Our competitors include many large and small energy service companies, including some of the largest integrated
energy services companies that possess substantially greater financial and other resources than we do. Our larger competitors’
greater resources could allow those competitors to compete more effectively than we can, including by reducing prices for
services. Our major competitors for our Completion Services include Halliburton, Schlumberger, Baker Hughes, CalFrac Well
Services, Trican, Weatherford International, RPC, Inc., Pumpco, a subsidiary of Superior Energy Services, Frac Tech, Basic
Energy Services and Archer, as well as a significant number of regional businesses. Our major competitors for our Well Support
Services include Halliburton, Schlumberger, Baker Hughes, Key Energy Services, Basic Energy Services, Superior Energy
Services, Precision, Forbes, Pioneer, as well as a significant number of regional businesses.
Generally, we believe that the principal competitive factors in the markets that we serve are price, technical
expertise, equipment capacity, work force capability, safety record, reputation and experience. Although we believe our
customers consider all of these factors, price is often the primary factor in determining which service provider is awarded work,
particularly during times of weak commodity prices like we experienced during 2015 and continue to experience to date.
Additionally, projects for certain of our core service lines are often awarded on a bid basis, which tends to further increase
competition based primarily on price. While we must be competitive in our pricing, we believe many of our customers elect to
work with us based on the safety, performance and quality of our crews, equipment and services. We seek to differentiate
ourselves from our major competitors by our operating philosophy, which is focused on delivering the highest quality customer
service and equipment, coupled with superior execution and operating efficiency. As part of this strategy, we target high
38

volume, high efficiency customers with service intensive, 24-hour work, which is where we believe we can differentiate our
services from our competitors.
Current Market Conditions and Outlook
As we entered 2015, we experienced a slowdown in activity across our customer base as operators reacted to the
rapid decline in commodity prices that began during the fourth quarter of 2014. The entire year proved to be extremely
challenging for the North American oilfield services industry due to the sustained weakness and volatility in oil prices at levels
that resulted in severe reductions in drilling, completion and production activities. This resulted in a significant decrease in
demand for our services, with reductions in customer budgets driving severe utilization declines, and increased competition and
pricing pressure to varying degrees across our service lines and operating areas. As our customers reduced their service needs
and budgets, we worked with them, including through pricing concessions, when necessary to secure utilization and protect
market share across our service lines, while also seeking ways to deliver greater efficiencies and reduce our operating costs.
However, our financial and operating results were adversely impacted by the weak activity and pricing environment
characterizing this downturn.
In response to challenging market conditions, and also as part of our integration plan in anticipation of the Merger,
late in the first quarter of 2015 we began to scale back our operations and align our cost structure with activity levels. We idled
equipment, reduced headcount, implemented strict cost control measures and negotiated substantial price reductions with
suppliers to lower our operating costs. However, our ability to obtain cost reductions from our third-party suppliers lagged
behind the drop in pricing for our services, which further compressed margins. With the Merger closing during the early part of
the downturn, we had the impetus to double-down on our efforts to streamline our combined company and to further improve
our cost structure, leveraging our greater scale. We stacked unproductive equipment, further reduced head count, including
through the elimination of duplicative personnel, closed or consolidated facilities, and implemented other measures to bring our
operations and cost-structure in-line with existing activity levels and anticipated instability over the near term.
In the face of challenging headwinds, we successfully completed the integration of Legacy C&J and the C&P
business ahead of schedule, which involved a substantial effort across our employee base to integrate the numerous systems
and functions in a timely manner. We achieved greater synergies than originally anticipated, and at an accelerated pace. For
example, we achieved procurement synergy savings from applying more favorable pricing on key consumables, such as
proppant, trucking and chemicals, to our expanded Completion Services operations, and the elimination of duplicative
personnel and facilities provided some synergy savings with respect to corporate overhead and administrative expenses.
Additionally, through our various R&T initiatives we became more vertically integrated, which has enabled us to continue to
reduce our cost structure, creating opportunities to drive revenue and gain market share.
Looking forward, the severity and duration of this downturn remain uncertain and we are preparing for industry
conditions to remain extremely challenging through 2016. Activity and pricing levels have declined since the beginning of the
year, which will negatively impact our first quarter financial and operating results. We are actively monitoring the market and
managing our business in line with demand for services, and we will continue to make adjustments as necessary to effectively
respond to the challenging conditions, including further scaling back our strategic initiatives and both core and non-core
businesses. We are maintaining an intense focus on lowering our input and labor costs, driving costs savings and controlling
expenses. Our top priorities remain to drive revenue by maximizing utilization, improve margins through cost controls, protect
and grow market share by focusing on the quality and efficiency of our service execution and ensure we are strategically
positioned to capitalize on any future market improvement or compelling opportunities. Although we believe that we are
prepared for the challenges that lie ahead, the ultimate impact of the current industry downturn on our company will depend
upon various factors, many of which remain beyond our control. Please see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in this Part II,
Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in addition to“Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.
Results of Operations
The following is a comparison of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to the
year ended December 31, 2014, and a comparison of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared
to the year ended December 31, 2013. Our results for the 2015 year include the financial and operating results of Legacy C&J
for the entire period and the C&P Business from the Effective Time of the Merger (March 24, 2015) through December 31,
2015. Results for periods prior to March 24, 2015 reflect the financial and operating results of Legacy C&J exclusively, and do
not include the financial and operating results of the C&P Business. Accordingly, comparisons of 2015 results to prior years
may not be meaningful. In addition to the Merger, we have significantly grown our company since the beginning of 2014 as we
39

executed our long term growth strategy and demonstrated our commitment to diversify and expand our business. As a result of
our efforts, as well as market fluctuations, neither our 2015 nor our 2014 results are directly comparable to prior years.
Furthermore, for the first quarter of 2015, we revised our reportable segments to reflect the change in our operating
segments as a result of the Merger. Due to the transformative nature of the Merger, our chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) changed the way in which the Company is managed, which included a revised segment approach in making
performance evaluation and resource allocation decisions. Discrete financial information was created to provide the segment
information necessary for the CODM to manage the Company under the revised operating segment structure. The current
reportable business segment structure reflects the financial information and reports used by management, including our CODM,
to make decisions regarding the Company’s business, including performance evaluation and resource allocation decisions. We
have recast the segment information included in this Annual Report to reflect the new reportable segment structure in order to
conform to the current year presentation.
Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2014
The following table summarizes the change in our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

2015

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Direct costs
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment Expense
Loss on disposal of assets
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Total other expenses, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

$

Years Ended December 31,
2014

1,748,889

$

1,523,116
239,775
16,704
276,353
791,807
(544)
(1,098,322)

$

(82,086)
8,773
(73,313)
(1,171,635)
(299,093)
(872,542) $

1,607,944

$

1,179,227
182,518
14,327
108,145
—
(17)
123,744
(9,840)
598
(9,242)
114,502
45,679
68,823 $

$ Change

140,945
343,889
57,257
2,377
168,208
791,807
(527)
(1,222,066)
(72,246)
8,175
(64,071)
(1,286,137)
(344,772)
(941,365)

Revenue
Revenue increased $140.9 million, or 8.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014. The increase in revenue was primarily due to our significantly larger asset base and expanded operations
as a result of the Merger and the incremental impact of $822.2 million of revenue contributed by the C&P Business, offset by a
$681.3 million decrease in revenue from Legacy C&J due to significantly lower utilization and pricing levels across our
Completion Services segment resulting from the extremely competitive market environment caused by the continued decline in
U.S. onshore drilling and completion activity.
Direct Costs
Direct costs increased $343.9 million, or 29.2%, to $1.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to
$1.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to our significantly larger asset base and expanded operations
as a result of the Merger, including additional direct costs of $697.6 million from the C&P Business, partially offset by a $353.7
million decrease in direct cost attributable to Legacy C&J.
As a percentage of revenue, direct costs increased to 87.1% for the year ended December 31, 2015, up from 73.3% for
the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to substantially lower pricing for our services due to competitive market
conditions resulting from the rapid decline in commodity prices, partially offset by reductions to our cost structure achieved
through our supply chain and procurement synergy savings following the Merger.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses ("SG&A") and Research and Development Expenses ("R&D")
SG&A increased $57.3 million, or 31.4%, to $239.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to
$182.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Excluding an increase of $22.5 million in acquisition-related costs, the
remaining increase in SG&A for the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily driven by a significantly greater employee
base as a result of the Merger, partially offset by the implementation of our integration plan following the Merger and marketdriven cost control initiatives, including reductions in headcount and facilities.
We also incurred $16.7 million in R&D for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to $14.3 million for the
corresponding prior year period. We remain committed to investing in key technologies that we lower our cost base for key
inputs, enhance synergy savings and improve our operational capabilities and efficiencies. However, as part of our cost control
measures, during the latter half of 2015, we scaled back our research and technology division and delayed certain projects.
Depreciation and Amortization Expense ("D&A")
D&A increased $168.2 million, or 155.5%, to $276.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to
$108.1 million for the same period in 2014. The increase in D&A was primarily related to our significantly larger asset base as
a result of the Merger, as well as the deployment of new equipment in Legacy C&J's core service lines.
Impairment Expense
Impairment expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $791.8 million and consisted of $385.0 million of
goodwill impairment and $393.1 million of property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") impairment, both related to the
Completion Services and Other Services segments, and $13.8 million related to other intangible assets.
Due to the continued downturn in the oil and gas industry, and the resulting further deterioration in demand for our
services, we determined that it was necessary to test goodwill for impairment and to test PP&E and intangible assets for
recoverability during the third quarter of 2015 and again during the fourth quarter of 2015. As a result, we recorded a non-cash
pre-tax charge of $394.2 million related to impairment of goodwill and intangible assets for our Completion Services and Other
Services segments for the third quarter of 2015, and we recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $393.1 million related to
impairment of PP&E from certain asset groups within each of our Completion Services segment and Other Services for the
fourth quarter of 2015.
No impairment was incurred for the year ended December 31, 2014.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense increased $72.2 million, or 734.2%, to $82.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 due to
higher levels of borrowings, primarily to finance the Merger.
Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax benefit of $299.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, at an effective rate of
25.5%, compared to income tax expense of $45.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, at an effective rate of 39.9%.
The decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily due to a pre-tax loss in the current year, as compared to pre-tax income in the
prior year. The effective rate, and resulting benefit, is less than the expected statutory rate primarily due to impairment charges
that were not deductible for tax, the impact of permanent differences on the tax rate and the recognition of non-deductible
acquisition related costs.
Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2013
The following table summarizes the change in our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014, when
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 (in thousands):
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2014

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Direct costs
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of assets
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Total other expenses, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

$

Years Ended December 31,
2013

1,607,944

$

1,179,227
182,518
14,327
108,145
(17)
123,744

$

(9,840)
598
(9,242)
114,502
45,679
68,823 $

1,070,322

$

751,468
124,404
5,005
74,703
527
114,215
(6,550)
53
(6,497)
107,718
41,313
66,405 $

$ Change

537,622
427,759
58,114
9,322
33,442
(544)
9,529
(3,290)
545
(2,745)
6,784
4,366
2,418

Revenue
Revenue increased $537.6 million, or 50.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013. Our Completion Services segment contributed $403.2 million of additional revenue from our hydraulic
fracturing services and $129.7 million of additional revenue from our wireline services. The increased revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2014 was driven by high activity and service intensity levels, strong operational execution and the
deployment of additional equipment across our service lines.
Direct Costs
Direct costs increased $427.8 million, or 56.9%, to $1.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to
$751.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Our Completion Services segment had $408.1 million of additional
direct costs primarily from our hydraulic fracturing services and $69.7 million of additional direct costs from our wireline
services, in each instance related to a corresponding increase in revenue. As a percentage of revenue, direct costs increased
from 70.2% for the year ended December 31, 2013 to 73.3% for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to increased
exposure to a highly competitive spot market for our hydraulic fracturing services, as well as increased volumes and costs for
proppants and logistics due to a job-mix weighted towards greater service-intensive activity.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses ("SG&A") and Research and Development Expenses ("R&D")
SG&A increased $58.1 million, or 46.7%, to $182.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to
$124.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. We also incurred $14.3 million in R&D for the year ended December 31,
2014, as compared to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
Excluding $20.2 million in transaction costs associated primarily with the Transactions, the increases in SG&A and
R&D were primarily due to increased costs associated with the continued investment in our strategic initiatives, including
service line diversification, vertical integration, technological advancement and international expansion. Inclusive of both
SG&A and R&D, our strategic initiatives contributed approximately $39.7 million of additional costs for the year ended
December 31, 2014.
Depreciation and Amortization Expense ("D&A")
D&A increased $33.4 million, or 44.8%, to $108.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to
$74.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily related to the deployment of new incremental
equipment for our hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, wireline and pressure pumping service lines.
Interest Expense, net
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Interest expense increased $3.3 million, or 50.2%, to $9.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared
to $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, due to increased average debt balances.
Income Taxes
We recorded income tax expense of $45.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, at an effective rate of 39.9%,
compared to $41.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, at an effective rate of 38.4%. The increase in the effective
tax rate is primarily due to an increase in permanent differences between book and taxable income and foreign losses not
benefited in income tax expense.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Current Financial Condition and Liquidity
As of December 31, 2015, we had a cash balance of approximately $25.9 million, $121.0 million in borrowings
outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility (as defined and discussed below) along with $12.6 million of outstanding
letters of credit, and $1.05 billion outstanding under a Term Loan B (as defined and discussed below) comprised of a $570.7
million term loan B-1 and a $481.4 million term loan B-2. We also had $32.0 million in long-term capital lease obligations. The
long-term debt balance is net of $52.4 million of original issue discount on the Term Loan B. As of December 31, 2015, the
Revolving Credit Facility had $166.4 million available for borrowing based on $300.0 million of Revolver availability in
accordance with the Collateral Coverage Covenant (as defined and discussed below) under the Amended Credit Agreement. We
generated $103.0 million of cash from operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015. Please see “Financial
Condition and Cash Flows” below for information about net cash provided by or used in our operating, investing and financing
activities.
As of February 23, 2016, we had a cash balance of approximately $93.6 million and $251.0 million in borrowings
outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility with $36.4 million available for additional borrowing based on $300.0 million
of Revolver availability in accordance with the Collateral Coverage Covenant. While we do not have an immediate need for
these funds to continue operations, management believes it prudent to ensure direct access to this capital over the course of
2016 in order to ensure the Company is in the best possible position to manage the current market environment. As a result,
absent the issuance of additional securities, alternative financing arrangements or the repayment of outstanding borrowings
under our Revolving Credit Facility, our operations for the foreseeable future will be funded from cash flow from operations,
cash on hand and the remaining $36.4 million of availability that may be drawn in ordinary course from time to time. The
additional draws of $130.0 million on our Revolving Credit Facility since December 31, 2015 will result in approximately $1.1
million of additional interest expense for the first quarter of 2016, which may increase net loss and decrease cash flow from
operations.
On September 29, 2015, we entered into the Amendments (as defined and discussed below) to our Credit Agreement
that, among other things: (1) reduced the Revolver commitment from $600.0 million to $400.0 million, provided, however, that
availability is subject to the newly implemented Collateral Coverage Covenant (herein so called), which limits availability to
the greater of (i) $300.0 million and (ii) an amount derived from 80% of Eligible Receivables (as defined and discussed below)
and 50% of Eligible Inventory (as defined and discussed below); (2) temporarily suspends the quarterly Total Leverage Ratio
(as defined and discussed below) and Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined and discussed below) covenants set forth in the Credit
Agreement, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2015 through the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2017; (3)
provides that upon reinstatement of the Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio, the required test levels initially will
be more permissive than those in effect prior to the Amendments, and will gradually adjust to those prior levels over the
subsequent fiscal quarters; (4) provides for new financial covenants that will apply in lieu of the Total Leverage Ratio and
Interest Coverage Ratio, including a quarterly Minimum EBITDA Target covenant (as defined and discussed below),
commencing with the quarter ended September 30, 2015 and running through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, based on a
negotiated EBITDA test; and (5) sets quarterly limitations on capital expenditures for the quarter ending December 31, 2015,
and annual limitations on capital expenditures for the four fiscal quarter periods ending December 31, 2016 through June 30,
2017. Please see “ - Description of Our Credit Agreement” below and Note 2 - Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations
in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information about the Credit Agreement.
As of December 31, 2015, absent the Amendments, we would not have been in compliance with the Total Leverage
Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio. However, as of December 31, 2015 we are in compliance with the financial covenants
required by the Amended Credit Agreement. If our activity and/or pricing levels remain at current levels or do not improve, we
are at risk of not being able to comply with our minimum EBITDA Target covenant in future periods.
43

Capital expenditures totaled $166.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily relating to maintenance of
our existing equipment. In response to persistently challenging industry conditions, we have significantly scaled back our 2016
capital expenditure plan and capital expenditures for 2016 are expected to range from $75 million to $100 million. These
expenditures are expected to be funded from cash flows from operations and cash on hand (including from our recent draws
under our Revolver).
Our current focus is on preserving liquidity by lowering our operating expenses, controlling costs, reducing capital
expenditures and maximizing collection of receivables. Based on our existing operating performance, 2016 planned capital
expenditures, and ongoing cost reduction measures, we currently believe that our cash flows from operations and existing
capital, coupled with cash on hand and borrowings available under our Revolving Credit Facility, will be sufficient to meet our
operational and capital expenditure requirements over the next twelve months. Our ability to access additional sources of
financing will be dependent on our operating cash flows and demand for our services, which could be negatively impacted due
to the extreme volatility of commodity prices and declines in capital and debt markets. Please see “ – Description of Our Credit
Agreement” below for additional information about our Revolving Credit Facility as amended by the Amendments; please also
see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report for a discussion of potential risks associated with our existing
indebtedness and financial and restrictive covenant structure in light of current market conditions.
Sources of Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity include cash on hand, cash flows from operations and borrowings under senior secured
debt facilities, including our Revolving Credit Facility. Historically, our primary uses of capital were for the growth of our
Company, including the Merger and other strategic acquisitions that complement and enhance our business, the purchase and
maintenance of equipment for our core service lines, geographic expansion (both domestic and international), and our ongoing
strategic initiatives, most notably including the advancement of our research and technology capabilities and vertical
integration. Our capital expenditures, maintenance costs and other expenses have increased substantially over the last few years
in line with the significant growth we have achieved and the ongoing execution of our long-term growth strategy.
As a result of the Merger, we have improved operational scale, as well as a greater combined lending base, coupled with
the expected benefit of a lower cost of capital. However, like our competitors, our operational and financial results have been
significantly impacted by the current downturn, which in turn impacts our liquidity and financial flexibility, as well as our
ability to continue to comply with the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. Anticipating that we would not
be able to comply with the Total Leverage Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio, on September 29, 2015, we entered into the
Amendments to the Credit Agreement to obtain relief from those financial covenants. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2015,
we are in compliance with the financial covenants required by the Amended Credit Agreement. We believe the Amendments
were a positive development for the Company, as we believe they provide us with the flexibility to continue to work through
this challenging time for our industry. However, in the event activity and/or pricing levels remain at current levels or do not
improve, we may be unable to continue comply with these financial covenants in future periods. Notwithstanding the forgoing,
the Credit Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants and financial covenants that may limit our ability to engage in
activities that may be in our long-term best interests, including limitations on our ability to create, incur, assume or suffer to
exist liens or indebtedness, sell or otherwise dispose of assets, make certain restricted payments and investments, enter into
transactions with affiliates and prepay certain indebtedness. Please see “ – Description of Our Credit Agreement” below and
Note 2 – Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for
additional information about our Credit Agreement, including the Amendments. Please also see “Risk Factors” in Part I,
Item 1A of this Annual Report.
Liquidity Outlook and Future Capital Requirements
The energy services business is capital-intensive, requiring significant investment to maintain, upgrade and purchase
equipment to meet our customers’ needs and industry demand. To date, our capital requirements have consisted primarily of,
and we anticipate, over the long-term, will continue to be:
•

•

growth capital expenditures, which are capital expenditures made to acquire additional equipment and other
assets, increase our service lines, expand geographically or advance other strategic initiatives for the purpose of
growing our business; and
capital expenditures related to our existing equipment, such as maintenance and other activities to extend the
useful life of partially or fully depreciated assets.
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Additionally, in the near term, we anticipate our capital requirements will consist almost entirely of capital expenditures
related to our existing equipment, such as maintenance and other activities to extend the useful life of partially or fully
depreciated assets.
The successful execution of our long-term growth strategy depends on our ability to generate sufficient cash flows and /
or raise additional capital as needed. Historically, we have been able to generate solid cash flows in spite of challenging market
conditions and our free cash flow and balance sheet allowed us to be flexible with our approach to organic growth and
acquisition opportunities. Our ability to fund future growth depends on our performance, which is impacted by factors beyond
our control, including financial, business, economic and other factors, such as potential changes in customer preferences and
pressure from competitors. Our current level of indebtedness could limit our ability to finance future growth and adversely
affect our operations and financial condition. Additionally, the financial and other restrictive covenant obligations contained in
the Credit Agreement may restrict our operational flexibility and limit our ability to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist liens
or indebtedness, sell or otherwise dispose of their assets, make certain restricted payments and investments and prepay certain
indebtedness.
As of December 31, 2015, absent the Amendments, we would not have been in compliance with the Total Leverage
Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. Anticipating that we would not be able to
comply with the Total Leverage Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio, on September 29, 2015, we entered into the Amendments
to the Credit Agreement to obtain relief from those financial covenants. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2015, we are in
compliance with the financial covenants required by the Amended Credit Agreement. However, in the event activity and/or
pricing for our services remains at current levels or do not improve, we may be unable to continue comply with these financial
covenants in future periods. Please see “ – Description of Our Credit Agreement” below and Note 2 – Long-Term Debt and
Capital Lease Obligations in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report for
additional information about the Credit Agreement; please see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report for a
discussion of potential risks associated with our existing indebtedness and financial covenant structure in light of current
market condition.
Over the past two years, we have significantly invested in growing our core service lines through the expansion of our
assets, customer base and geographic reach, both domestically and internationally. We have also significantly invested in
advancing our ongoing strategic initiatives designed to strengthen, expand and diversify our business, notably including service
line diversification, vertical integration and technological advancement. Our continued investments in international expansion
and our strategic initiatives have resulted in increased capital expenditures and costs, and as we execute our long-term growth
strategy and further develop our strategic initiatives, we anticipate that our costs and expenses will continue to increase. To
date, neither our international operations nor our strategic initiatives have contributed significant third-party revenue; however,
we expect that they will contribute meaningful third-party revenue over the long term.
Entering 2015 we experienced a slowdown in activity across our customer base as operators reacted to the rapid decline
in commodity prices that began during the fourth quarter of 2014. This resulted in increased competition and pricing pressure to
varying degrees across our service lines and operating areas. Activity levels across our operations have remained depressed
throughout 2015. Our 2015 financial and operating performance was negatively impacted by the continued weakness in
demand for our services, with reductions in customer budgets and drilling and completion activity driving severe utilization
declines and pricing pressure. Although the severity and duration of this downturn remains uncertain, absent a significant
recovery in commodity prices, we expect that activity and pricing levels will remain depressed, which will negatively impact
our financial and operating results over the near term, in spite of the aggressive actions we have taken, and are taking, to scale
back our operations and align our cost structure with the highly competitive market environment.
Given the challenging market conditions currently facing our industry, we significantly scaled back our 2016 capital
expenditure plan to focus on capital expenditures related to our existing equipment, including maintenance and other activities
purposed to extend the useful life of our assets. Based on our existing operating performance, 2016 planned capital
expenditures and ongoing cost reduction measures, we currently believe that our cash flows from operations and existing
capital, coupled with cash on hand and borrowings available under our Revolving Credit Facility, will be sufficient to meet our
operational and capital expenditure requirements over the next twelve months.
Given the investments we have made in expanding our service lines, including through investing in new equipment,
coupled with our vertically integrated equipment manufacturing and repair business and research and technology capabilities,
we believe that we have built a strong platform that will enable us to perform at the highest level through this current downturn
and when the market recovers. With respect to our strategic initiatives, we believe that the strategic investments in vertical
integration and our research and technology capabilities that we have made, and our efforts to lower our cost base for key
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inputs and improve our operational capabilities and efficiencies, will help us manage through this down-cycle. Several of our
research and technology initiatives are now generating monthly cost savings to our Completion Services operations and are also
helping to generate revenue. Although the financial benefits are still minimal at this time, we believe that these strategic
projects will deliver meaningful cost savings to us over the long term. Even as we seek to reduce costs, we remain committed
to investing in key technologies that lower our cost base for key inputs, enhance synergy savings and improve our operational
capabilities and efficiencies. However, we will continue to monitor the economic environment and demand for our services
and adjust our business strategy as necessary to effectively respond to the market. If this current industry downturn persists or
worsens, we are prepared to delay further investment in these projects in line with any sustained market weakness and to take
the necessary steps to further protect our company and maximize value for all of our shareholders.

Financial Condition and Cash Flows
The net cash provided by or used in our operating, investing and financing activities is summarized below (in
thousands):

2015

Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate on cash
Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

Years Ended December 31,
2014

103,005 $
(825,156)
734,126
3,908
15,883 $

181,837 $
(343,412)
157,178
—
(4,397) $

2013

181,101
(165,295)
(15,834)
—
(28)

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $78.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared
to the corresponding period in 2014. The decrease in operating cash flow was primarily due to (a) the decline in net income
during the year ended December 31, 2015, after excluding the effects of changes in non-cash items, (b) cash used to satisfy
obligations related to accounts payable and accrued liabilities assumed in the C&P Business acquisition and (c) incremental
cash used to pay down accounts payable, partially offset by positive changes which included an increase in cash provided from
the collection of accounts receivable assumed in the C&P Business acquisition and operating assets and liabilities related to
normal fluctuations in the timing of cash collections and cash requirements.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $0.7 million higher for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared
to the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in operating cash flow was primarily due to the increase in net income
during 2014, after excluding the effects of changes in non-cash items, partially offset by changes in operating assets and
liabilities which included (a) incremental cash used to satisfy inventory levels primarily due to vertical integration efforts and
(b) incremental cash used from changes in other operating assets and liabilities related to our growth and from normal
fluctuations due to the timing of cash collections and cash requirements.
Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities increased $481.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to
the corresponding period in 2014. This increase was primarily due to the cash consideration of $693.5 million paid at the
closing of the Merger for the acquisition of the C&P Business, partially offset by a $43.4 million purchase price reduction for
the C&P Business related to a working capital adjustment and a decline in capital expenditure purchases as a result of the
downturn in the oil and gas industry.
Net cash used in investing activities increased $178.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2013. This increase was due to a $155.8 million increase in capital expenditures primarily related
to new equipment additions in our Stimulation and Well Intervention Services and Wireline Services segments, as well as a
$33.2 million for the Tiger Acquisition.
Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
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Net cash provided by financing activities increased $576.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared
to the corresponding period in 2014. The increase is primarily related to proceeds received from our Credit Agreement to fund
the cash consideration portion of the acquisition of the C&P Business at the closing of the Merger as well as to pay off the longterm debt of Legacy C&J.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $157.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to
net cash used in financing activities of $15.8 million for the same period in 2013. Net cash provided by financing activities
increased $173.0 million primarily due to net borrowings from our credit facility to fund increased capital expenditures related
to new equipment, the Tiger Acquisition, and transaction costs associated with the Pending Nabors Transaction.

Description of Our Credit Agreement
In connection with the closing of the Merger, we entered into a new credit agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015 (the
“Original Credit Agreement”), among C&J, CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l. (“Luxco”), CJ Holding Co, Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”), Swing Line Lender and an L/C Issuer, and the other
lenders party thereto. The Original Credit Agreement provided for senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal
amount of $1.66 billion, consisting of (a) a $600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility and (b) a Term Loan B in the aggregate
principal amount of $1.06 billion.
On September 29, 2015, we entered into a waiver and second amendment (the "Waiver and Second Amendment") and a
third amendment (the "Third Amendment" and, together with the Waiver and Second Amendment, the "Amendments") to the
Original Credit Agreement (as amended by the Amendments described below, the "Amended Credit Agreement" or the "Credit
Agreement") intended to provide the Company with increased financial flexibility through the third quarter of 2018. The
Waiver and Second Amendment, among other things, suspends the quarterly Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio
covenants set forth in the Original Credit Agreement commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2015 and
running through the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2017. Upon reinstatement of these covenants as of the quarter ending
September 30, 2017, the required levels initially will be more permissive than those in effect prior to the Waiver and Second
Amendment, and will gradually adjust to those prior levels over the subsequent fiscal quarters.
The Waiver and Second Amendment also provides for new financial covenants that will apply in lieu of the quarterly
Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio previously in effect, including the following:
•
•

•

a quarterly minimum EBITDA covenant, commencing with the quarter ended September 30, 2015 and running
through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, based on a negotiated EBITDA test ("Minimum EBITDA covenant");
a collateral coverage covenant ("Collateral Coverage covenant") commencing at the closing of the Waiver and Second
Amendment and running through the quarter ending March 31, 2018, which will limit outstanding Revolver
borrowings and letters of credit to the greater of (i) $300.0 million and (ii) an amount derived from 80% of Eligible
Receivables (as defined in the Waiver and Second Amendment) and 50% of Eligible Inventory (as defined in the
Waiver and Second Amendment) (subject to the reduced maximum Revolver borrowing capacity described below);
and
a quarterly limitation on capital expenditures for the quarter ending December 31, 2015, and annual limitations on
capital expenditures for the four fiscal quarter periods ending December 31, 2016 through June 30, 2017

In summary, the Credit Agreement contains financial covenants applicable to the Revolver and the Five-Year Term Loan,
which include: (i) a maximum Total Leverage Ratio of 5.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2017, 5.00:1.00
for the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2017, 4.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2018, 4.25:1.00 for the fiscal
quarter ending June 30, 2018 and 4.00:1.00 for each fiscal quarter thereafter; (ii) a minimum quarterly ratio of consolidated
EBITDA of C&J and its subsidiaries to consolidated interest expense of C&J and its subsidiaries ("Interest Expense Ratio") of
2.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2017, 2.75:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending
March 31, 2018 and 3.00:1.00 for each fiscal quarter thereafter; and (iii) starting September 30, 2015 and until the fiscal quarter
ending June, 30, 2017, a Minimum Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA covenant as follows (in thousands):
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Minimum Cumulative
Consolidated EBITDA (1)

Cumulative Cushion
Amount

Three months ended September 30, 2015

$(15,000)

$10,000

Three months ended December 31, 2015

$10,000

$20,000

Six months ended March 31, 2016

$28,000

$40,000

Nine months ended June 30, 2016

$63,000

$60,000

Twelve months ended September 30, 2016

$121,000

$60,000

Twelve months ended December 31, 2016

$115,000

None

Twelve months ended March 31, 2017

$165,000

None

Twelve months ended June 30, 2017

$205,000

None

(1) Minimum Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA is defined as total earnings (loss) before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization, other income (expense), and net gain or loss on disposal of assets, and excludes, among other things, share-based compensation expense,
acquisition-related costs, and non-routine items.

The Company may use some or all of the “Cumulative Cushion Amount” set forth above to increase the Cumulative
Consolidated EBITDA for the specified given period for purposes of satisfying the Minimum Cumulative Consolidated
EBITDA test applicable to such period. In the event the Company utilizes only some of the Cumulative Cushion Amount for
such period, any used amount for such period will reduce the Cumulative Cushion Amount specified for any future period.
The effectiveness of the above-referenced covenant suspension is also subject to certain conditions subsequent that,
among other things, will reduce our capacity to make investments and restricted payments through the quarter ending
December 31, 2017.
Pursuant to the Third Amendment, the revolving lenders agreed to replace the existing revolving facility with a new
revolving facility having a revised pricing grid that increases the applicable rate on revolving borrowings by (i) 50 basis points
in the event that C&J’s most recently reported Total Leverage Ratio is greater than 4.0 to 1.0 and less than or equal to 4.5 to 1.0
and (ii) 100 basis points in the event that C&J’s most recently reported Total Leverage Ratio is greater than 4.5 to 1.0.
In connection with the Waiver and Second Amendment and the Third Amendment, the Company also reduced maximum
borrowing capacity under the revolving facility pursuant to the Credit Agreement from $600.0 million to $400.0 million.
The borrowers under the Revolving Credit Facility are C&J, Luxco and CJ Holding Co. The borrower under the Term
Loan B Facility is CJ Holding Co. All obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned
domestic subsidiaries, other than immaterial subsidiaries.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility will mature on March 24, 2020 (except that if any Five-Year Term
Loans (described below) have not been repaid prior to September 24, 2019, the Revolving Credit Facility will mature on
September 24, 2019). The Term Loan B Facility is comprised of two tranches: a tranche consisting of $572.1 million in
aggregate principal amount of term loans as of September 30, 2015 maturing on March 24, 2020 (the “Five-Year Term Loans”)
and a tranche consisting of a $482.6 million in aggregate principal amount of term loans as of September 30, 2015 maturing on
March 24, 2022 (the “Seven-Year Term Loans”).Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are non-amortizing. The Term
Loan B Facility requires the borrower thereunder to make quarterly amortization payments in an amount equal to 1.0% per
annum, with the remaining balance payable on the applicable maturity date.
Amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest based on, at the option of the borrower, the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or an alternative base rate, plus an applicable margin based on the ratio of
consolidated total indebtedness of C&J and its subsidiaries to consolidated EBITDA of C&J and its subsidiaries for the most
recent four fiscal quarter period for which financial statements are available (the “Total Leverage Ratio”). The Revolving
Credit Facility also requires that the borrowers pay a commitment fee equal to a percentage of unused commitments which
varies based on the Total Leverage Ratio.
Five-Year Term Loans outstanding under the Term Loan B Facility bear interest based on, at the option of the borrower,
LIBOR (which, in the case of the Term Loan B Facility, will be deemed to be no less than 1.0% per annum), plus a margin
of 5.5%, or an alternative base rate, plus a margin of 4.5%. Seven-Year Term Loans outstanding under the Term Loan B Facility
bear interest based on, at the option of the borrower, LIBOR (which, in the case of the Term Loan B Facility, will be deemed to
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be no less than 1.0% per annum), plus a margin of 6.25%, or an alternative base rate, plus a margin of 5.25%. The Term Loan B
Facility also contains ‘most favored nation’ pricing protection requiring that if the effective yield (giving effect to, among other
things, consent fees paid to the lenders) of the Five-Year Term Loans increases by more than 50 basis points, the effective yield
of the Seven-Year Term Loans must increase by the same amount less 50 basis points.
The alternative base rate is equal to the highest of (i) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (ii) the Federal Funds
Effective Rate plus 0.50% and (iii) LIBOR plus 1.0%.
Subject to certain conditions and limitations, the Credit Agreement permits the borrowers to increase the aggregate
commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility in a total principal amount of up to $100.0 million.
The Revolving Credit Facility is permitted to be prepaid from time to time without premium or penalty. Five-Year Term
Loans are subject to a prepayment premium of 4% for any voluntary prepayments made on or prior to March 24, 2016 and no
prepayment premium thereafter. Seven-Year Term Loans will be subject to a prepayment premium of 5% for any voluntary
prepayments made on or prior to March 24, 2017 and no prepayment premium thereafter.
Subject to certain conditions and exceptions, the Term Loan B Facility is required to be prepaid under particular
circumstances, including (i) in the event that C&J and its subsidiaries generate Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) in any fiscal year, in an amount equal to 50% of the Excess Cash Flow for such fiscal year if the Total Leverage
Ratio as of the end of such fiscal year is 3.25:1.00 or greater, (ii) in the event of a sale or other disposition of property by C&J
or its subsidiaries, in an amount equal to 100% of the net proceeds of such sale or disposition, subject to customary
reinvestment rights and other exceptions, and (iii) in the event of an incurrence of debt not permitted under the Credit
Agreement, in an amount equal to 100% of the net proceeds of such debt.
The Credit Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants (in each case, subject to exceptions) that limit, among
other things, our ability to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist liens or indebtedness, sell or otherwise dispose of their assets,
make certain restricted payments and investments, enter into transactions with affiliates, make capital expenditures and prepay
certain indebtedness. lease see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report for a discussion of potential risks
associated with our financial and restrictive covenant structure.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Contractual Obligation

Revolving Credit Facility(1)
Term Loan B Facility(2)
Capital leases(3)
Operating leases
Inventory and materials(4)
Service equipment and other capital
expenditures
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Less than
1 year

Total

$

138,985
1,422,232
40,060
27,837
102,919

2,064
$ 1,734,097

$

$

4,641
83,454
3,734
9,008
33,663
2,064
136,564

1-3 years

$

$

9,263
164,302
7,269
8,612
62,880
—
252,326

More than
5 years

3-5 years

$

$

125,081
676,463
7,672
4,147
6,376
—
819,739

$

$

—
498,013
21,385
6,070
—
—
525,468

Includes estimated interest costs at an interest rate of 2.7% along with related charges.
Includes estimated interest costs on two term loan tranches at an interest rate of 6.5% and 7.25%.
Capital lease amounts include $5.2 million in interest payments.
Primarily related to sand contract purchase commitments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K, as of December 31, 2015.
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Critical Accounting Policies
The selection and application of accounting policies is an important process that has developed as our business
activities have evolved and as the accounting standards have developed. Accounting standards generally do not involve a
selection among alternatives, but involve the implementation and interpretation of existing standards, and the use of judgment
applied to the specific set of circumstances existing in our business. We make every effort to properly comply with all
applicable standards on or before their adoption, and we believe the proper implementation and consistent application of the
accounting standards are critical.
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates and
assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. The results of our analysis form the basis for making assumptions
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies involve significant areas of management’s judgments and
estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the related assets, are charged to expense when incurred.
Refurbishments are capitalized when the life of the equipment is extended. When property and equipment are sold or otherwise
disposed of, the asset account and related accumulated depreciation account are relieved, and any gain or loss is included in
operating income. The cost of property and equipment currently in service is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to 25 years.
PP&E are evaluated on a quarterly basis to identify events or changes in circumstances (“triggering events”) that
indicate the carrying value of certain PP&E may not be recoverable. PP&E are reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of
a triggering event. An impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount of PP&E is
not recoverable. The determination of recoverability is made based upon the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows of
assets grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows independent of the cash flows of other groups of
assets with such cash flows to be realized over the estimated remaining useful life of the primary asset within the asset group,
excluding interest expense. We determined the lowest level of identifiable cash flows that are independent of other asset groups
to be at the service line level, which consists of the well services, hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, wireline, pumpdown,
directional drilling, cementing, artificial lift applications, international coiled tubing, equipment manufacturing and repair
services, specialty chemicals and data acquisition and control instruments provider service lines as well as the vertically
integrated research and technology service line. If the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows for a given asset group is
less than the carrying amount of the related assets, an impairment loss is determined by comparing the estimated fair value with
the carrying value of the related assets. The impairment loss is then allocated across the asset group's major classifications.
Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill is allocated to our three
reporting units: Completion Services, Well Support Services and Other Services, all of which are consistent with the
presentation of our three reportable segments. At the reporting unit level, we test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as
of October 31 of each year, or when events or changes in circumstances, referred to as triggering events, indicate the carrying
value of goodwill may not be recoverable and that a potential impairment exists.
Judgment is used in assessing whether goodwill should be tested for impairment more frequently than annually.
Factors such as unexpected adverse economic conditions, competition, market changes and other external events may require
more frequent assessments.
Before employing detailed impairment testing methodologies, we may first evaluate the likelihood of impairment
by considering qualitative factors relevant to each reporting unit, such as macroeconomic, industry, market or any other factors
that have a significant bearing on fair value. If we first utilize a qualitative approach and determine that it is more likely than
not that goodwill is impaired, detailed testing methodologies are then applied. Otherwise, we conclude that no impairment has
occurred. Detailed impairment testing, or Step 1 testing, involves comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying
value, including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market participant would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the
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reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds carrying value, then it is concluded that no goodwill impairment has occurred. If the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step is required to measure possible goodwill impairment
loss. The second step, or Step 2 testing, includes hypothetically valuing the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of the
reporting unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. Then, the implied fair value of the reporting
unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying value of that goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds
the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the
carrying value.
Our Step 1 impairment analysis involves the use of a blended income and market approach. Significant
management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating and macroeconomic changes on each reporting unit.
Critical assumptions include projected revenue growth, fleet count, utilization, gross profit rates, SG&A rates, working capital
fluctuations, capital expenditures, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and price-to-earnings multiples. Our market
capitalization is also used to corroborate reporting unit valuations.
Similar to goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to annual impairment tests or more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. These intangibles are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances (a triggering event) indicate that the asset may have a net book value in
excess of recoverable value. In these cases, we perform a recoverability test on its definite-lived intangible assets by comparing
the estimated future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset to the carrying amount of
the asset for recoverability. If the estimated undiscounted cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment
does not exist and a loss will not be recognized. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset,
the asset is not recoverable and the amount of impairment must be determined by fair valuing the asset.
Mergers and Acquisitions. In accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations, we allocate the
purchase price of an acquired business to its identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The excess of the
purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. We use all available
information to estimate fair values. We typically engage outside appraisal firms to assist in the fair value determination of
identifiable intangible assets such as trade names and any other significant assets or liabilities. We adjust the preliminary
purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain more information
regarding asset valuations and liabilities assumed.
Our purchase price allocation methodology contains uncertainties because it requires management to make
assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities. Management estimates the fair
value of assets and liabilities based upon quoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analysis. Unanticipated events or circumstances
may occur which could affect the accuracy of our fair value estimates, including assumptions regarding industry economic
factors and business strategies. If actual results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of
the assets and liabilities acquired through a business combination, it is possible that adjustments to the carrying values of such
assets and liabilities will have an impact on our net earnings.
See “Note 10 – Mergers and Acquisitions” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the acquisition-related information associated with mergers and acquisitions completed in the last
three fiscal years.
Revenue Recognition. All revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is
complete or the equipment has been delivered to the customer, the amount is fixed or determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured, as follows:
Completion Services Segment
Hydraulic Fracturing Revenue. Through its hydraulic fracturing service line, the Company provides hydraulic
fracturing services on a spot market basis or pursuant to contractual arrangements, such as term contracts and pricing
agreements. Under either scenario, revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of each job, which
can consist of one or more fracturing stages. Once a job has been completed to the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is
written that includes charges for the service performed and the consumables (such as fluids and proppants) used during the
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course of service. The field ticket may also include charges for the mobilization and set-up of equipment, the personnel on the
job, any additional equipment used on the job, and other miscellaneous consumables.
Rates for services performed on a spot market basis are based on an agreed-upon hourly spot market rate for a
specified number of hours of service.
Pursuant to pricing agreements and other contractual arrangements which the Company may enter into from time to
time, such as those associated with an award from a bid process, customers typically commit to targeted utilization levels based
on a specified number of hours of service at agreed-upon pricing, but without termination penalties or obligations to pay for
services not used by the customer. In addition, the agreed-upon pricing is typically subject to periodic review, as specifically
defined in the agreement, and may be adjusted upon the agreement of both parties.
Cased-Hole Wireline Revenue. Through its cased-hole wireline service line, the Company provides cased-hole
wireline logging, perforating, pressure pumping, well site make-up and pressure testing and other complementary services, on a
spot market basis. Jobs for these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few hours to multiple days.
The Company typically charges the customer for these services on a per job basis at agreed-upon spot market rates. Revenue is
recognized based on a field ticket issued upon the completion of the job.
Coiled Tubing and Other Stimulation Services Revenue. Through its coiled tubing service line, the Company provides
a range of coiled tubing and other well stimulation services, including nitrogen and pressure pumping services, primarily on a
spot market basis. Jobs for these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few hours to multiple days.
Revenue is recognized upon completion of each day’s work based upon a completed field ticket. The field ticket includes
charges for the services performed and the consumables (such as stimulation fluids, nitrogen and coiled tubing materials) used
during the course of service. The field ticket may also include charges for the mobilization and set-up of equipment, the
personnel on the job, any additional equipment used on the job, and other miscellaneous consumables. The Company typically
charges the customer for the services performed and resources provided on an hourly basis at agreed-upon spot market rates.
Revenue from Materials Consumed While Performing Certain Completion Services. The Company generates revenue
from consumables used during the course of providing services.
With respect to hydraulic fracturing services, the Company generates revenue from the fluids, proppants and other
materials that are consumed while performing a job. For services performed on a spot market basis, the required consumables
are typically provided by the Company and the customer is billed for those consumables at cost plus an agreed-upon markup.
For services performed on a contractual basis, when the consumables are provided by the Company, the customer typically is
billed for those consumables at a negotiated contractual rate. When consumables are supplied by the customer, the Company
typically charges handling fees based on the amount of consumables used.
In addition, ancillary to coiled tubing and other stimulation services revenue, the Company generates revenue from
stimulation fluids, nitrogen, coiled tubing materials and other consumables used during those processes.
Well Support Services Segment
Rig Services Revenue. Through its rig service line, the Company primarily provides workover and well servicing rigs
that are involved in routine repair and maintenance, completions, re-drilling and plug and abandonment operations. These
services are provided on an hourly basis at prices that approximate spot market rates. Revenue is recognized and a field ticket is
generated upon the earliest of the completion of a job or at the end of each day. A rig services job can last anywhere from a few
hours to multiple days depending on the type of work being performed. The field ticket includes the base hourly rate charge
and, if applicable, charges for additional personnel or equipment not contemplated in the base hourly rate.
Fluids Management Services Revenue. Through its fluids management service line, the Company primarily provides
transportation, storage and disposal services for fluids used in the drilling, completion and workover of oil and gas wells. Rates
for these services vary and can be on a per job, per hour or per load basis, or on the basis of quantities sold or disposed.
Revenue is recognized upon the completion of each job or load, or delivered product, based on a completed field ticket.
Other Special Well Site Services Revenue. Through its other special well site service line, the Company primarily
provides fishing, contract labor, and tool rental services for completion and workover of oil and gas wells. Rates for these
services vary and can be on a per job, per hour or on the basis of rental days per month. Revenue is recognized based on a field
ticket issued upon the completion of each job or on a monthly billing for rental services provided.
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Other Services Segment
Revenue within the Other Services Segment is generated from certain of the Company's smaller service lines and
divisions, specifically directional drilling services, cementing services, equipment manufacturing and repair services, which
includes the sale of oilfield parts and supplies, and the blending and sale of specialty chemicals used in completion and
production services. Additionally, the Company manages several of its vertically integrated businesses through its research and
technology division, which is included within the Other Services Segment.
With respect to its directional drilling services, the Company provides these services on a spot market basis. Jobs for
these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few days to multiple weeks. The Company typically
charges the customer for these services on a per day basis at agreed-upon spot market rates depending on the level of services
required and the complexity of the job. Revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of each job.
Once a job has been completed to the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is written that includes charges for the service
performed.
With respect to its cementing services, the Company provides these services on a spot market or project basis. Jobs for
these services are typically short-term in nature and are generally completed in a few hours. The Company typically charges the
customer for these services on a per job basis at agreed-upon spot market rates or agreed-upon job pricing for a particular
project. Revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of each job. Once a job has been completed to
the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is written that includes charges for the service performed and the consumables (such
as blended bulk cement and chemical additives) used during the course of service.
With respect to its equipment manufacturing and repair services, specialty chemicals provider, data acquisition and
control instruments provider and artificial lift applications provider, the Company generates revenue primarily from the sale of
manufactured equipment and products. Revenue is recognized upon the completion, delivery and customer acceptance of each
order.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to
customers. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding
receivables, historical collection information and existing economic conditions. Provisions for doubtful accounts are recorded
when it is deemed probable that the customer will not make the required payments at either the contractual due dates or in the
future. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $7.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively.
Bad debt expense of $8.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million was included in direct costs on the consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Share-Based Compensation. Our share-based compensation consists of restricted shares and nonqualified share
options. We recognize share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.
We value restricted share grants based on the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on the grant date, and we value
option grants based on the grant date fair value by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the use of
highly subjective assumptions.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires inputs such as the expected term of the grant, expected volatility and
risk-free interest rate. Further, the forfeiture rate also affects the amount of aggregate compensation that we are required to
record as an expense. We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected term, volatility and forfeiture rate related to
our share-based compensation on a prospective basis and will incorporate these factors into our option-pricing model. Each of
these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant management judgment. If, in the future, we determine that another
method for calculating the fair value of our stock options is more reasonable, or if another method for calculating these input
assumptions is prescribed by authoritative guidance, and, therefore, should be used to estimate expected volatility or expected
term, the fair value calculated for our employee stock options could change significantly. Higher volatility and longer expected
terms generally result in an increase to share-based compensation expense determined at the date of grant.
Income Taxes. We are subject to income and other similar taxes in all areas in which we operate. When recording
income tax expense, certain estimates are required because: (a) income tax returns are generally filed months after the close of
our annual accounting period; (b) tax returns are subject to audit by taxing authorities and audits can often take years to
complete and settle; and (c) future events often impact the timing of when we recognize income tax expenses and benefits.
We account for income taxes utilizing the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
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enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense
in the period that includes the enactment date.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the
periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. In assessing the likelihood and extent that deferred tax assets
will be realized, consideration is given to projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies. A valuation allowance is
recorded when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized.
We recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the technical
merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority. We reverse a previously recognized tax position in the first period in which it is no longer
more-likely-than-not that the tax position would be sustained upon examination. We will record income tax related interest and
penalties, if applicable, as a component of the provision for income tax expense.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of
revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace
most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2015-14"), which deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for
all entities by one year and is effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2018. ASU 2015-14 permits the use
of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. We have not yet selected a transition method nor has the
effect of the standard on ongoing financial reporting been determined.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (“ASU 2015-03”). ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized
debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent
with debt discounts. For public entities, ASU 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously
issued. ASU 2015-03 is to be applied on a retrospective basis and represents a change in accounting principle. In addition, in
August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs
Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements ("ASU 2015-15"). ASU 2015-15 clarifies the guidance in ASU 2015-03
regarding presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements. The SEC
Staff announced they would not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently
amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there
are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. We do not expect the adoption of these standards to have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory ("ASU 2015-11"), which
changes the measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable value.
ASU 2015-11 is part of the FASB’s simplification initiative and applies to entities that measure inventory using a method other
than last-in, first-out ("LIFO") or the retail inventory method. The guidance will require prospective application at the
beginning of the Company's first quarter of fiscal 2018, but permits adoption in an earlier period. We are currently evaluating
the impact, if any, of adopting this new accounting standard on our results of operations and financial position.
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the
Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments ("ASU 2015-16"). ASU 2015-16 requires that an acquirer recognize
adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the
adjustment amounts are determined. The acquirer must record, in the same period's financial statements, the effect on earnings
of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts,
calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. ASU 2015-16 is effective for the Company's fiscal
year beginning January 1, 2016. We are currently evaluating the impact, if any, of adopting this new accounting standard on
our results of operations and financial position.
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In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of
Deferred Taxes ("ASU 2015-17”). ASU 2015-17 amends existing guidance on income taxes to require the classification of all
deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-current on the balance sheet. The Company is required to adopt this ASU for years
beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and the guidance may be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively. We do not expect this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Inflation
Inflation in the United States has been relatively low in recent years and did not have a material impact on our results
of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. Although the impact of inflation has been insignificant in
recent years, it is still a factor in the U.S. economy, and we tend to experience inflationary pressure on the cost of our
equipment, materials and supplies as increasing oil and natural gas prices increase activity in our areas of operations.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. The principal market risk to
which we are exposed is commodity price risk, which is the risk related to increases in the prices of fuel, materials and supplies
consumed in performing our services. We are also exposed to risks related to interest rate fluctuations and customer credit.
Commodity Price Risk. Our material and fuel purchases expose us to commodity price risk. Our material costs
primarily include the cost of inventory consumed while performing our stimulation services such as proppants, chemicals, guar,
coiled tubing and fluid supplies. Our fuel costs consist primarily of diesel fuel used by our various trucks and other motorized
equipment. The prices for fuel and the raw materials (particularly guar and proppants) in our inventory are volatile and are
impacted by changes in supply and demand, as well as market uncertainty and regional shortages. Historically, we have
generally been able to pass along price increases to our customers, however, we may be unable to do so in the future. We do not
engage in commodity price hedging activities.
Interest Rate Risk. We are exposed to changes in interest rates on our floating rate borrowings under our Credit
Facility. The impact of a 1% increase in interest rates on our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 would have
resulted in an increase in interest expense and a corresponding decrease in net income of approximately $4.7 million and $3.2
million, respectively.
Customer Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk are trade
receivables. We extend credit to customers and other parties in the normal course of business. We have established various
procedures to manage our credit exposure, including credit evaluations and maintaining an allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting
is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management with the participation of the Company’s principal executive and financial officers assessed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. In making this assessment, it
used the criteria set forth in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of internal control
over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Based on this
assessment, management has concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2015.
Management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015
excluded the internal control over financial reporting of Nabors Industries Ltd.'s completions and production services business
(the "C&P Business"), which was merged with C&J Energy Services, Inc. on March 24, 2015. The C&P Business represented
approximately 44.7% of consolidated revenues and 41.8% of consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2015. The
acquisition of ESP Completion Technologies LLC ("ESP") on May 18, 2015, was also excluded from management's assessment
as of December 31, 2015. ESP represented approximately 0.3% of consolidated revenues and 0.8% of consolidated total assets
as of December 31, 2015.
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by KPMG LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

/s/ Joshua E. Comstock

/s/ Randall C. McMullen, Jr.

/s/ Mark C. Cashiola

Joshua E. Comstock
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)

Randall C. McMullen, Jr.
President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Mark C. Cashiola
Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 26, 2016
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
C&J Energy Services Ltd.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of C&J Energy Services Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of C&J Energy Services Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), C&J
Energy Services Ltd.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO), and our report dated February 26, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. This report contains an explanatory paragraph stating that C&J Energy Services Ltd acquired
Nabors Completion and Production Services (NCPS) and ESP Completion Technologies, LLC (ESPCT) during 2015 and
management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2015, NCPS and ESPCT’s internal control over financial reporting associated with 44.7% and 0.3%,
respectively, of consolidated revenues and 41.8% and 0.8%, respectively, of consolidated total assets of C&J Energy Services Ltd.
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of C&J Energy Services
Ltd. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of NCPS and ESPCT.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Houston, Texas
February 26, 2016
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
C&J Energy Services Ltd.:
We have audited C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, C&J Energy Services Ltd. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
C&J Energy Services Ltd. acquired Nabors Completion and Production Services (NCPS) and ESP Completion Technologies, LLC
(ESPCT) during 2015, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, NCPS and ESPCT’s internal control over financial reporting associated
with 44.7% and 0.3%, respectively, of consolidated revenues and 41.8% and 0.8%, respectively, of consolidated total assets of
C&J Energy Services Ltd. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
of C&J Energy Services Ltd. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of NCPS and ESPCT.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of C&J Energy Services Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in
the two-year period ended December 31, 2015 and our report dated February 26, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Houston, Texas
February 26, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Shareholders
C&J Energy Services, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of
C&J Energy Services, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) for the year ended
December 31, 2013. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of C&J
Energy Services, Inc. and subsidiaries operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ UHY LLP
Houston, Texas
February 26, 2014, except with respect to Note 11, as to which the date is July 15, 2015
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C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share data)
As of December 31,
2015

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $7,917 at December 31, 2015 and
$2,210 at December 31, 2014
Inventories, net
Prepaid and other current assets
Deferred tax assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets:
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $10,532 at
December 31, 2015 and $3,662 at December 31, 2014
Other noncurrent assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Payroll and related costs
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of original issue discount of
$52,413 at December 31, 2015
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity
Common shares, par value of $0.01, 750,000,000 shares authorized,
120,420,120 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 100,000,000
shares authorized, 55,333,392 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014

$

$

$

25,900

10,017

274,691
102,257
72,560
9,035
484,443
1,210,441

290,767
122,172
29,525
8,106
460,587
783,302

307,677
147,861

219,953
129,468

48,309
34,175
2,232,906

3,786
15,650
1,612,746

213,065
10,335
52,250
13,433
1,785
290,868
149,151

$

$

632,643
2,232,906

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

229,191
16,047
30,794
3,873
4,926
284,831
193,340
349,875
2,848
830,894

1,204
997,766
(4,025)
(362,302)
$

62

$

1,142,077
18,167
1,600,263

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings (deficit)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

2014

553
271,104
(45)

$

510,240
781,852
1,612,746

C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31,
2015

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Direct costs
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

2014

1,748,889

$

$

1,070,322

1,523,116
239,775
16,704
276,353
791,807
(544)
(1,098,322)

1,179,227
182,518
14,327
108,145
—
(17)

(82,086)

(9,840)

(6,550)

598
(9,242)

53
(6,497)

$

8,773
(73,313)
(1,171,635)
(299,093)
(872,542) $

114,502
45,679
68,823

$

107,718
41,313
66,405

$
$

(8.48) $
(8.48) $

1.28
1.22

$
$

1.25
1.20

102,853
102,853

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

63

2013

1,607,944

751,468
124,404
5,005
74,703
—
527
114,215

123,744

53,838
56,513

53,038
55,367

C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

Net income (loss)

$

Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(872,542) $
68,823 $

2013
66,405

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation loss, net of income tax
benefit of $1,369 as of December 31, 2015
Comprehensive income (loss)

(3,980)
(876,522) $

$

(45)
68,778

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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—
$

66,405

C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands)
Common Shares
Number of
Shares
Balance, December 31, 2012
Issuance of restricted
shares, net of forfeitures
Employee tax withholding
on restricted shares vesting
Issuance of common shares
for stock options exercised
Tax effect of share-based
compensation
Share-based compensation
Net income
Balance, December 31, 2013
Issuance of restricted
shares, net of forfeitures
Employee tax withholding
on restricted shares vesting
Issuance of common shares
for stock options exercised
Tax effect of share-based
compensation
Share-based compensation
Net income
Foreign currency translation
loss, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2014
Issuance of common shares,
net of issuance costs
Issuance of restricted
shares, net of forfeitures
Employee tax withholding
on restricted shares vesting
Issuance of common shares
for stock options exercised
Tax effect of share-based
compensation
Share-based compensation
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
loss, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2015

53,132

Amount, at
$0.01 par
value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

$

$

$

—

$ 375,012

(7)

—

—

531

224,348

Total
$

599,891

669

7

(74)

(1)

(1,374)

—

—

(1,375)

877

9

5,210

—

—

5,219

—
—
—
54,604

—
—
—
546

3,430
22,581
—
254,188

—
—
—
—

—
—
66,405
441,417

3,430
22,581
66,405
696,151

723

7

(7)

—

—

—

(153)

(2)

(4,376)

—

—

159

2

831

—

—

833

—
—
—

—
—
—

2,118
18,350
—

—
—
—

—
—
68,823

2,118
18,350
68,823

—
55,333

—
553

—
271,104

(45)
(45)

—
510,240

781,852

62,542

625

709,642

—

—

710,267

2,613

26

3,006

—

—

3,032

(222)

(2)

(2,619)

—

—

(2,621)

154

2

—

—

—

—

(2,367)

—

—

—
—

—
—

18,549
—

—
—

—
120,420

—
1,204

—
997,766

$

451

$

$

(3,980)
—
(4,025) $ (362,302) $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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—
(872,542)

—

(4,378)

(45)

453
(2,367)
18,549
(872,542)
(3,980)
632,643

C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:

$

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Inventory write-down
Contingent consideration adjustment
Deferred income taxes
Provision for doubtful accounts, net of write-offs
Equity (earnings) loss from unconsolidated affiliate
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Share-based compensation expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Accretion of original issue discount
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Payroll and related costs and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of and deposits on property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Payments made for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving debt
Payments on revolving debt
Proceeds from term loans
Payments on term loans
Payments of capital lease obligations
Financing costs
Proceeds from issuance of common shares for stock options exercised
Registration costs associated with issuance of common shares
Employee tax withholding on restricted shares vesting
Excess tax benefit (expense) from share-based compensation
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(872,542) $

68,823

$

66,405

276,353
791,807
31,109
(11,147)
(273,144)
8,071
(500)
(544)
18,549
10,926
6,187

108,145
—
—
—
33,185
600
(471)
(17)
18,350
1,168
—

74,703
—
870
—
16,513
689
160
527
22,581
1,160
—

278,150
21,123
(26,821)
(168,607)
17,400
(108)
(3,257)
103,005

(135,784)
(50,001)
(12,154)
132,420
14,157
(301)
3,717
181,837

14,704
(10,495)
(12,405)
11,991
2,710
(3,888)
(5,124)
181,101

(166,321)
4,468
(663,303)
—
(825,156)

(307,598)
719
(33,533)
(3,000)
(343,412)

(151,810)
1,151
(14,636)
—
(165,295)

338,000
(532,000)
1,001,400
(7,950)
(3,874)
(55,450)
453
(1,465)
(2,621)
(2,367)
734,126

229,000
(64,000)
—
—
(4,165)
(2,265)
833
—
(4,378)
2,153
157,178

60,000
(80,944)
—
—
(2,184)
—
5,219
—
(1,375)
3,450
(15,834)

Effect of exchange rate on cash

3,908

—

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Income taxes paid (refunded)
Non-cash investing and financing activity:
Capital lease obligations
Change in accrued capital expenditures
Non-cash consideration for business acquisition

15,883
10,017
25,900

(4,397)
14,414
10,017 $

(28)
14,442
14,414

$

$

$
$

64,950 $
(13,815) $

8,525
16,125

$
$

5,473
38,819

$
$
$

— $
(42,793) $
735,125 $

25,847
8,120
—

$
$
$

13,487
6,177
2,556

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Organization, Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
C&J Energy Services Ltd. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including C&J International B.V. and C&J
International Middle East FZCO, “C&J” or the “Company”) is a publicly traded corporation listed on the New York Stock
Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol “CJES.” The Company provides well construction, well completions, well support and
other complementary oilfield services to oil and gas exploration and production companies primarily in North America. As one
of the largest completion and production services companies in North America, C&J offers a full, vertically integrated suite of
services involved in the entire life cycle of the well, including directional drilling, cementing, hydraulic fracturing, cased-hole
wireline, coiled tubing, rig services, fluids management services and other special well site services. The Company operates in
all of the major oil and gas producing regions of the continental United States and Western Canada. The Company also has an
office in Dubai and is working to establish an operational presence in key countries in the Middle East.
On March 24, 2015, C&J Energy Services, Inc. (“Legacy C&J”) and Nabors Industries Ltd. (“Nabors”) completed
the combination of Legacy C&J with Nabors’ completion and production services business (the “C&P Business”), whereby
Legacy C&J became a subsidiary of C&J Energy Services Ltd. (the “Merger”). The resulting combined company is currently
led by the former management team of Legacy C&J.
Upon the closing of the Merger, shares of common stock of Legacy C&J were converted into common shares of
C&J on a 1-for-1 basis and C&J's common shares began trading on the NYSE under the ticker “CJES.” C&J is the successor
issuer to Legacy C&J following the closing of the Merger and is deemed to succeed to Legacy C&J’s reporting history under
the Exchange Act.
At the closing of the Merger, Nabors received total consideration of approximately $1.4 billion in the form of
$688.1 million in cash, $5.5 million in cash to reimburse Nabors for operating assets acquired prior to March 24, 2015 and
approximately $714.8 million in C&J common shares. Upon the closing of the Merger, Nabors owned approximately 53% of
the outstanding and issued common shares of C&J, with the remainder held by former Legacy C&J shareholders. As discussed
in more detail in Note 10 – Mergers and Acquisitions, Legacy C&J and Nabors determined that Legacy C&J possessed the
controlling financial interest in C&J and subsequently concluded the business combination should be treated as a reverse
acquisition with Legacy C&J as the accounting acquirer.
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include all of the
accounts of C&J and its consolidated subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions and account balances have been
eliminated upon consolidation.
As a result of the Merger, the Company revised its reportable business segments late in the first quarter of 2015.
The Company’s revised reportable segments are: (1) Completion Services, which includes the Company's hydraulic fracturing
services, cased-hole wireline services, coiled tubing services and other stimulation services; (2) Well Support Services, which
includes the Company's rig services, fluids management services, and other special well site services; and (3) Other Services,
which includes the Company’s smaller service lines and divisions, such as directional drilling services, cementing services,
equipment manufacturing and repair, specialty chemicals sales, and research and technology. The Company manages several
of its vertically integrated businesses through its research and technology division, including its data acquisition and control
instruments provider and its artificial lift applications provider.
This segment structure reflects the financial information and reports used by the Company’s management,
specifically its Chief Operating Decision Maker, to make decisions regarding the Company’s business, including resource
allocations and performance assessments. This segment structure reflects the Company’s current operating focus in compliance
with Accounting Standards Codification No. 280 - Segment Reporting. As a result of the revised segment structure, the
Company has restated the corresponding items of segment information for all periods presented. The revised segment structure
and the related presentation changes did not impact consolidated net income (loss), earnings (loss) per share, total current
assets, total assets or total shareholders’ equity. See Note 11 - Segment Information for further discussion regarding the
Company’s reportable segments.
The Company’s results for the year ended 2015 include results from the C&P Business from the closing of the
Merger on March 24, 2015 through December 31, 2015. Results for periods prior to March 24, 2015 reflect the financial and
operating results of Legacy C&J, and do not include the financial and operating results of the C&P Business. Unless the context
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indicates otherwise, as used herein, the terms “C&J” or the “Company”, or like terms refer to Legacy C&J and its subsidiaries
when referring to time periods prior to March 24, 2015 and refer to C&J and its subsidiaries (which include Legacy C&J and its
subsidiaries) when referring to time periods subsequent to March 24, 2015.
Correction of Immaterial Errors. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company recorded out-of-period adjustments
to correct the overstatement from the over-accrual of direct costs related to periods from 2008 through December 31, 2014,
resulting in a $9.8 million increase to net income. In evaluating whether these errors, individually and in the aggregate, and the
corrections of the errors had a material impact to the periods such errors and corrections related to, the Company evaluated both
the quantitative and qualitative impact to its consolidated financial statements for such periods. In assessing the quantitative
impact, the Company considered the errors in each impacted period relative to the amount of reported direct costs, net income
or loss, and current and total liabilities. The Company considered a number of qualitative factors, including, among others, that
the errors and the correction of the errors (i) did not change a net loss into net income or vice versa, (ii) did not have an impact
on the Company's debt covenant compliance and (iii) did not result in a change in the Company's earnings trends when
considering the overall competitive and economic environment within which it operated from 2008 through December 31,
2014. Based upon the Company's quantitative and qualitative evaluation, it determined that the errors and the correction of such
errors did not have a material impact to prior periods, individually or in the aggregate, and were not material to the year ending
December 31, 2015.
Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period consolidated financial statements to
conform to current period presentations.
Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Estimates are used in, but are not limited to, determining the following: allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of longlived assets and intangibles, goodwill, useful lives used in depreciation and amortization, inventory reserves, income taxes and
share-based compensation. The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may
change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, or as additional information is obtained and as the Company’s
operating environment changes.
Cash and Cash Equivalents. For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash is defined as cash onhand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with initial maturities of three months or less. The Company maintains its
cash and cash equivalents in various financial institutions, which at times may exceed federally insured amounts. Management
believes that this risk is not significant.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed to
customers. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding
receivables, historical collection information and existing economic conditions. Provisions for doubtful accounts are recorded
when it is deemed probable that the customer will not make the required payments at either the contractual due dates or in the
future. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $7.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively.
Bad debt expense of $8.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million was included in selling, general, and administrative expenses
on the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Inventories. Inventories for the Completion Services segment consist of finished goods, including equipment
components, chemicals, proppants, supplies and materials for the segment’s operations. Inventories for the Other Services
segment consists of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods, including equipment components, supplies and
materials.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market (net realizable value) on a first-in, first-out basis and appropriate
consideration is given to deterioration, obsolescence and other factors in evaluating net realizable value. As a result of
unfavorable oil and gas industry market conditions that have continued to deteriorate, the Company determined that the market
values of certain inventory items were below their cost basis and recorded expense of $31.1 million to direct costs for the year
ended December 31, 2015.
Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
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As of December 31,
2015

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total inventory
Inventory reserve
Inventory, net

2014

$

34,720
13,574
58,657
106,951
(4,694)

$

51,374
24,408
47,717
123,499
(1,327)

$

102,257

$

122,172

Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) are reported at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the related assets, are charged to expense
when incurred. Refurbishments are capitalized when the value of the equipment is enhanced for an extended period. When
property and equipment are sold or otherwise disposed of, the asset account and related accumulated depreciation account are
relieved, and any gain or loss is included in operating income.
The cost of property and equipment currently in service is depreciated, on a straight-line basis, over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to 25 years. Depreciation expense was $261.8 million, $97.2 million,
and $64.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Major classifications of property, plant
and equipment and their respective useful lives were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,

Estimated
Useful Lives

Land
Building and leasehold improvements
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment
Machinery and equipment
Transportation equipment

Indefinite
5-25 years
3-5 years
3-10 years
5 years

2015

$

2014

Less: accumulated depreciation

44,592 $
153,320
28,709
1,225,505
224,057
1,676,183
(499,894)

Construction in progress
Property, plant and equipment, net

1,176,289
34,152
1,210,441

$

$

2,453
107,270
19,716
767,415
66,456
963,310
(245,683)
717,627
65,675
783,302

PP&E are evaluated on a quarterly basis to identify events or changes in circumstances (“triggering events”) that
indicate the carrying value of certain PP&E may not be recoverable. PP&E are reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of
a triggering event. An impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount of PP&E is
not recoverable. The determination of recoverability is made based upon the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows of
assets grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows independent of the cash flows of other groups of
assets with such cash flows to be realized over the estimated remaining useful life of the primary asset within the asset group,
excluding interest expense. The Company determined the lowest level of identifiable cash flows that are independent of other
asset groups to be at the service line level, which consists of the well services, hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, wireline,
pumpdown, directional drilling, cementing, artificial lift applications, international coiled tubing, equipment manufacturing and
repair services, specialty chemicals and data acquisition and control instruments provider service lines as well as the vertically
integrated research and technology service line. If the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows for a given asset group is
less than the carrying amount of the related assets, an impairment loss is determined by comparing the estimated fair value with
the carrying value of the related assets. The impairment loss is then allocated across the asset group's major classifications.
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It was concluded that the sharp fall in commodity prices during the second half of 2014 constituted a triggering event
that has resulted in a significant slowdown in activity across the Company’s customer base, which in turn has increased
competition and has put pressure on pricing for its services throughout 2015. Although the severity and extent of this continued
downturn is uncertain, absent a significant recovery in commodity prices, activity and pricing levels may continue to decline in
future periods. As a result of the triggering event during the fourth quarter of 2014, PP&E recoverability testing was performed
throughout 2015 on the asset groups in each of the Company’s service lines. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the
recoverability testing for the hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, directional drilling, international coiled tubing, equipment
manufacturing and repair services, specialty chemicals and the research and technology asset groups yielded an estimated
undiscounted net cash flow that was less than the carrying amount of the related assets. The estimated fair value for each
respective asset group was compared to its carrying value, and impairment expense of $393.1 million was recognized during
the fourth quarter of 2015 and allocated across each respective asset group's major classification. The impairment charge was
primarily related to underutilized pressure pumping and other equipment in the Completion Services and Other Services
segments. The fair value of these assets was based on the projected present value of future cash flows that these assets are
expected to generate. Should industry conditions worsen, additional impairment charges may be required in future periods.
PP&E impairment expense for the year ended 2015 was recognized across each asset group as follows (in thousands):

Impairment
Expense
Hydraulic Fracturing
Coiled Tubing
Directional Drilling
International Coiled Tubing
Equipment Manufacturing and Repair Services
Specialty Chemicals
Research and Technology
Total PP&E impairment expense

$

$

255,283
94,546
6,625
6,931
13,847
3,070
12,777
393,079

Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill is allocated to the
Company’s three reporting units: Completion Services, Well Support Services and Other Services, all of which are consistent
with the presentation of the Company’s three reportable segments. At the reporting unit level, the Company tests goodwill for
impairment on an annual basis as of October 31 of each year, or when events or changes in circumstances, referred to as
triggering events, indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable and that a potential impairment exists.
Judgment is used in assessing whether goodwill should be tested for impairment more frequently than annually.
Factors such as unexpected adverse economic conditions, competition, market changes and other external events may require
more frequent assessments. During the third quarter of 2015, sustained low commodity price levels and the resulting impact on
the Company’s results of operations, coupled with the sustained weakness in the Company’s share price were deemed
triggering events that led to an interim period test for goodwill impairment. See Note 3 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
for further discussion on impairment testing results.
Before employing detailed impairment testing methodologies, the Company may first evaluate the likelihood of
impairment by considering qualitative factors relevant to each reporting unit, such as macroeconomic, industry, market or any
other factors that have a significant bearing on fair value. If the Company first utilizes a qualitative approach and determines
that it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired, detailed testing methodologies are then applied. Otherwise, the
Company concludes that no impairment has occurred. Detailed impairment testing, or Step 1 testing, involves comparing the
fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market participant
would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds carrying value, then it is concluded
that no goodwill impairment has occurred. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step is
required to measure possible goodwill impairment loss. The second step, or Step 2 testing, includes hypothetically valuing the
tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of the reporting unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business
combination. Then, the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying value of that goodwill. If
the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the carrying value.
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The Company’s Step 1 impairment analysis involves the use of a blended income and market approach. Significant
management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating and macroeconomic changes on each reporting unit.
Critical assumptions include projected revenue growth, fleet count, utilization, gross profit rates, SG&A rates, working capital
fluctuations, capital expenditures, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and price-to-earnings multiples. The Company’s market
capitalization is also used to corroborate reporting unit valuations. Further information regarding the Company's impairment
analysis may be found in Note 3 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Similar to goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to annual impairment tests or more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. These intangibles are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances (a triggering event) indicate that the asset may have a net book value in
excess of recoverable value. In these cases, the Company performs a recoverability test on its definite-lived intangible assets by
comparing the estimated future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset to the carrying
amount of the asset for recoverability. If the estimated undiscounted cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the asset, an
impairment does not exist and a loss will not be recognized. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of
the asset, the asset is not recoverable and the amount of impairment must be determined by fair valuing the asset.
Deferred Financing Costs. Costs incurred to obtain financing are capitalized and amortized over the term of the loan
using the effective interest method. These costs are classified within interest expense on the consolidated statements of
operations and were $10.9 million, $1.2 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Accumulated amortization of deferred financing costs was $10.5 million and $3.7 million at December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively. Estimated future amortization expense relating to deferred financing costs is as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

$

$

9,311
9,853
10,432
9,904
4,287
3,652
870
48,309

Revenue Recognition. All revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is
complete or the equipment has been delivered to the customer, the amount is fixed or determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured, as follows:
Completion Services Segment
Hydraulic Fracturing Revenue. Through its hydraulic fracturing service line, the Company provides hydraulic
fracturing services on a spot market basis or pursuant to contractual arrangements, such as term contracts and pricing
agreements. Under either scenario, revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of each job, which
can consist of one or more fracturing stages. Once a job has been completed to the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is
written that includes charges for the service performed and the consumables (such as fluids and proppants) used during the
course of service. The field ticket may also include charges for the mobilization and set-up of equipment, the personnel on the
job, any additional equipment used on the job, and other miscellaneous consumables.
Rates for services performed on a spot market basis are based on an agreed-upon hourly spot market rate for a
specified number of hours of service.
Pursuant to pricing agreements and other contractual arrangements which the Company may enter into from time to
time, such as those associated with an award from a bid process, customers typically commit to targeted utilization levels based
on a specified number of hours of service at agreed-upon pricing, but without termination penalties or obligations to pay for
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services not used by the customer. In addition, the agreed-upon pricing is typically subject to periodic review, as specifically
defined in the agreement, and may be adjusted upon the agreement of both parties.
Cased-Hole Wireline Revenue. Through its cased-hole wireline service line, the Company provides cased-hole
wireline logging, perforating, pressure pumping, well site make-up and pressure testing and other complementary services, on a
spot market basis. Jobs for these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few hours to multiple days.
The Company typically charges the customer for these services on a per job basis at agreed-upon spot market rates. Revenue is
recognized based on a field ticket issued upon the completion of the job.
Coiled Tubing and Other Stimulation Services Revenue. Through its coiled tubing service line, the Company provides
a range of coiled tubing and other well stimulation services, including nitrogen and pressure pumping services, primarily on a
spot market basis. Jobs for these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few hours to multiple days.
Revenue is recognized upon completion of each day’s work based upon a completed field ticket. The field ticket includes
charges for the services performed and the consumables (such as stimulation fluids, nitrogen and coiled tubing materials) used
during the course of service. The field ticket may also include charges for the mobilization and set-up of equipment, the
personnel on the job, any additional equipment used on the job, and other miscellaneous consumables. The Company typically
charges the customer for the services performed and resources provided on an hourly basis at agreed-upon spot market rates.
Revenue from Materials Consumed While Performing Certain Completion Services. The Company generates revenue
from consumables used during the course of providing services.
With respect to hydraulic fracturing services, the Company generates revenue from the fluids, proppants and other
materials that are consumed while performing a job. For services performed on a spot market basis, the required consumables
are typically provided by the Company and the customer is billed for those consumables at cost plus an agreed-upon markup.
For services performed on a contractual basis, when the consumables are provided by the Company, the customer typically is
billed for those consumables at a negotiated contractual rate. When consumables are supplied by the customer, the Company
typically charges handling fees based on the amount of consumables used.
In addition, ancillary to coiled tubing and other stimulation services revenue, the Company generates revenue from
stimulation fluids, nitrogen, coiled tubing materials and other consumables used during those processes.
Well Support Services Segment
Rig Services Revenue. Through its rig service line, the Company primarily provides workover and well servicing
rigs that are involved in routine repair and maintenance, completions, re-drilling and plug and abandonment operations. These
services are provided on an hourly basis at prices that approximate spot market rates. Revenue is recognized and a field ticket is
generated upon the earliest of the completion of a job or at the end of each day. A rig services job can last anywhere from a few
hours to multiple days depending on the type of work being performed. The field ticket includes the base hourly rate charge
and, if applicable, charges for additional personnel or equipment not contemplated in the base hourly rate.
Fluids Management Services Revenue. Through its fluids management service line, the Company primarily
provides transportation, storage and disposal services for fluids used in the drilling, completion and workover of oil and gas
wells. Rates for these services vary and can be on a per job, per hour or per load basis, or on the basis of quantities sold or
disposed. Revenue is recognized upon the completion of each job or load, or delivered product, based on a completed field
ticket.
Other Special Well Site Services Revenue. Through its other special well site service line, the Company primarily
provides fishing, contract labor, and tool rental services for completion and workover of oil and gas wells. Rates for these
services vary and can be on a per job, per hour or on the basis of rental days per month. Revenue is recognized based on a field
ticket issued upon the completion of each job or on a monthly billing for rental services provided.
Other Services Segment
Revenue within the Other Services Segment is generated from certain of the Company's smaller service lines and
divisions, specifically directional drilling services, cementing services, equipment manufacturing and repair services, which
includes the sale of oilfield parts and supplies, and the blending and sale of specialty chemicals used in completion and
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production services. Additionally, the Company manages several of its vertically integrated business through its research and
technology division, which is included within the Other Services Segment.
With respect to its directional drilling services, the Company provides these services on a spot market basis. Jobs
for these services are typically short-term in nature, lasting anywhere from a few days to multiple weeks. The Company
typically charges the customer for these services on a per day basis at agreed-upon spot market rates depending on the level of
services required and the complexity of the job. Revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of
each job. Once a job has been completed to the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is written that includes charges for the
service performed.
With respect to its cementing services, the Company provides these services on a spot market or project basis. Jobs
for these services are typically short-term in nature and are generally completed in a few hours. The Company typically charges
the customer for these services on a per job basis at agreed-upon spot market rates or agreed-upon job pricing for a particular
project. Revenue is recognized and customers are invoiced upon the completion of each job. Once a job has been completed to
the customer’s satisfaction, a field ticket is written that includes charges for the service performed and the consumables (such
as blended bulk cement and chemical additives) used during the course of service.
With respect to its equipment manufacturing and repair services, specialty chemicals provider, data acquisition and
control instruments provider and artificial lift applications provider, the Company generates revenue primarily from the sale of
manufactured equipment and products. Revenue is recognized upon the completion, delivery and customer acceptance of each
order.
Share-Based Compensation. The Company’s share-based compensation plans provide the ability to grant equity
awards to the Company’s employees, consultants and non-employee directors. As of December 31, 2015, only nonqualified
stock options and restricted shares had been granted under such plans. The Company values option grants based on the grant
date fair value by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and values restricted stock grants based on the closing price of
C&J’s common shares on the grant date. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period for the entire award. Further information regarding the Company’s share-based compensation
arrangements and the related accounting treatment can be found in Note 5 – Share-Based Compensation.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, long-term debt and capital lease obligations. The recorded values of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, capital lease obligations and the revolving credit facility approximate their
fair values. The following table compares the carrying value of the Company's term debt instruments to its fair value as of
December 31, 2015 (See Note 2 – Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations for further discussion regarding the
Company’s senior secured debt facilities):
December 31, 2015
Carrying Value

Fair Value

(In thousands)

Five-Year Term Loans, net of original issue discount
Seven-Year Term Loans, net of original issue discount

$
$

550,825
448,812

$
$

503,540
406,280

Equity Method Investments. The Company has investments in joint ventures which are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting as the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of
the joint venture. Judgment regarding the level of influence over each equity method investment includes considering key
factors such as ownership interest, representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-making decisions and
material intercompany transactions. Under the equity method, original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted by the
Company’s share of undistributed earnings and losses of these investments. The Company eliminates all significant
intercompany transactions, including the intercompany portion of transactions with equity method investees, from the
consolidated financial results.
The carrying value of the Company's equity method investments at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was
$14.3 million and $7.0 million, respectively, and is included in other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company’s share of the net income (loss) from the unconsolidated affiliates was approximately $0.5 million for each of the
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and ($0.2 million) for the year ended December 31, 2013, and is included in other
expense, net, on the consolidated statements of operations.
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Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the
periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. In assessing the likelihood and extent that deferred tax assets
will be realized, consideration is given to projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies. A valuation allowance is
recorded when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized.
The Company recognizes the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the
technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Previously recognized tax positions are reversed in the first period in which it is no
longer more-likely-than-not that the tax position would be sustained upon examination. Income tax related interest and
penalties, if applicable, are recorded as a component of the provision for income tax expense. However, there were no material
amounts recognized relating to interest and penalties in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company had no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2015.
Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares (“common
shares”) outstanding during the applicable period and excludes shares subject to outstanding stock options and shares of
restricted stock. Diluted earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period plus, when their effect is dilutive, incremental shares consisting of shares subject to outstanding stock options
and restricted stock.
The following is a reconciliation of the components of the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations for the
applicable periods:

2015

Years Ended December 31,
2014

2013

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributed to common shareholders
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Stock options
Restricted stock
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$

$
$

(872,542) $

68,823

$

66,405

102,853

53,838

53,038

—
—
102,853

2,245
430
56,513

2,096
233
55,367

(8.48) $
(8.48) $

1.28
1.22

$
$

1.25
1.20

A summary of securities excluded from the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share is presented below for
the applicable periods:
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2015

Years Ended December 31,
2014

2013

(In thousands)

Basic earnings per share:
Unvested restricted stock
Diluted earnings per share:
Anti-dilutive stock options
Anti-dilutive restricted stock
Potentially dilutive securities excluded as anti-dilutive

2,610

1,448

1,194

3,661
2,125
5,786

201
3
204

1,054
164
1,218

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of
revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace
most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2015-14"), which deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for
all entities by one year and is effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2018. ASU 2015-14 permits the use
of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has
the effect of the standard on ongoing financial reporting been determined.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (“ASU 2015-03”). ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized
debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent
with debt discounts. For public entities, ASU 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously
issued. ASU 2015-03 is to be applied on a retrospective basis and represents a change in accounting principle. In addition, in
August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs
Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements ("ASU 2015-15"). ASU 2015-15 clarifies the guidance in ASU 2015-03
regarding presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements. The SEC
Staff announced they would not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently
amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there
are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. The Company does not expect the adoption of these
standards to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory ("ASU 2015-11"), which
changes the measurement principle for inventory from the lower of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable value.
ASU 2015-11 is part of the FASB’s simplification initiative and applies to entities that measure inventory using a method other
than last-in, first-out ("LIFO") or the retail inventory method. The guidance will require prospective application at the
beginning of the Company's first quarter of fiscal 2018, but permits adoption in an earlier period. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact, if any, of adopting this new accounting standard on its results of operations and financial position.
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the
Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments ("ASU 2015-16"). ASU 2015-16 requires that an acquirer recognize
adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the
adjustment amounts are determined. The acquirer must record, in the same period's financial statements, the effect on earnings
of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts,
calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. ASU 2015-16 is effective for the Company's fiscal
year beginning January 1, 2016. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of adopting this new accounting
standard on its results of operations and financial position.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of
Deferred Taxes ("ASU 2015-17”). ASU 2015-17 amends existing guidance on income taxes to require the classification of all
deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-current on the balance sheet. The Company is required to adopt this ASU for years
beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and the guidance may be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively. The Company does not expect this ASU to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2 - Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations
Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2015

Legacy C&J senior secured credit facility repaid in connection with the Merger
Revolving credit facility maturing on March 24, 2020
Five-Year Term Loans, net of original issue discount of $19,863, maturing on March 24, 2020
Seven-Year Term Loans, net of original issue discount of $32,550, maturing on March 24, 2022
Capital leases
Total debt and capital lease obligations
Less: current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations

$

2014

—

$

315,000

121,000

—

550,825

—

448,812

—

34,873

38,748

1,155,510

353,748

(13,433)
$ 1,142,077

(3,873)
$

349,875

Credit Agreement
On March 24, 2015, in connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company entered into a new credit
agreement with Bank of America N.A., as administrative agent and other lending parties (the “Original Credit Agreement”). At
the closing, the Original Credit Agreement provided for senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of
$1.66 billion, consisting of (i) a revolving credit facility (“Revolving Credit Facility” or the “Revolver”) in the aggregate
principal amount of $600.0 million and (ii) a term loan B facility (“Term Loan B”) in the aggregate principal amount of $1.06
billion. The Company simultaneously repaid all amounts outstanding and terminated Legacy C&J’s prior credit agreement; no
penalties were due in connection with such repayment and termination. The borrowers under the Revolver are the Company
and certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, specifically, CJ Lux Holdings S.à. r.l. and CJ Holding Co. The
borrower under the Term Loan B is CJ Holding Co. All obligations under the Original Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the
Company’s wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, other than immaterial subsidiaries.
On September 29, 2015, the Company obtained and entered into a waiver and amendments to the Original Credit
Agreement (as amended by the amendments, the "Amended Credit Agreement"). The Amended Credit Agreement, among other
things, suspends the quarterly maximum Total Leverage Ratio (defined below) and quarterly minimum Interest Coverage Ratio
(defined below) covenants set forth in the Original Credit Agreement. The suspension of these financial covenants commenced
with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2015 and will last through the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2017. Upon
reinstatement of these covenants as of the quarter ending September 30, 2017, the required levels initially will be more lenient
than those in effect under the terms of the Original Credit Agreement and will gradually adjust to those prior levels over the
subsequent fiscal quarters (see Other Information below). The effectiveness of the covenant suspension is also subject to
certain conditions that, among other things, will reduce the capacity of the Company to make investments and restricted
payments through the quarter ending December 31, 2017.
The Amended Credit Agreement also provides for new financial covenants that will apply in lieu of the Total
Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio previously in effect under the Original Credit Agreement, including the
following:
•

Implementation of a quarterly minimum EBITDA covenant, commencing with the quarter ending September
30, 2015 and running through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, based on negotiated EBITDA levels and with
cushion baskets available for any EBITDA shortfalls through the third quarter of 2016;

•

A permanent reduction in the maximum borrowing capacity under the Revolver from $600 million to $400
million;

•

A collateral coverage covenant running through the quarter ending March 31, 2018, which limits outstanding
Revolver borrowings and letters of credit to the greater of (i) $300.0 million and (ii) an amount derived from
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80% of Eligible Receivables and 50% of Eligible Inventory (each as defined in the Amended Credit
Agreement) (subject to the reduced $400 million borrowing capacity described above);
•

Increases to the applicable rate on Revolver borrowings by (i) 50 basis points in the event that the Company’s
most recently reported total leverage ratio is greater than 4.00:1.00 and less than or equal to 4.50:1.00 and (ii)
100 basis points in the event that the Company’s most recently reported total leverage ratio is greater than
4.50:1.00; and

•

Quarterly limitations on capital expenditures for the quarter ending December 31, 2015, and annual limitations
on capital expenditures for the four fiscal quarter periods ending December 31, 2016 through June 30, 2017.

Revolving Credit Facility
As of December 31, 2015, $121.0 million was outstanding under the Revolver along with $12.6 million of
outstanding letters of credit, leaving $166.4 million of available borrowing capacity based on $300 million of availability as
a result of the collateral coverage test implemented under the Amended Credit Agreement.
The Revolver matures on March 24, 2020 (except that if any Five-Year Term Loans (as defined below) have not been
repaid prior to September 24, 2019, the Revolver will mature on September 24, 2019). Borrowings under the Revolver are
non-amortizing.
Amounts outstanding under the Revolver bear interest based on, at the option of the borrower, the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or an alternative base rate, plus an applicable margin determined pursuant to a
pricing grid based on the ratio of consolidated total indebtedness of C&J and its subsidiaries to consolidated
EBITDA of C&J and its subsidiaries for the most recent four fiscal quarter period for which financial statements are
available (the “Total Leverage Ratio”).
The Revolver also requires that the Company pay a commitment fee equal to a percentage of unused commitments
which varies based on the Total Leverage Ratio.
Subject to certain conditions and limitations, the Amended Credit Agreement permits the Company to increase the
aggregate commitments under the Revolver in a total principal amount of up to $100.0 million.
The Revolver is permitted to be prepaid from time to time without premium or penalty.
Term Loan B Facility
Borrowings under the Term Loan B are comprised of two tranches: a tranche consisting of $575.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of term loans maturing on March 24, 2020 (the “Five-Year Term Loans”) and a tranche consisting of a $485.0
million in aggregate principal amount of term loans maturing on March 24, 2022 (the “Seven-Year Term Loans”). The
Company is required to make quarterly amortization payments in an amount equal to 1.00% per annum, with the remaining
balance payable on the applicable maturity date. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had borrowings outstanding under the
Five-Year Term Loans and the Seven-Year Term Loans of $570.7 million and $481.4 million, respectively.
Five-Year Term Loans outstanding under the Term Loan B bear interest based on, at the option of the Company,
(i) LIBOR subject to a floor of 1.00% per annum, plus a margin of 5.50%, or (ii) an alternative base rate, plus a margin of
4.50%. Seven-Year Term Loans outstanding under the Term Loan B will bear interest based on, at the option of the
Company, (i) LIBOR subject to a floor of 1.00% per annum, plus a margin of 6.25%, or (ii) an alternative base rate, plus a
margin of 5.25%. The Term Loan B also contains ‘most favored nation’ pricing protection requiring that if the effective
yield (giving effect to, among other things, consent fees paid to the lenders) of the Five-Year Term Loans increases by
more than 50 basis points, the effective yield of the Seven-Year Term Loans must increase by the same amount less 50
basis points.
The alternative base rate is equal to the highest of (i) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (ii) the Federal Funds
Effective Rate plus 0.50%, or (iii) LIBOR plus 1.00%.
The Term Loan B is required to be prepaid under certain circumstances and exceptions including (i) in the event that
C&J and its subsidiaries generate Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year-end, in an
amount equal to 50% of the Excess Cash Flow for such fiscal year if the Total Leverage Ratio as of the end of such fiscal
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year is 3.25:1.00 or greater, (ii) in the event of a sale or other disposition of property by C&J or its subsidiaries, in an amount
equal to 100% of the net proceeds of such sale or disposition, subject to customary reinvestment rights and other exceptions,
and (iii) in the event of an incurrence of debt not permitted under the Credit Agreement, in an amount equal to 100% of the
net proceeds of such debt.
As of December 31, 2015, maturities under the Term Loan B facility are as follows (in thousands):
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

$

10,600
10,600
10,600
10,600
552,538

As of December 31, 2015, the weighted average interest rate of borrowings under the Credit Agreement was 6.5%.
Other Information
The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants (in each case, subject to exceptions) that
limit, among other things, the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist liens or
indebtedness, sell or otherwise dispose of their assets, make certain restricted payments and investments, enter into transactions
with affiliates, make capital expenditures and prepay certain indebtedness. The Amended Credit Agreement also contains
financial covenants applicable to the Revolver and the Five-Year Term Loans only, which include: (i) a maximum Total
Leverage Ratio of 5.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2017, 5.00:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending December
31, 2017, 4.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2018, 4.25:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2018 and
4.00:1.00 for each fiscal quarter thereafter; (ii) a minimum quarterly ratio of consolidated EBITDA of C&J and its subsidiaries
to consolidated interest expense of C&J and its subsidiaries ("Interest Expense Ratio") of 2.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarters
ending September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2017, 2.75:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2018 and 3.00:1.00 for
each fiscal quarter thereafter; and (iii) starting September 30, 2015 and until the fiscal quarter ending June, 30, 2017, a
Minimum Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA covenant as follows (in thousands):
Minimum Cumulative
Consolidated EBITDA (1)

Cumulative Cushion
Amount

Three months ended September 30, 2015

$(15,000)

$10,000

Three months ended December 31, 2015

$10,000

$20,000

Six months ended March 31, 2016

$28,000

$40,000

Nine months ended June 30, 2016

$63,000

$60,000

Twelve months ended September 30, 2016

$121,000

$60,000

Twelve months ended December 31, 2016

$115,000

None

Twelve months ended March 31, 2017

$165,000

None

Twelve months ended June 30, 2017

$205,000

None

(1) Minimum Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA is defined as total earnings (loss) before net interest expense, income
taxes, depreciation and amortization, other income (expense), and net gain or loss on disposal of assets, and excludes, among
other things, stock based compensation expense, acquisition-related costs, and non-routine items.
The Company may use some or all of the “Cumulative Cushion Amount” set forth above to increase the
Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA for the specified given period for purposes of satisfying the Minimum Cumulative
Consolidated EBITDA test applicable to such period. However, in the event the Company utilizes only some of the Cumulative
Cushion Amount for such period, any unused amount for such period will not be added to the Cumulative Cushion Amount
specified for any future period.
In the event utilization and pricing levels remain at or fall below existing levels for a sustained period, the
Company may be unable to comply with one or more financial covenants in future periods.
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Capital Lease Obligations
In 2013, the Company entered into “build-to-suit” lease agreements for the construction of a new, technologyfocused research and development facility and new corporate headquarters, respectively. Each lease is accounted for as a
capital lease.
The lease for the technology facility commenced upon completion of construction in October 2013, creating a capital
lease obligation of $13.5 million and accumulated amortization was $1.7 million at December 31, 2015. The lease is payable
monthly in amounts ranging from $93 thousand to $128 thousand over the term of the lease, including interest at approximately
2.7% per year, and has an initial term of 12 years. Cumulative future lease payments through the initial term are $15.9 million,
of which approximately $2.4 million represents interest expense.
The lease for the corporate headquarters commenced upon completion of construction in April 2014, creating a capital
lease obligation of $25.6 million and accumulated amortization was $2.8 million at December 31, 2015. The lease is payable
monthly in amounts ranging from $181 thousand to $238 thousand over the term of the lease, including interest at
approximately 2.7% per year, and has an initial term of 12 years. Cumulative future lease payments through the initial term are
$30.3 million, of which approximately $4.7 million represents interest expense.
In addition, the Company leases certain service equipment, with the intent to purchase, under non-cancelable capital
leases. The terms of these contracts range from three to four years with varying payment dates throughout each month.
As of December 31, 2015, the future minimum lease payments under the Company’s capital leases are as follows (in
thousands)

Years Ending December 31,

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$ 3,734
3,584
3,685
3,785
3,887
21,385
$40,060

As of December 31, 2015, the interest expense associated with the future minimum lease payments under the
Company’s capital leases totals $5.2 million.
Note 3 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
During the third quarter of 2015, sustained low commodity price levels and the resulting impact on the Company’s
results of operations, coupled with the sustained decrease in the Company’s stock price were deemed triggering events that led
to an interim period test for goodwill impairment. The Company chose to bypass a qualitative approach and instead opted to
employ the detailed Step 1 impairment testing methodologies discussed below. The Step 1 testing revealed potential
impairment for the Completion Services and Other Services reporting units, and the Step 2 test findings revealed that there was
no value remaining to be allocated to the goodwill associated with these two reporting units. As a result, the Company
recognized impairment expense of $347.7 million for the Completion Services reporting unit and $37.3 million for the Other
Services reporting unit, both which included adjustments during the fourth quarter as a result of finalizing the fair value
estimates for these two reporting units.
During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company determined no further impairment write-down was considered
necessary.
Income approach
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The income approach impairment testing methodology is based on a discounted cash flow model, which utilizes
present values of cash flows to estimate fair value. For the Completion Services and Well Support Services reporting units, the
future cash flows were projected based on estimates of projected revenue growth, fleet and rig count, utilization, gross profit
rates, SG&A rates, working capital fluctuations, and capital expenditures. For the Other Services reporting unit, the future cash
flows were projected based primarily on estimates of future demand for manufactured and refurbished equipment as well as
parts and service, gross profit rates, SG&A rates, working capital fluctuations, and capital expenditures. Forecasted cash flows
for the three reporting units took into account known market conditions as of September 30, 2015, and management’s
anticipated business outlook, both of which have been impacted by the sustained decline in commodity prices.
A terminal period was used to reflect an estimate of stable, perpetual growth. The terminal period reflects a terminal
growth rate of 2.5% for all three reporting units, including an estimated inflation factor.
The future cash flows were discounted using a market-participant risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital
(“WACC”) of 16.0% for both Completion Services and Other Services and 14.0% for Well Support Services reporting units.
These assumptions were derived from unobservable inputs and reflect management’s judgments and assumptions.
Market approach
The market approach impairment testing methodology is based upon the guideline public company method. The
application of the guideline public company method was based upon selected public companies operating within the same
industry as the Company. Based on this set of comparable competitor data, price-to-earnings multiples were derived and a
range of price-to-earnings multiples was determined for each reporting unit. Selected market multiples were 8.0x for all three
reporting units.
The fair value determined under the market approach is sensitive to these market multiples, and a decline in any of
the multiples could reduce the estimated fair value of the one remaining reporting unit below its carrying value. Earnings
estimates were derived from unobservable inputs that require significant estimates, judgments and assumptions as described in
the income approach.
The estimated fair value determined under the income approach was generally consistent with the estimated fair
value determined under the market approach. For purposes of the goodwill impairment test, the concluded fair value for each of
the three reporting units consisted of a weighted average, with an 80% weight under the income approach and a 20% weight
under the market approach.
The results of the Step 1 impairment testing for the Well Support Services reporting unit during the third quarter of
2015 indicated its estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value by approximately 11%, and it was concluded that the
goodwill balance of $314.4 million was not impaired as of September 30, 2015. As a way to validate the estimated reporting
unit fair values, the total market capitalization of the Company was compared to the total estimated fair value of all reporting
units, and an implied control premium was derived. Market data in support of the implied control premium was used in this
reconciliation to corroborate the estimated reporting unit fair values.
A decline in the Well Support Services reporting unit cash flow projections or changes in other key assumptions
may result in a goodwill impairment charge in the future.
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2015 are as follows (in
thousands):
Completion
Services

As of December 31, 2014

$

Acquisitions

206,465

Well Support
Services

Other Services

$

$

141,435

309,541

(347,652)

Impairment expense
As of December 31, 2015

$

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
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—

(248)

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments

—

—

(1,864)
$

307,677

$

13,488

Total

$

219,953

24,700

475,676

(37,316)

(384,968)

(872)

(2,984)

—

$

307,677
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The Company had approximately $7.6 million of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, which are subject to
annual impairment tests or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
As noted above, during the third quarter of 2015, sustained low commodity price levels and the resulting impact on
the Company’s results of operations including its equipment manufacturing business line, coupled with the sustained decrease
in the Company’s share price were deemed triggering events that led to a detailed impairment test on the Total Equipment trade
name using a relief from royalty method. Based on the results of the impairment testing, the trade name estimated fair value
was less than the carrying value by approximately $2.5 million, and it was therefore determined that the trade name was
impaired as of September 30, 2015. The Company recorded impairment expense of $2.5 million to reflect the trade name at its
fair value. In addition, as part of the valuation performed, the Company determined the trade name no longer possessed an
indefinite life. As of September 30, 2015, the trade name was categorized as a definite-lived intangible asset and is being
amortized over its remaining estimated useful life.
The Company’s intangible assets associated with intellectual property, research and development (“IPR&D”)
consist of technology that is still in the testing phase, and management continues to actively pursue development and planned
marketing of the new technology. Based on the Company's evaluation which includes successful test results within its research
and development facilities, it was determined that the IPR&D carry value of $7.6 million was not impaired as of December 31,
2015.
Definite-Lived Intangible Assets
The Company reviews definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances (a
triggering event) indicate that the asset may have a net book value in excess of recoverable value. During the third quarter of
2015 and continuing into the fourth quarter, as noted above management determined the sustained low commodity price levels
coupled with the sustained decrease in the Company’s share price were deemed triggering events that provided indicators that
its definite-lived intangible assets may be impaired. The Company performed a recoverability test on all of its definite-lived
intangible assets which compares the estimated future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the
asset to the carrying amount of the asset for recoverability. If the estimated undiscounted cash flows exceed the carrying
amount of the asset, an impairment does not exist and a loss will not be recognized. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than
the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is not recoverable and the amount of impairment must be determined by fair valuing
the asset.
Recoverability testing resulted in intangible assets associated with the Company’s equipment manufacturing and
research and technology lines of business, and included within the Other Services segment, were not recoverable. The fair
value of these assets was determined to be zero, resulting in impairment expense of $11.2 million.
The changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2015 are as follows
(in thousands):
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Amortization
Period

December
31, 2014

Acquisitions

Impairment
Expense

Customer
relationships

8-15 years

$ 116,073

$

$

Trade name

10-15 years

29,315

Developed
technology

5-15 years

9,900

(253)

—

3,700

(82)

42,580

2,110

19,600

(1,367)

—

—

(446)

19,897

4-5 years

1,810

900

—

—

—

—

2,710

Patents

10 years

—

373

—

—

—

—

373

IPR&D

Indefinite

7,598

—

—

—

—

—

7,598

Trade name - Total
Equipment

Indefinite

6,247

—

(2,547)

—

—

—

163,153

47,173

(13,761)

—

Intangible assets,
net

(33,685)
$ 129,468

—
$

47,173

—
$

(13,761) $

—

$

December
31, 2015

—

Less: accumulated
amortization

$

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

(9,594) $

Non-compete

16,400

Amortization
Expense

Move from
IndefiniteLived to
DefiniteLived

(65) $ 122,814

(3,700)
—

(593)

195,972

(14,516)

—

90

(48,111)

(14,516) $

—

$

(503) $ 147,861

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 totaled $14.5 million, $10.9 million and
$10.1 million, respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter

Note 4 – Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
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$

14,933
14,759
14,759
14,735
12,952
68,125

$

140,263
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Years Ended December 31,
2014

2015

Current provision:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current provision
Deferred (benefit) provision:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred provision
Provision for income taxes

$

$

(23,784) $
(2,265)
100
(25,949)
(248,279)
(20,553)
(4,312)
(273,144)
(299,093) $

11,184
1,310
—
12,494

$

31,978
2,036
(829)
33,185
45,679 $

2013

22,870
1,930
—
24,800
14,864
1,705
(56)
16,513
41,313

The following table reconciles the statutory tax rates to the Company’s effective tax rate:
Years Ended December 31,
2015

Federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Domestic production activities deduction
Effect of foreign losses
Impairment
Other
Effective income tax rate

35.0 %
1.4 %
(0.2)%
(0.3)%
(9.8)%
(0.6)%
25.5 %

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
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2014

35.0 %
3.0 %
(1.0)%
2.4 %
—%
0.5 %
39.9 %

2013

35.0 %
2.8 %
(1.8)%
0.7 %
—%
1.7 %
38.4 %
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As of December 31,
2015

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation
Inventory
Other
Current deferred tax assets
Stock-based compensation
Net operating losses
Accrued liabilities
Other
Non-current deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets, net
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid assets
Contingent consideration liabilities
Current deferred tax liability
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
Other
Non-current deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

$

2014

4,588 $
7,364
1,337
8,712
1,039
23,040
18,166
84,166
3,458
2,528
108,318
131,358
(77)
131,281

5,419
822
1,027
641
197
8,106
16,896
1,181
69
—
18,146
26,252
—
26,252

(9,677)
(4,328)
(14,005)
(228,981)
(28,033)
(378)
(257,392)
(140,116) $

—
—
—
(161,782)
(49,704)
(211,486)
(185,234)

The Company has approximately $207.1 million of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL’s”) which, if
not utilized, will expire in the year 2035 and state NOL’s of approximately $121.5 million which, if not utilized, will expire in
various years between 2025 and 2035. Additionally, the Company has approximately $13.5 million of NOL's in other
jurisdictions which, if not utilized, will expire in various years between 2020 and 2035. As of December 31, 2015 we have
recorded a deferred tax asset of approximately $84.2 million relating to NOL's. A valuation allowance of $0.1 million has been
provided for NOL's that the Company believes are more likely than not to expire unutilized.
The Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for the tax years 2012 through 2014 remain open to examination by
the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") under the applicable U.S. federal statute of limitations provisions. The various states in
which the Company is subject to income tax are generally open to examination for the tax years after 2011. The Company’s
2011, 2012 and 2013 Louisiana tax returns are currently under examination.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the company recorded deferred charges relating to income tax expense on
intercompany profits that resulted from the sale of our intellectual property rights outside of North America to our subsidiary in
Luxembourg. The deferred charges, which total $16.5 million, are included within other non-current assets on the consolidated
balance sheet. The deferred charges are amortized as a component of income tax expense over the economic life of the
intellectual property.
Note 5 - Share-Based Compensation
Equity Plans
In connection with the Merger, the Company approved and adopted the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term
Incentive Plan (the “2015 LTIP”), effective as of March 23, 2015, contingent upon the consummation of the Merger. The 2015
LTIP served as an assumption of the Legacy C&J 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, including the sub-plan titled the C&J
International Middle East FZCO Phantom Equity Arrangement (the “2012 LTIP”), with certain non-material revisions made
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and no increase in the number of shares remaining available for issuance under the 2012 LTIP. Prior to the adoption of the 2015
LTIP, all share-based awards granted to Legacy C&J employees, consultants and non-employee directors were granted under
the 2012 LTIP and, following the 2015 LTIP’s adoption, no further awards will be granted under the 2012 LTIP. Awards that
were previously outstanding under the 2012 LTIP will continue and remain outstanding under the 2015 LTIP, as adjusted to
reflect the Merger. At the closing of the Merger, restricted shares and stock option awards were granted under the 2015 LTIP to
certain employees of the C&P Business and approximately 0.4 million C&J common shares underlying those awards were
deemed part of the consideration paid to Nabors for the Merger.
The 2015 LTIP provides for the grant of share-based awards to the Company’s employees, consultants and nonemployee directors. The following types of awards are available for issuance under the 2015 LTIP: incentive stock options and
nonqualified stock options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units, dividend equivalent rights,
performance awards and share awards. As of December 31, 2015 only nonqualified stock options and restricted shares have
been awarded under the 2015 LTIP and 2012 LTIP.
A total of 4.3 million common shares were originally authorized and approved for issuance under the 2012 LTIP and
on June 4, 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the First Amendment to the 2015 LTIP, which increased the
number of common shares that may be issued under the 2015 LTIP by approximately 3.6 million shares. Approximately 3.7
million shares were available for issuance under the 2015 LTIP as of December 31, 2015. The number of common shares
available for issuance under the 2015 LTIP is subject to adjustment in the event of a reclassification, recapitalization, merger,
consolidation, reorganization, spin-off, split-up, issuance of warrants, rights or debentures, share dividend, share split or reverse
share split, cash dividend, property dividend, combination or exchange of shares, repurchase of shares, change in corporate
structure or any similar corporate event or transaction. The number of common shares available for issuance may also increase
due to the termination of an award granted under the 2015 LTIP, the 2012 LTIP or the Prior Plans (as defined below), by
expiration, forfeiture, cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of the common shares.
Prior to the approval of the 2012 LTIP, all share-based awards granted to Legacy C&J’s employees, consultants and
non-employee directors were granted under the C&J Energy Services 2006 Stock Option Plan and subsequently under the C&J
Energy Services 2010 Stock Option Plans (collectively known as the “Prior Plans”). No additional awards will be granted
under the Prior Plans.
On February 1, 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the Second Amendment to the 2015 LTIP , which
provides for (i) an increase of 6.0 million common shares that may be issued under the 2015 LTIP, (ii) an increase of 3.0
million common shares in the per participant annual limit, from 2.0 million to 5.0 million, that may be awarded under the 2015
LTIP and (iii) an increase of $5.0 million in the per-participant annual limit on the fair market value of certain awards
designated to be paid only in cash or the settlement of which is not based on a number of common shares granted under the
2015 LTIP, from $5.0 million to $10.0 million.
Stock Options
The fair value of each option award granted under the 2015 LTIP, the 2012 LTIP and the Prior Plans is estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price
equal to the market price of the Company’s common shares on the grant date. For options granted prior to Legacy C&J’s initial
public offering, which closed on August 3, 2011, the calculation of Legacy C&J’s share price involved the use of different
valuation techniques, including a combination of an income and/or market approach. Determination of the fair value was a
matter of judgment and often involved the use of significant estimates and assumptions. Additionally, due to the Company’s
lack of historical volume of option activity, the expected term of options granted is derived using the “plain vanilla” method. In
addition, expected volatilities have been based on comparable public company data, with consideration given to the Company’s
limited historical data. The Company makes estimates with respect to employee termination and forfeiture rates of the options
within the valuation model. The risk-free rate is based on the approximate U.S. Treasury yield rate in effect at the time of grant.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately 0.3 million replacement option awards were granted by the
Company to employees in connection with the Merger. No options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2014.
The following table presents the assumptions used in determining the fair value of option awards during the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2015. No stock options were granted by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2014.
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Years Ended December 31,

Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Exercise price
Expected term (in years)
Risk-free rate

2015

2012

52.3%
None
$7.93 - $27.12
0.3 - 4.3
0.03% - 1.3%

65% - 75%
None
$16.88 - $18.89
6
0.9% - 1.4%

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2015, was $11.45 and $4.74, respectively.
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 is presented below.

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

(in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Exercisable at December 31, 2015

6,266
—
(877)
(106)
5,283
—
(159)
(57)
5,067
267
(154)
(61)
5,119
5,119

$

$

$

$
$

11.06
—
5.96
21.98
11.69
—
5.23
29.00
11.70
10.49
2.94
19.03
11.82
11.82

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(in years)

(in thousands)

7.19
—
—
—
6.36
—
—
—
5.40
—
—
—
4.41
4.41

$

$

$

$
$

72,024
—
—
—
65,351
—
—
—
21,395
—
—
—
2,874
2,874

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $0.6 million
and $3.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, there was no more remaining unrecognized compensation cost
related to outstanding stock options.
Restricted Shares
Restricted shares are valued based on the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the NYSE on the date of
grant. During the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately 2.8 million restricted shares were granted to employees and
non-employee directors under the 2015 LTIP, including approximately 0.6 million replacement restricted shares in connection
with the Merger, at fair market values ranging from $3.55 to $15.10 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2014,
approximately 0.8 million restricted shares were granted by the Company to employees and non-employee directors at fair
market values ranging from $14.46 to $33.14 per share.
To the extent permitted by law, the recipient of an award of restricted shares will have all of the rights of a shareholder
with respect to the underlying common shares, including the right to vote the common shares and to receive all dividends or
other distributions made with respect to the common shares. Dividends on restricted shares will be deferred until the lapsing of
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the restrictions imposed on the shares and will be held by the Company for the account of the recipient (either in cash or to be
reinvested in restricted shares) until such time. Payment of the deferred dividends and accrued interest, if any, shall be made
upon the lapsing of restrictions on the restricted shares, and any dividends deferred in respect of any restricted shares shall be
forfeited upon the forfeiture of such restricted shares. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had not issued any dividends.
A summary of the status and changes during the year ended December 31, 2015 of the Company’s shares of nonvested restricted shares is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Shares
(in thousands)

Non-vested at January 1, 2015
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Non-vested at December 31, 2015

1,377 $
2,850
(238)
(718)
3,271 $

23.39
13.50
14.81
21.97
15.70

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, there were $29.9 million and $18.7 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to restricted shares. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.12
years. The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of restricted shares granted during the years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014, respectively, was $13.50 and $24.65.
As of December 31, 2015, the Company had 8.4 million stock options and restricted shares outstanding to employees
and non-employee directors, 0.9 million of which were issued under the 2006 Plan, 4.0 million were issued under the 2010
Plan, 0.7 million were issued under the 2012 Plan and the remaining 2.8 million were issued under the 2015 Plan. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company had 6.4 million of stock options and restricted shares outstanding to employees and nonemployee directors, 1.0 million of which were issued under the 2006 Plan, 4.0 million were issued under the 2010 Plan and the
remaining 1.4 million were issued under the 2012 Plan.
Share-based compensation expense was $18.5 million, $18.4 million and $22.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative expenses, direct costs
and research and development on the consolidated statements of operations. The total income tax benefit recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations in connection with share-based compensation expense was approximately $6.5 million,
$6.4 million and $7.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Note 6 – Related Party Transactions
The Company obtained support services from Nabors Corporate Services, Inc., on a transitional basis, for the
processing of payroll, benefits and certain administrative services of the C&P business in normal course following the
completion of the Merger. As of December 31, 2015, the Company’s payable balance is $28.2 million and the support service
fees incurred during 2015 totaled $136.4 million. The payable balance is included in accounts payable on the consolidated
balance sheet.
The Company obtains trucking and crane services on an arm’s length basis from certain vendors affiliated with two of
its executive officers. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, purchases from these vendors totaled $7.4 million and
$3.7 million, respectively, and there were no purchases from these vendors for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The Company purchases certain of its equipment on an arm’s length basis from vendors affiliated with a member of its
Board of Directors. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, purchases from these vendors were $1.9 million,
$5.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively. Amounts payable to these vendors at December 31, 2015 and 2014 were less than
$0.1 million and $1.5 million, respectively.
The Company obtains office space, equipment rentals, tool repair services and other supplies from vendors affiliated
with several employees. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, purchases from these vendors were $0.5
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million, $1.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Amounts payable to these vendors at December 31, 2015 and 2014 were
$50.6 thousand and $25.7 thousand, respectively.
The Company has an unconsolidated equity method investment with a vendor that provides the Company with raw
material for its specialty chemical business. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, purchases from this
vendor were $11.8 million, $21.8 million and $7.6 million, respectively. Amounts payable to these vendors at December 31,
2015 and 2014 were $1.5 million and $0.9 million, respectively.
The Company obtained drilling fluids from a vendor which was affiliated with one of its employees. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, purchases from this vendor totaled $2.1 million. Accounts payable to this vendor at December 31,
2015 was $0.2 million.
The Company obtains machined parts from a vendor which is affiliated with several of its employees. For the year
ended December 31, 2014, purchases from this vendor totaled $0.4 million and there was no accounts payable balance for the
year ended December 31, 2014.
Note 7 – Business Concentration
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are limited
because the Company performs credit evaluations, sets credit limits, and monitors the payment patterns of its customers. Cash
balances on deposits with financial institutions, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company regularly monitors
the institutions’ financial condition.
The Company’s top ten customers accounted for approximately 53.6%, 51.1% and 64.6% of the Company’s
consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. For the year ended December 31,
2015, revenue from one customer represented 15.5% of the Company’s consolidated revenue. For the year ended December 31,
2014, revenue from two customers individually represented 16.4% and 9.6% of the Company’s consolidated revenue. For the
year ended December 31, 2013, revenue from two customers individually represented 19.5% and 13.1% of the Company’s
consolidated revenue. Other than those listed above, no other customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s
consolidated revenue in 2015, 2014 or 2013. Revenue was earned from each of these customers within the Company’s
Completion Services and Well Support Services segments.
Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental
The Company is subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations that establish standards
and requirements for protection of the environment. The Company cannot predict the future impact of such standards and
requirements which are subject to change and can have retroactive effectiveness. The Company continues to monitor the status
of these laws and regulations.
Currently, the Company has not been fined, cited or notified of any environmental violations that would have a
material adverse effect upon its financial position, liquidity or capital resources. However, management does recognize that by
the very nature of its business, material costs could be incurred in the near term to maintain compliance. The amount of such
future expenditures is not determinable due to several factors, including the unknown magnitude of possible regulation or
liabilities, the unknown timing and extent of the corrective actions which may be required, the determination of the Company’s
liability in proportion to other responsible parties and the extent to which such expenditures are recoverable from insurance or
indemnification.
Litigation
The Company is, and from time to time may be, involved in claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. Because there are inherent uncertainties in the ultimate outcome of such matters, it is presently not possible to
determine the ultimate outcome of any pending or potential claims or litigation against the Company; however, management
believes that the outcome of those matters that are presently known to the Company will not have a material adverse effect
upon the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operation or liquidity.
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Service Equipment and Other Capital Expenditures
The Company has agreed to purchase service equipment and other capital assets for $2.1 million as of December 31,
2015. The Company expects to fulfill these commitments during 2016.
Inventory and Materials
The Company has entered into contractual agreements or commitments to purchase inventory and other materials for
$102.9 million as of December 31, 2015. The Company expects to fulfill these commitments over the next 4 years.
Contingent Consideration Liability
On May 18, 2015, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of ESP Completion Technologies LLC,
a manufacturer of wellheads, artificial lift completion tools and electric submersible pumps for approximately $34.0 million
and including a contingent consideration liability valued at approximately $14.4 million at the date of the acquisition. If the
acquiree is able to achieve certain levels of EBITDA over a three-year period, the Company will be obligated to make future
tiered payments of up to $29.5 million. The contingent consideration liability is remeasured on a fair value basis each quarter
until it is paid or expires. At December 31, 2015, the contingent consideration liability remeasurement resulted in a $9.7
million decrease in value recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations with a revised fair
value of $4.7 million included in other long-term liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Operating Leases
The Company leases certain property and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. The remaining terms of
the operating leases generally range from 1 to 11 years.
Lease expense under all operating leases totaled $14.2 million, $14.0 million and $14.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, the future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases were as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$

9,008
5,333
3,279
2,266
1,881
6,070

$

27,837

Note 9 – Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains two contributory profit sharing plans under a 401(k) arrangement which covers all employees
meeting certain eligibility requirements. Eligible employees can make annual contributions to the plans up to the maximum
amount allowed by current federal regulations. The Company matches dollar for dollar all contributions made by eligible
employees up to 4% of their gross salary. The Company’s 401(k) contributions for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013 totaled $4.8 million, $2.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Note 10 – Mergers and Acquisitions
2015
89

C&J ENERGY SERVICES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Merger between Legacy C&J and the C&P Business of Nabors
On March 24, 2015, Legacy C&J and Nabors completed the combination of Legacy C&J with the C&P Business. The
resulting combined company, which has been renamed C&J Energy Services Ltd., is now one of the largest completion and
production services providers in North America led by the former management team of Legacy C&J. At the closing of the
combination, Nabors received total consideration of $1.4 billion, before working capital adjustments, in the form of $688.1
million in cash, $5.5 million in cash to reimburse Nabors for operating assets acquired prior to March 24, 2015, and $714.8
million in C&J common shares. The C&J common share value was based upon Legacy C&J’s closing stock price on March 23,
2015 and consisted of approximately 62.5 million C&J common shares issued to Nabors and approximately 0.4 million
designated C&J common shares attributable to replacement restricted share and share option awards issued to certain
employees of the C&P Business for the pre-acquisition-related employee service period. Upon the closing of the combination
and as of December 31, 2015, Nabors owns approximately 53% of the outstanding and issued common shares of C&J, with the
remainder held by former Legacy C&J shareholders.
On September 25, 2015, C&J and Nabors agreed to a working capital adjustment of $43.4 million in favor of C&J,
which was accounted for as a reduction to the purchase price of the C&P Business.
The Merger is being accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. In applying
the acquisition method of accounting, Legacy C&J and Nabors were required to determine both the accounting acquirer and the
accounting acquiree with the accounting acquirer deemed to be the party possessing the controlling financial interest.
Irrespective of Nabors 53% common share ownership in C&J, Legacy C&J and Nabors determined that Legacy C&J possessed
the controlling financial interest, based on, among other factors, the presence of a majority of Legacy C&J directors on the C&J
board of directors and through the composition of C&J senior management consisting almost entirely of the executive officers
of Legacy C&J. Legacy C&J and Nabors therefore concluded the business combination should be treated as a reverse
acquisition with Legacy C&J as the accounting acquirer.
C&J financed the cash portion of the Merger and repaid previously outstanding revolver debt with borrowings drawn
under the Original Credit Agreement which provided for senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of
$1.66 billion. See Note 2 – Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations for further discussion on the Company’s Original
Credit Agreement and Amended Credit Agreement.
The purchase price has been allocated to the net assets acquired based upon their estimated fair values, as shown
below (in thousands). The estimated fair values of certain assets and liabilities, including accounts receivable, inventory,
property plant and equipment, other intangible assets, taxes (including uncertain tax positions), and contingencies required
significant judgments and estimates. As a result, the provisional measurements associated with these assets and liabilities are
preliminary and subject to change during the measurement period and such changes could be material. Any change in the
provisional measurements could impact the amount of goodwill impairment charge the Company records for the first quarter of
2016, as a portion of the goodwill associated with the Merger was allocated to the Completion Services reporting unit. All of
the goodwill associated with this reporting unit was written off as of December 31, 2015.
The preliminary purchase price was initially allocated to the net assets acquired during the first quarter of 2015 and
subsequently adjusted during the remainder of 2015 in connection with the measurement period based upon revised estimated
fair values, as follows (in thousands):
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Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets acquired
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

Amounts
Measurement
Recognized as of
Period
Estimated Fair
Merger Date
Adjustments (1)
Value
$
262,973 $
7,500 $
270,473
(7,372)
35,491
28,119
(1,940)
8,857
6,917
(57,625)
1,024,622
966,997
444,162
6,814
450,976
28,300
13,700
42,000
(2,856)
11,171
8,315
(41,779)
1,815,576
1,773,797
(176,303)
(195,913)
19,610
(22,680)
(23,813)
1,133
(22,364)
(209,879)
(187,515)
(1,621)
(408,862)
(407,241)
(43,400) $
$
1,408,335 $
1,364,935

(1) The measurement period adjustments reflect changes in the estimated fair values of certain assets and liabilities, including
income taxes. The measurement period adjustments were recorded to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances existing as of the date the Merger was consummated and did not result from intervening events subsequent to that
date.

The fair value and gross contractual amount of accounts receivable acquired on March 24, 2015 was $270.5 million
and $296.2 million, respectively. Based on the age of certain accounts receivable, a portion of the gross contractual amount is
estimated to be uncollectible.
Property, plant and equipment assets acquired consist of the following fair values (in thousands) and ranges of
estimated useful lives. As with fair value estimates, the determination of estimated useful lives requires judgments and
assumptions.
Estimated
Useful Lives
Indefinite
2-25
2-5
2-10
2-5

Land
Building and leasehold improvements
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment
Machinery & Equipment
Transportation equipment
Construction in progress
Property, plant and equipment

Estimated Fair
Value
$
41,391
77,887
2,845
660,855
139,070
44,949
$

966,997

Other intangibles have a total preliminary fair value of $42.0 million with a weighted average amortization period of
approximately 11 years. These intangible assets consist of developed technology of $19.6 million, amortizable over 5 – 15
years, customer relationships of $13.0 million, amortizable over 15 years, trade name of $8.5 million, amortizable over ten
years, and non-compete agreements of $0.9 million, amortizable over five years. The amount allocated to goodwill represents
the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill was allocated between C&J’s
Completion Services and Well Support Services reporting units on the basis of historical levels of EBITDA with $141.4 million
allocated to Completion Services and $309.6 million allocated to Well Support Services. The goodwill recognized as a result of
the Merger was primarily attributable to the increased economies of scale, capabilities, resources and geographic footprint of
the combined company as well as the cost savings opportunities as C&J capitalizes on synergies from the new combined
company. The tax deductible portion of goodwill and other intangibles is $60.8 million and $22.3 million, respectively.
The Company has treated the Merger as a non-taxable transaction. Such treatment results in the acquired assets and
liabilities having carryover basis for tax purposes. A deferred tax liability in the amount of $209.9 million was recorded to
account for the differences between the preliminary purchase price allocation and carryover tax basis.
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Acquisition-related costs associated with the Merger were expensed as incurred and totaled $42.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015, and are included in Selling, general and administrative expenses.
The results of operations for the C&P Business that have been included in C&J's consolidated financial statements
from the March 24, 2015 acquisition date through December 31, 2015 include revenue of $822.2 million and a net loss of
$(211.1 million). The following unaudited pro forma results of operations have been prepared as though the Merger was
completed on January 1, 2014. Pro forma amounts are based on the preliminary purchase price allocation of the acquisition and
are not necessarily indicative of results that may be reported in the future (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended
Year Ended
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014
$
2,114,671 $
3,861,412
(879,231) $
(244,183)
$

Revenues
Net loss
Net loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(7.52) $
(7.52) $

(2.09)
(2.09)

Acquisition of Artificial Lift Provider
On May 18, 2015, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of ESP Completion Technologies LLC,
a manufacturer of wellheads, artificial lift completion tools and electric submersible pumps ("Artificial Lift Provider") for
approximately $34.0 million consisting of cash of approximately $13.6 million, a holdback of $6.0 million, and a contingent
consideration valued at approximately $14.4 million, subject to customary working capital adjustments following closing.
Artificial Lift Provider's results of operations since the date of the acquisition through December 31, 2015, specifically
including revenue of $3.4 million and a net loss of $(30.0 million), have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and are reflected in "Other Services" in Note 11 – Segment Information.
The purchase price was allocated to the net assets acquired based upon their estimated fair values, as follows (in
thousands):
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Total assets acquired
Current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

$

5,822
2,529
24,700
5,173
38,224
(1,927)
(2,067)
(276)
(4,270)

$

33,954

If Artificial Lift Provider is able to achieve certain levels of EBITDA over a three-year period, the Company will be
obligated to make future tiered payments of up to $29.5 million. This could result in a maximum total purchase price of $49.1
million. The potential payment is considered contingent consideration. At the acquisition date, the fair value of this contingent
consideration was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation discounted cash flow model over many simulated possible future
outcomes which yielded a value of $14.4 million. The contingent consideration is remeasured on a fair value basis each quarter
until the contingent consideration is paid or expires. At December 31, 2015, the contingent consideration remeasurement
resulted in a $9.7 million decrease in value recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations
with a revised fair value of $4.7 million included in other long-term liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
2014
Acquisition of Tiger
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On May 30, 2014, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Tiger for approximately $33.2
million, including working capital adjustments.
Tiger provides cased-hole wireline, logging, perforating, pipe recovery and tubing-conveyed perforating services. The
acquisition of Tiger increased the Company’s existing wireline capabilities and provides a presence on the U.S. West Coast.
The results of Tiger’s operations since the date of the acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and are reflected in the Completion Services segment in Note 11 – Segment Information.
The purchase price was allocated to the net assets acquired based upon their estimated fair values, as follows (in
thousands):

Current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

$

3,851
8,176
14,671
17,340

Total assets acquired

$

44,038

Current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities

$

1,223
8,556
1,015

Total liabilities assumed

$

10,794

Net assets acquired

$

33,244

2013
Other Acquisitions
In April 2013, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of a provider of directional drilling
technology and related downhole tools. The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was approximately $9.0 million.
In December 2013, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of a manufacturer of data control instruments.
The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was approximately $6.7 million.
Note 11 - Segment Information
In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification No. 280 - Segment Reporting the Company routinely evaluates
whether its separate operating and reportable segments have changed. This determination is made based on the following
factors: (1) the Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is currently managing each operating segment as a
separate business and evaluating the performance of each segment and making resource allocation decisions distinctly and
expects to do so for the foreseeable future, and (2) discrete financial information for each operating segment is available.
Due to the transformative nature of the Merger, the CODM changed the way in which the Company is managed,
including a revised segment approach in making performance evaluation and resource allocation decisions. Discrete financial
information was created to provide the segment information necessary for the CODM to manage the Company under the
revised operating segment structure. As a result of this change in operating segments, the Company revised its reportable
segments late in the first quarter of 2015. The Company’s revised reportable segments are: (i) Completion Services, (ii) Well
Support Services and (iii) Other Services. This segment structure reflects the financial information and reports used by the
Company’s management, including its CODM, to make decisions regarding the Company’s business, including performance
evaluation and resource allocation decisions. As a result of the revised reportable segment structure, the Company has restated
the corresponding items of segment information for all periods presented. The following is a brief description of the Company's
three reportable segments:
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Completion Services
The Company provides hydraulic fracturing services, cased-hole wireline services, coiled tubing services and other
well stimulation services through its Completion Services segment.
Well Support Services
The Company provides rig services, fluid management services and other special well site services through its Well
Support Services segment.
Other Services
The Other Services segment is comprised of the Company’s smaller service lines and divisions, including directional
drilling services, cementing services, equipment manufacturing and repair, specialty chemical sales and research and
technology and Middle Eastern operations; the Company manages several of its vertically integrated business through its
research and technology division, including its data acquisition and control instruments provider and recently acquired artificial
lift applications provider (See Note 10 - Mergers and Acquisitions for further information about this acquisition). Also
included in the Other Services are intersegment eliminations and costs associated with activities of a general corporate nature.
The following tables set forth certain financial information with respect to the Company’s reportable segments.
Completion
Services
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Revenue from external customers
Adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Operating income (loss)
Capital expenditures
As of December 31, 2015
Total assets
Goodwill
Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenue from external customers
Adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Operating income (loss)
Capital expenditures
As of December 31, 2014
Total assets
Goodwill
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenue from external customers
Adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Operating income (loss)
Capital expenditures
As of December 31, 2013
Total assets
Goodwill

$

Well Support
Services

1,216,994 $
73,850
188,941
(816,777)
91,392

Other
Services

455,829 $
72,286
70,861
(1,266)
34,974

Total

76,066 $
(99,380)
16,551
(280,279)
39,955

1,748,889
46,756
276,353
(1,098,322)
166,321

$

1,066,946
—

$

850,725
307,677

$

315,235
—

$

2,232,906
307,677

$

1,581,712
344,742
101,554
243,171
286,083

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

26,232 $
(91,796)

1,607,944
252,946
108,145
123,744
307,598

$

1,400,183
206,465

$

—
—

$

212,563
13,488

$

1,612,746
219,953

$

1,058,014
254,680
73,279
180,201
146,173

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

12,308 $
(64,051)

1,070,322
190,629
74,703
114,215
151,810

1,002,417
191,794

$

—
—

$

$

94

6,591
(119,427)
21,515

1,424
(65,986)
5,637
129,883
14,004

$

1,132,300
205,798
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Management evaluates segment performance and allocates resources based on total earnings (loss) before net interest
expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, other income (expense), net gain or loss on disposal of assets,
acquisition-related costs, and non-routine items (“Adjusted EBITDA”), because Adjusted EBITDA is considered an important
measure of each segment’s performance. In addition, management believes that the disclosure of Adjusted EBITDA as a
measure of each segment’s operating performance allows investors to make a direct comparison to competitors, without regard
to differences in capital and financing structure. Investors should be aware, however, that there are limitations inherent in using
Adjusted EBITDA as a measure of overall profitability because it excludes significant expense items. An improving trend in
Adjusted EBITDA may not be indicative of an improvement in the Company’s profitability. To compensate for the limitations
in utilizing Adjusted EBITDA as an operating measure, management also uses U.S. GAAP measures of performance, including
operating income (loss) and net income (loss), to evaluate performance, but only with respect to the Company as a whole and
not on a segment basis.
As required under Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, included below
is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, to net income (loss), which is the nearest comparable
U.S. GAAP financial measure (in thousands) on a consolidated basis for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
and on a reportable segment basis for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013.

2015

Adjusted EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Income tax benefit (expense)
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Other income (expense), net
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Immaterial accounts payable accrual correction
Transaction costs
Severance, facility closures and other
Customer settlement/bad debt write-off
Incremental insurance reserve
Insurance settlement
Inventory write-down
Net income (loss)

$

$

95

Years Ended December 31,
2014

46,756 $
(82,086)
299,093
(276,353)
(791,807)
8,773
544
13,190
(42,662)
(5,849)
(7,997)
(3,035)
—
(31,109)
(872,542) $

252,946 $
(9,840)
(45,679)
(108,145)
—
598
17
—
(20,159)
(35)
—
—
(880)
—
68,823 $

2013

190,629
(6,550)
(41,313)
(74,703)
—
53
(527)
—
(306)
(8)
—
—
—
(870)
66,405
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Year Ended December 31, 2015

Completion
Services
Adjusted EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Income tax benefit (expense)
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Other income (expense), net
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Immaterial accounts payable accrual correction
Transaction costs
Severance, facility closures and other
Customer settlement/bad debt write-off
Incremental insurance reserve
Inventory write-down

$

Net income (loss)

$

Well Support
Services

73,850 $
(32)
—
(188,941)
(697,480)

72,286
—
—
(70,861)

Other
Services
(99,380) $
$
(82,054)

—
(362)

272
747
13,190
—
(2,376)
(6,747)
(2,810)
(6,210)

—
—
—
(1,752)
(1,250)

(816,537) $

46,756
(82,086)

299,093
(16,551)
(94,327)

299,093
(276,353)
(791,807)

8,863
(203)

8,773
544
13,190
(42,662)
(5,849)
(7,997)
(3,035)
(31,109)

—
(42,662)
(1,721)

311
—
(1,628) $

Total

—
(536)
(24,899)
(54,377) $

(872,542)

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Completion
Services
Adjusted EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Income tax benefit (expense)
Depreciation and amortization
Other income (expense), net
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Acquisition-related costs
Severance, facility closures and other
Insurance settlement
Net income (loss)

$

Well Support
Services

344,742 $
(118)
—
(101,554)
277
17
—
(35)

$

—
243,329

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Other
Services
(91,796) $
$
(9,722)
(45,679)
(6,591)
321
—
(20,159)

$

—
(880)
(174,506) $

Total
252,946
(9,840)
(45,679)
(108,145)
598
17
(20,159)
(35)
(880)
68,823

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Completion
Services
Adjusted EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Income tax benefit (expense)
Depreciation and amortization
Other income (expense), net
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Acquisition-related costs
Severance, facility closures and other
Inventory write-down
Net income (loss)

$

Well Support
Services

254,680 $
(159)
—
(73,279)
224
(527)
—
(8)
(870)

$

180,061

Note 12 – Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
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$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Other
Services
(64,051) $
$
(6,391)
(41,313)
(1,424)
(171)
—
(306)

$

—
—
(113,656) $

Total
190,629
(6,550)
(41,313)
(74,703)
53
(527)
(306)
(8)
(870)
66,405
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Summarized quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are presented below (in
thousands, except per share amounts).
Quarters Ended
March 31, 2015

Revenue
Operating loss
Loss before income taxes
Net loss
Net loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted

September 30,
2015

June 30, 2015

December 31,
2015

$

401,216 $
(30,202)
(35,556)
(30,663)

511,165 $
(77,350)
(99,477)
(65,121)

427,497 $
(493,338)
(524,378)
(455,016)

409,011
(497,433)
(512,224)
(321,742)

$
$

(0.51) $
(0.51) $

(0.56) $
(0.56) $

(3.89) $
(3.89) $

(2.75)
(2.75)

Quarters Ended
March 31, 2014

Revenue
Operating income
Income before income taxes
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

September 30,
2014

June 30, 2014

December 31,
2014

$

316,537
20,908
19,325
11,588

$

367,921
20,060
18,077
11,108

$

439,978
42,011
39,439
23,816

$

483,508
40,765
37,661
22,311

$
$

0.22
0.21

$
$

0.21
0.20

$
$

0.44
0.42

$
$

0.41
0.40

Note 13 – Subsequent Events
On February 1, 2016, the Company’s shareholders approved the Second Amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to
the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which provided for (i) an increase of 6.0 million
common shares that may be issued under the Plan, (ii) an increase of 3.0 million common shares in the per participant annual
limit, from 2.0 million to 5.0 million, that may be awarded under the Plan and (iii) an increase of $5.0 million in the perparticipant annual limit on the fair market value of certain awards designated to be paid only in cash or the settlement of which
is not based on a number of common shares granted under the Plan, from $5.0 million to $10.0 million.
During the first quarter of 2016 and as of February 23, 2016, the Company made additional draws under its Revolving
Credit Facility totaling $130.0 million. As a result of these incremental draws, as of February 23, 2016, the Company had a
cash balance of $93.6 million and $251.0 million in borrowings outstanding under its Revolving Credit Facility with $36.4
million of additional availability for borrowing based on $300.0 million of Revolver availability in accordance with the
Collateral Coverage Covenant.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, the Company has
evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including its principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. The Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by
the Company in reports that it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to its management, including its
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
SEC. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that its
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2015.
Management’s Report Regarding Internal Control. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under
the supervision of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. As of December 31, 2015, management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Based
on their assessment, management determined that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2015. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting is included in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
KPMG LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. Their report, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, is included in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in our system of internal control over
financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended
December 31, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2016 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120
days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2016 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120
days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth certain information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2015.

Plan Category

Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights
(A)(1)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(4)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

5,119,318
—
5,119,318

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights
(B)

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected
in Column (A))
(C)(2)(3)

$

11.82

3,667,440

$

—
11.82

—
3,667,440

(1) Consists of (i) 897,700 non-qualified stock options issued and outstanding under the C&J Energy Services Ltd. 2006
Stock Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”), (ii) 3,959,108 non-qualified stock options issued and outstanding under the C&J
Energy Services Ltd. 2010 Stock Option Plan (the “2010 Plan”), (iii) 73,766 non-qualified stock options issued and
outstanding under the C&J Energy Services Ltd. 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2012 LTIP”, and together with
the 2006 Plan and the 2010 Plan, the "Prior Plans") and 188,744 non-qualified stock options issued and outstanding
under the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (as amended to date, the “2015 LTIP”)
(2) Also excluded are 663,936 restricted shares issued and outstanding under the 2012 LTIP and 2,607,168 restricted shares
issued and outstanding under the 2015 LTIP.
(3) The number of common shares available for issuance under the 2015 LTIP is subject to adjustment in the event of a
reclassification, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, reorganization, spin-off, split-up, issuance of warrants, rights or
debentures, stock dividend, stock split or reverse stock split, cash dividend, property dividend, combination or exchange
of shares, repurchase of shares, change in corporate structure or any similar corporate event or transaction. The number
of common shares available for issuance may also increase due to the termination of an award granted under the 2015
LTIP or the Prior Plans by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of the common shares.
(4) The 2015 LTIP was approved and adopted effective as of March 23, 2015, contingent upon the consummation of the
Merger. The 2015 LTIP served as an assumption of the 2012 LTIP, including the sub-plan titled the C&J International
Middle East FZCO Phantom Equity Arrangement, with certain non-material revisions made and no increase in the
number of shares remaining available for issuance under the 2012 LTIP. No additional awards will be granted under
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the Prior Plans. See Note 5 - Share-Based Compensation in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for additional information regarding these equity compensation plans.
The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference in our definitive proxy statement for our
2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, which we expect to file with the
SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2016 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120
days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2016 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120
days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2015.

100

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(1) Financial Statements
Our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying footnotes are included under Part II, Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report.
(a)(2) Financial Statements Schedules
All other schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable, not required or the information called
for therein appears in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto or will be filed within the required timeframe.
(a)(2) Exhibits
The following documents are included as exhibits to this Annual Report:

Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit.

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 25, 2014, by and among Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red
Lion Limited and C&J Energy Services, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to C&J Energy
Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 1, 2014 (File No. 001-35255)).

2.2

Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 6, 2015, by and between C&J
Energy Services, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red Lion Limited, CJ Holding Co. and Nabors CJ
Merger Co. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
February 9, 2015 (File No. 001-35255)).
Separation Agreement by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A,
dated February 12, 2015 (Registration No. 333-199004))

2.3

2.4

Amendment No. 1 to the Separation Agreement, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion
Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.5 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4/A, dated February 12, 2015 (Registration No. 333-199004))

2.5

Joinder Agreement by and among Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red Lion Limited, C&J Energy Services,
Inc., Nabors CJ Merger Co., and CJ Holding Co. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to Nabors
Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A, dated December 19, 2014 (Registration No.
333-199004)).
Memorandum of Association of Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated September 29, 2014 (Registration No.
333-199004))
Amended and Restated Bye-laws of C&J Energy Services Ltd., dated March 24, 2015. (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March
25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with C&J Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with New Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).

4.3

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with Assumed Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).
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4.4

Form of Restricted Share Agreement with Restrictive Covenants, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.5

Form of Restricted Share Agreement with Limited Covenants, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.6

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404).

4.7

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Share Agreement, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.8

Form of Nonqualified Share Option Agreement for Replacement Awards, pursuant to the C&J Energy
Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to C&J Energy
Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.9

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #1), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.10

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #2), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #3), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.11

4.12

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #4), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.13

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #1), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.14

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #2), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.15

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #3), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.16

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #4), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.17

Form of Participation Agreement for C&J International Middle East FZCO Phantom Equity Arrangement, a
sub-plan of the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 10, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).
Form of Common Share Certificate of Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.4 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated February 12, 2015 (Registration
No. 333-199004))

4.18

10.1

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, among C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l.,
CJ Holding Co, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and an L/C Issuer,
Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent and Documentation Agent, and the other lenders party thereto
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8K, filed on March 30, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
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10.2

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, among C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ
Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to C&J Energy
Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 30, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.3

Waiver and Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2015, among C&J Energy
Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).
Third Amendment (Refinancing Amendment) to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2015, among
C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto(incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2015
(File No. 000-55404)).
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).

10.4

10.5+

10.6+

First Amendment to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 8, 2015
(File No. 000-55404)).

10.7+

Second Amendment to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 1,
2016 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.5

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and among C&J Energy Services, Inc.,
Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).

10.6

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red
Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.7

Global Alliance Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors
Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.8

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.9

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.10

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.11

Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 30, 2015 to the Transition Services Agreement dated as of March 24,
2015 is by and between Nabors Industries Ltd., a Bermuda exempted company, and C&J Energy Services
Ltd. (formerly known as Nabors Red Lion Limited), a Bermuda exempted company (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August
10, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.12+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Josh Comstock (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004).

10.13+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Randy McMullen (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004)).
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10.14+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Donald J. Gawick (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004)).

10.15+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Theodore R. Moore (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004))

10.16+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and James H. Prestidge, Jr. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4,
dated September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004))

* 21.1

List of Subsidiaries of C&J Energy Services, Inc.

*23.1

Consent of KPMG LLP

* 23.2

Consent of UHY LLP

* 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

** 32.1
** 32.2

* §101.I
NS

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document

** §101.S
CH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

** §101.C
AL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

** §101.L
AB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

** §101.P
RE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

** §101.
DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*

Filed herewith

**

Furnished, herewith in accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K. In accordance with Rule 406T of
Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except as expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing.

+

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, this 25th day of February, 2016.

C&J Energy Services Ltd.
By:

/s/ Randall C. McMullen, Jr.
Randall C. McMullen, Jr.
President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

By:

/s/ Brian Patterson
Brian Patterson
Corporate Secretary
(Duly Authorized Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Signatures and Capacities

By:

Date

/s/ Joshua E. Comstock

February 26, 2016

Joshua E. Comstock, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
By:

/s/ Randall C. McMullen, Jr.

February 26, 2016

Randall C. McMullen, Jr., President, Chief
Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)
By:

/s/ Mark C. Cashiola

February 26, 2016

Mark C. Cashiola, Vice President and Chief
Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
By:

/s/ Shel Erikson

February 26, 2016

Shel Erikson, Director
By:

/s/ William Restrepo

February 26, 2016

William Restrepo, Director
By:

/s/ Michael Roemer

February 26, 2016

Michael Roemer, Director
By:

/s/ H. H. “Tripp” Wommack, III

February 26, 2016

H. H. “Tripp” Wommack, III, Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX
The following documents are included as exhibits to this Annual Report.

Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit.

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 25, 2014, by and among Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red
Lion Limited and C&J Energy Services, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to C&J Energy
Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 1, 2014 (File No. 001-35255)).

2.2

Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 6, 2015, by and between C&J
Energy Services, Inc., Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red Lion Limited, CJ Holding Co. and Nabors CJ
Merger Co. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
February 9, 2015 (File No. 001-35255)).
Separation Agreement by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A,
dated February 12, 2015 (Registration No. 333-199004))

2.3

2.4

Amendment No. 1 to the Separation Agreement, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion
Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.5 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4/A, dated February 12, 2015 (Registration No. 333-199004))

2.5

Joinder Agreement by and among Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors Red Lion Limited, C&J Energy Services,
Inc., Nabors CJ Merger Co., and CJ Holding Co. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to Nabors
Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A, dated December 19, 2014 (Registration No.
333-199004)).
Memorandum of Association of Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated September 29, 2014 (Registration No.
333-199004))
Amended and Restated Bye-laws of C&J Energy Services Ltd., dated March 24, 2015. (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March
25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with C&J Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with New Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).

4.3

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Certain Executive Officers with Assumed Employment Agreements,
pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).
Form of Restricted Share Agreement with Restrictive Covenants, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.4

4.5

Form of Restricted Share Agreement with Limited Covenants, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
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4.6

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404).

4.7

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Share Agreement, pursuant to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.8

Form of Nonqualified Share Option Agreement for Replacement Awards, pursuant to the C&J Energy
Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to C&J Energy
Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.9

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #1), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.10

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #2), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #3), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.11

4.12

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (U.S. Employee Form #4), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.13

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #1), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.14

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #2), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.15

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #3), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.16

Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Replacement Awards (Canadian Employee Form #4), pursuant to the
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 11, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

4.17

Form of Participation Agreement for C&J International Middle East FZCO Phantom Equity Arrangement, a
sub-plan of the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 10, 2015 (File
No. 000-55404)).

4.18

Form of Common Share Certificate of Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.4 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated February 12, 2015 (Registration
No. 333-199004))

10.1

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, among C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l.,
CJ Holding Co, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and an L/C Issuer,
Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent and Documentation Agent, and the other lenders party thereto
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8K, filed on March 30, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.2

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, among C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ
Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to C&J Energy
Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 30, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).
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10.3

10.4

10.5+

Waiver and Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2015, among C&J Energy
Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).
Third Amendment (Refinancing Amendment) to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2015, among
C&J Energy Services Ltd., CJ Lux Holdings S.à r.l., CJ Holding Co, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto(incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2015
(File No. 000-55404)).
C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).

10.6+

First Amendment to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 8, 2015
(File No. 000-55404)).

10.7+

Second Amendment to the C&J Energy Services 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 1,
2016 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.5

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and among C&J Energy Services, Inc.,
Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No.
000-55404)).

10.6

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors Red
Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.7

Global Alliance Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and Nabors
Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.8

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.9

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.10

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2015, by and between Nabors Industries Ltd. and
Nabors Red Lion Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K12G3, filed on March 25, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.11

Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 30, 2015 to the Transition Services Agreement dated as of March 24,
2015 is by and between Nabors Industries Ltd., a Bermuda exempted company, and C&J Energy Services
Ltd. (formerly known as Nabors Red Lion Limited), a Bermuda exempted company (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to C&J Energy Services Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August
10, 2015 (File No. 000-55404)).

10.12+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Josh Comstock (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004).

10.13+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Randy McMullen (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004)).

10.14+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Donald J. Gawick (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004)).
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10.15+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and Theodore R. Moore (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated
September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004))

10.16+

Employment Agreement by and between Nabors Red Lion Limited and James H. Prestidge, Jr. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Nabors Red Lion Limited’s Registration Statement on Form S-4,
dated September 29, 2014 (Registration No. 333-199004))

* 21.1

List of Subsidiaries of C&J Energy Services, Inc.

*23.1

Consent of KPMG LLP

* 23.2

Consent of UHY LLP

* 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

** 32.1
** 32.2

* §101.I
NS

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document

** §101.S
CH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

** §101.C
AL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

** §101.L
AB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

** §101.P
RE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

** §101.
DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*

Filed herewith

**

Furnished, herewith in accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K. In accordance with Rule 406T of
Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except as expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing.

+

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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COMPANY PROFILE
Founded in 1997 and NYSE listed in 2011, C&J Energy Services is one of
the largest, integrated providers of completion and production services
in North America with assets deployed across all of the major oil and
gas producing basins in the United States and Western Canada. C&J
provides a suite of services for the entire life cycle of the well.

Directors
RANDALL C. MCMULLEN, JR.

MICHAEL ROEMER

Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Director
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SHELDON R. ERIKSON

Director

H. H. “TRIPP” WOMMACK, III

Director

WILLIAM RESTREPO
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Executive Officers
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RANDALL C. MCMULLEN, JR.

Chief Operating Officer

American Stock Transfer
& Trust Company, LLC
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JAMES H. PRESTIDGE, JR.

Auditors

Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Director

DONALD J. GAWICK

Chief Strategy Officer

THEODORE R. MOORE

Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and
Chief Risk Officer
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Email: Investors@cjenergy.com

Annual Meeting

MARK C. CASHIOLA

Common Stock Listed

President, Research & Technology

PEER GROUP

The graph above compares the cumulative total return to shareholders on
our common shares, the Russell 2000 Index and a Peer Group Index. The
Peer Group Index consists of Basic Energy Services, Inc., Key Energy
Services, Inc., Superior Energy Services, Inc., RPC, Inc. and Pioneer Energy
Services Corp. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on July 29, 2011, in
our common shares and in each index and that any cash dividends are
reinvested. We have not declared any dividends during the periods covered
by this graph. This graph depicts the past performance of our common
stock and in no way should be used to predict future performance. We do
not make or endorse any predictions as to future share performance.

C&J Investor Relations Team
3990 Rogerdale Road
Houston, TX 77042

PAT BIXENMAN

President, Corporate Operational
Development & Industry Relations
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Investor Relations

The annual meeting of stockholders
of C&J Energy Services Ltd. will be
held on May 26, 2016 at 2PM local
time, at the Bermuda Office, Crown
House, Second Floor, 4 Par-la-Ville
Road, Hamilton HM08, Bermuda.

LARRY HEIDT
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KPMG LLP

Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
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